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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed
on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of NOIZ Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report s accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

FTRI|S

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of NOIZ Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
During the year, the Group is principally engaged in (i) financial
services business including provision of corporate finance advisory
services, asset management and advising on securities business
and money lending services; (ii) corporate consulting business
including company secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management consulting services; and (iii)
digital business that leverages blockchain, artificial intelligence, and
immersive interaction technologies to create value and protection to
individuals, creators, artists, businesses and brand owners, and offer
various opportunities within the entertainment sector, including the
organisation/production of and investment in concerts, events and
festivals.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$27.3 million (2023: approximately HK$25.7
million). Basic and diluted loss per share was approximately HK$4.51
cents (2023: approximately HK$4.43 cents).

Financial services business

The financial services business recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$10.5 million (2023: approximately HK$11.4 million) and a
segment profit of approximately HK$6.4 million (2023: HK$3.3
million respectively).

The corporate financial advisory services recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately HK$8.4 million), represented approximately
36.4% of the total revenue of the Group respectively. The provision
of corporate financial advisory services continuously enhanced the
income stream of the Group.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had loan receivables with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$3.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$5.2 million). The Group recorded interest income
from loan receivables of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$0.5 million).
The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its
assets, the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in
obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to
reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.

Corporate consulting business

The corporate consulting business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$5.5 million (2023: approximately HK$4.0
million) and a segment profit of approximately HK$3.0 million
(2023: approximately HK$2.3 million) during the year ended
31 December 2024. Corporate governance is vital importance
to the public companies for meeting international standard and
market expectations nowadays. The Group expects the demand for
governance related services will have remarkable increase in the
coming future.

Digital business

The digital business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4.6
million (2023: approximately HK$3.5 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$14.8 million (2023: approximately HK$3.5 million).

The operating environment has become increasingly challenging
for NOIZChain Limited (“NOIZChain”) since second half of 2023.
On 23 December 2024, the Group served the option notice (the
“Option Notice”) to the six vendors (the “Vendors”) to exercise
the put option (the “Put Option”) which shall require the Vendors
to repurchase the entire issued share capital of the NOIZChain at
the repurchase consideration (the “Repurchase Consideration”),
satisfied by transfer of all the acquisition consideration shares
received by the Vendors (the “Repurchase Consideration Shares”).
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the put option deed dated
22 July 2024 (the “Put Option Deed"”), completion of the disposal
has taken place on 23 December 2024 upon serving of the Option
Notice.
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Chairman’s Statement
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PROSPECTS

In addition to its financial services and corporate consulting
businesses, the Company has actively been exploring investment
and business opportunities that align with market conditions. The
objective is to generate long-term and sustainable value for the
Company and its shareholders.

Following the disposal of NOIZChain, the Group remains committed
to strengthening its core businesses in financial services and
corporate consulting. By leveraging its expertise and industry
knowledge, the Group aims to expand its client base, enhance service
offerings, and establish a strong track record to reinforce its market
position.

As technological advancements continue to reshape industries,
the Group recognizes the transformative potential of artificial
intelligence (Al) and other emerging technologies. The Group
aims to bolster its digital presence and improve service offerings
by delving into inventive business opportunities like cutting-edge
fintech advancements and strong digital transformation strategies.
Furthermore, there are plans to investigate Web 3 projects or
blockchain initiatives to broaden the business scope. Adapting and
innovating within a progressively digital-focused business landscape,
the Group will seize opportunities in the digital business sector.

Additionally, the Group will explore new business opportunities
that complement its existing financial services, including fintech
innovations and digital transformation strategies. By embracing
cutting-edge technologies, the Group seeks to create synergies
between financial services and technology-driven solutions,
positioning itself at the forefront of industry evolution.

Looking ahead, the Group maintains its focus on sustainable
growth, strategic partnerships, and continuous innovation to capture
emerging opportunities in the financial and corporate consulting
sectors whilst exploring new business avenues including leveraging
Al technology. Through these proactive measures, the Group is
dedicated to delivering long-term value to stakeholders while
adapting to the ever-changing business landscape.
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APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our management team and all staff for their hard work in the
execution of the Group’s strategies and operations during the
past year. Last but not the least, | wish to thank all our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners, bankers for
their continuous support and encouragement to the Group.

Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
28 March 2025

=

REB AANEARESTEREEABRZES
BE-—FERATEAEERBAEFEETE
HITERUSHE -RE > RATEIEIKFIFR
NEERF -BER -HER EXFBHERET
BEURHAERNFREBRESE

ZERITHAEH
THERE

BE
2025438281

ANNUAL REPORT iR « 2024




Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group is principally
engaged in (i) financial services business including provision of
corporate finance advisory services, asset management and advising
on securities business and money lending services; (ii) corporate
consulting business including company secretarial services,
accounting and financial reporting services and management
consulting services; and (iii) digital business that leverages blockchain,
artificial intelligence, and immersive interaction technologies to
create value and protection to individuals, creators, artists, businesses
and brand owners, and offer various opportunities within the
entertainment sector, including the organisation/production of and
investment in concerts, events and festivals.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$20.6 million (2023: approximately HK$18.9
million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$27.3 million (2023: approximately HK$25.7
million). Basic and diluted loss per share was approximately HK$4.51
cents (2023: approximately HK$4.43 cents).

Financial services business

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 of the
financial services business was approximately HK$10.5 million
(2023: approximately HK$11.4 million) and a segment profit of
approximately HK$6.4 million (2023: approximately HK$3.3 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the corporate financial
advisory services generated revenue of approximately HK$7.5 million
(2023: approximately HK$8.4 million), represented approximately
36.4% of the total revenue of the Group. The provision of corporate
financial advisory services continuously enhanced the income stream
of the Group.
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In the course of preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company had engaged an independent
qualified valuer to determine the recoverable amount of the trading
right of the business carrying on the regulated activities of Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) as defined
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The recoverable amount of the
trading right has been determined by the higher of fair value less
cost of disposal, which is primarily making reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market, and value-in-use which is
calculated using cash flow projections based on the latest financial
budgets approved by the management. During the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, no impairment loss on the trading right
was recognised.

The Group’s money lending business was conducted through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Merdeka Credit Limited (“MCL"), to grant
loans to individuals and corporate entities. The Group strived to
adhere to a set of comprehensive policy and procedural manual
in respect of loan approval, loan renewal, loan recovery, loan
compliance, monitoring and anti-money laundering.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had loan receivables with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$3.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$5.2 million). The Group recorded interest income
from loan receivables of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$0.5 million).

The gross individual loan receivables was accounted for approximately
53.7% of the entire gross loan receivables of the Group as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 61.7%). The interest rates of the individual
loans at 8% (2023: 8% to 15%). The gross corporate loan
receivables was accounted for approximately 46.3% of the entire
gross loan receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
38.3%). The interest rate of the corporate loans at 12% (2023:
12%). The determination of these interest rates primarily involved
credit analysis, considering factors such as the size and duration of
the loans, adherence to the Group's credit policies and the ability of
borrowers to provide income proof or other sources of income that
demonstrate their repayment capabilities.

MCL grants loans to both individual borrowers and corporate
borrowers in Hong Kong whom are person(s) or company(ies) and
their respective ultimate beneficial owner(s) that are third parties
independent of and not connected with the Group and its connected
persons (the “Independent Third Party(ies)”) in accordance with
the Rules (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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As at 31 December 2024, there were 2 borrowers comprising 1
individual borrower and 1 corporate borrower (2023: 4 borrowers
comprising 3 individual borrowers and 1 corporate borrower) for the
outstanding loans and interest receivables (net of loss allowance).
Loans and interest receivables carrying amount of approximately
HK$1.8 million (2023: HK$2.6 million) were due from an individual
borrower while remaining loans and interest receivables of carrying
amount of approximately HK$1.4 million (2023: HK$1.6 million) were
due from a corporate borrower.

As at 31 December 2024, 3 loans were outstanding, with terms
ranging from 24 months to 44 months. Among the 3 loans in the
Group’s loan portfolio as at 31 December 2024, one of the loans was
secured by collaterals and a personal guarantee and had an interest
rate of 12% per annum, the remaining two loans were unsecured
and had interest rate of 8% per annum. As at 31 December 2024,
the aggregated principal amount outstanding from the 2 largest
borrowers of the Group amounted to HK$3.7 million (representing
100% to the total loan receivables of the Group) while the principal
amount outstanding from the largest borrower amounted to
HK$2.0 million (representing approximately 54.1% to the total loan
receivables of the Group).

As at 31 December 2024, the management had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the expected credit losses
of the Group's loan receivables (the “loan receivables ECL"). In
assessing the loan receivables ECL of the Group, a credit rating
analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the
historical accounting information to estimate the default risk. The
Group applied different expected loss rates to different classes
of receivables according to their respective risk characteristics. In
determining the default risk, factors including but not limited to, the
ageing analysis of the receivables, the Group’s internal assessment
of the debtors’ credit worthiness, historical and forecast occurrence
of event of default, existence and valuation of the collaterals, the
relevant regulatory framework and government policies in Hong
Kong and global economic outlook in general and the specific
economic condition of Hong Kong would be considered. The rate of
loan receivables ECL ranged from 11.9% to 22.3% depending on
the nature, probability of default and loss given default of the loan
receivables.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its
assets, the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in
obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to
reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.
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The Group has performed background and credit risk assessment
on the potential borrowers before granting the loans by
(a) global searching on their identity and background; (b) reviewing
and assessing their financial information; and (c) performing an
assessment on their creditability.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the value of
security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether to an individual
or a corporate entity, on a case by case basis considering factors,
including but not limited to, the repayment history, results of public
search towards the borrower, the value and location of the assets
owned by the borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

In order to monitor the risks associated with loan receivables,
subsequent repayment record of each loan receivables will be closely
monitored and periodic reviews on loan portfolio will be conducted
by the Group. In the event of failure to repay interest or principal
amount by the due date, the Group will issue overdue payment
reminders to the relevant borrower, instruct its legal advisers to
issue demand letters for loans overdue for a longer period of time,
negotiate with the borrower for the repayment or settlement of the
loan and/or commences legal actions against the borrower.

Details of loan receivables are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Corporate consulting business

The performance of corporate consulting business remained stable
that it recorded a revenue of approximately HK$5.5 million (2023:
approximately HK$4.0 million) and recorded a segment profit of
approximately HK$3.0 million (2023: approximately HK$2.3 million)
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Digital business
The digital business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4.6

million (2023: approximately HK$3.5 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$14.8 million (2023: approximately HK$3.5 million).
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The operating environment has become increasingly challenging
for NOIZChain since second half of 2023. Many enterprises, facing
economic uncertainties, have significantly reduced their budgets
for non-core areas that do not directly generate revenue, which
has had a direct and adverse impact on the financial performance
of NOIZChain. Despite efforts to adapt to these market conditions,
the ongoing challenges, combined with the limited appetite of
enterprises to invest in services that do not provide immediate or
tangible revenue benefits, have made it difficult for NOIZChain to
achieve its anticipated growth and profitability.

Given the uncertain outlook for NOIZChain and the lack of clarity
regarding when the broader industry and market conditions
may recover, the Board has carefully assessed the situation and
determined that it is in the best interest of the Company to cease
further losses.

On 23 December 2024, the Group served the Option Notice to the
Vendors to exercise the Put Option which shall require the Vendors
to repurchase the entire issued share capital of the NOIZChain at the
Repurchase Consideration, satisfied by transfer of all the Repurchase
Consideration Shares. The Purchaser intends to engage a placing
agent for the placing of the Repurchase Consideration Shares to
independent third parties with the placing proceeds retained by the
Purchaser. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Put Option
Deed, completion of the disposal has taken place on 23 December
2024 upon serving of the Option Notice. NOIZchain was then ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Company with effect from 23 December
2024.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2024, the Group managed a listed security
investment with fair value of approximately HK$0.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$0.4 million). In view of the fluctuations in the
global and local financial markets, the Board is always cautious of
the prospects of the trading performance of the Group’s portfolio of
listed securities investments.
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Details of the listed security investment as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 and gains/(losses) for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023 are as below:

(Losses)/gains for the year ended 31 December 2024

Management Discussion and A

SpEd=RE

AR ENR20245F %2023F12831HREHE
2024 %2023F 12831 B IEEEM KRG (5B18)

BUEFIBINE :

HZE2024F 128318 L EEZ (5548) kEF

Realised Unrealised Dividend
Name of listed securities Stock code gains gains/(losses) received
RBH
THEERTE B AR 5% BERKE W= (BB BlKRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT TET
ICO Group Limited 1460 — (42) —
BREBRARAS
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — 30 =
BARMEERBRAA

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at

31 December 2024

220245128318 2R AFEBEFAERZNER

BE

Approximate
percentage to
total assets

Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of  Investment Market ~ value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
A&
EERER
LhESAHE RIAASE  EHE ERGEE MEROLA  KREME i HEDLL
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TER
ICO Group Limited 1460 Integrated IT service business 1,600,000 0.18% 312 310 0.9%
EREERRAA REEANRRBES
Evergrande Property Services Integrated commercial
Group Limited 6666 properties service business 113,000 0.001% 995 85 0.2%
BAMEEERRAA REHEMERBES
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Gains for the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 128318 L EEZ W E

Realised Unrealised Dividend
Name of listed securities Stock code gains gains received
TSR & 17 5% B8R RER W BlKRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT
ICO Group Ltd 1460 = 40 =
BREEFRAS
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — 55 =
BERYEERBRAF

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at

31 December 2023

12023F12831HZ A TFEBEFAEZNER
BE

Approximate
percentage to
total assets

Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of  Investment Market  value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
hAEE
BERER
THESLHE Ak EHEd FERNEE FrRm el BREME A HEDL
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER
ICO Group Limited 1460 Integrated IT service business 1,600,000 0.18% 312 352 0.6%
HREERRAA REENNRRBES
Evergrande Property Services 6666 Integrated commercial 113,000 0.001% 995 55 0.1%

Group Limited properties service business

EBRYEERRRAR REBERERBRH
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The Group has been seeking suitable investment and business
opportunities in light of the market conditions to create value for its
shareholders in a long term and sustainable manner.

Digital business

Given the uncertain outlook for NOIZChain and the lack of clarity
regarding when the broader industry and market conditions
may recover, the Board has carefully assessed the situation and
determined that it is in the best interest of the Company to cease
further losses. This decision reflects the Board’s commitment
to safeguarding shareholder value and ensuring the Company'’s
resources are allocated to areas with greater potential for sustainable
growth and profitability. As such, the Board has decided to refocus
the Company’'s efforts on its core financial industry operations and
actively explore other potential business opportunities that align more
closely with the Company’s strategic priorities and have a higher
likelihood of generating meaningful returns for the Company and
Shareholders.

The Group is strategically positioning itself to leverage Al-driven
technologies within its current financial services framework while
simultaneously continuing investments in live concerts and events. By
exploring innovative business prospects such as cutting-edge fintech
innovations and robust digital transformation strategies, the Group
aims to strengthen its digital presence and enhance service offerings.
Additionally, the Group will also attempt to explore web 3 projects
or blockchain initiatives to expand its business scope. The Group
will adapt and innovate in an increasingly digital-centric business
environment, capturing opportunities in the digital business industry.

Financial services business

Given the challenging conditions in the Hong Kong financial markets
and the competitive landscape in corporate financial advisory
services, the Group is strategically considering diversifying into other
regional capitals like the United States to broaden its customer reach
and potentially boost revenue streams. To actively pursue revenue
growth, the Group is also exploring various avenues to enhance
the performance of its financial services segment. These initiatives
involve actively seeking out new opportunities to increase revenue
streams, including negotiating for asset management prospects under
the Capital Investment Entrant Scheme (CIES) and working towards
expanding its license to include investments in virtual assets.

Management Discussion and Analysi
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Corporate consulting business

With the global emphasis on corporate governance, the Group
foresees a continued need for professional services from Hong
Kong listed companies concerning corporate governance issues
and adherence to the pertinent local regulations governing listed
entities in Hong Kong, along with other relevant legal and regulatory
obligations.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
2022 Convertible Bonds

On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny”), pursuant to which Team Sunny conditionally agreed
to subscribe and the Company conditionally agreed to issue the
convertible bonds (the “2022 CBs"”) in the principal amount of
HK$91,000,000 for the settlement of the outstanding debts due from
the Company to Team Sunny in aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The
subscription amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal
amount of HK$55,000,000 under the 2008 CBs and payable by the
Company to Team Sunny; and (i) the outstanding principal amount
of HK$36,000,000 under convertible bond issued to Team Sunny on
2020 and payable by the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of the
principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of
issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August 2023 shall be
HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period from 13 August
2023 up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 per
conversion share; and the conversion price per conversion share for
HK$36,000,000 of the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the
period from the date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including
21 May 2023 shall be HK$0.903 per conversion share and for the
period from 22 May 2023 up to and including the maturity date shall
be HK$0.186 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the 2022
CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were issued to Team
Sunny.

On 14 July 2023, the Company and the bondholder of 2022 CBs
entered into the deed of amendment, the maturity date of the 2022
CBs was extended to 31 August 2025.

On 27 November 2024, upon the completion of the subscription and
issue of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined below), all the
outstanding principal amount of 2022 CBs was offset and settled
with the subscription price of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as
defined below).

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED » Bz EHR AR

EEERER

BMESRHCREAUNER FEERABB L
HARMREBEEMEREANE BYEBL
HEEEME RN R AN REE S
ENHEIRHS

AR ES
2022F AT AR E S

FR2022FE 118148 » XA SR ERI B R IZER AR
NE (HGERR)) ST REWH=E B ERRBEG
HMEERIEMAATERGHMBRET AL
91,000,000tz A AR &5 (M 2022F ] AR &
%) > LUEEAR AT KER & $£91,000,0008 7T
ZHREBEH EMREIEHERN ZINELEE
BB BIEHEG)EATIRIE2008FE 0 R EHFEN
SEBAAY 2K 4 2855,000,00038 7T 5 K (i) 2 812020
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% %836,000,0003 7T ©

H2022E 0/ IR ESHITHPEEE R B152023
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220225 12B 28R ETRBERE A& 8
91,000,000 75920225 Pl ARG B 5 31T T IERA ©
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2023 Convertible Bonds

On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible into conversion shares at
the conversion price of HK$0.108 per conversion share (subject to
adjustments)) (the “2023 CB") for the settlement of the outstanding
debts due from the Company to the holders of 2008 CBs in
aggregate of HK$10,000,000. The subscription amount payable by
Team Sunny under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by
way of offsetting the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000
under the 2008 CBs and payable by the Company to the holders of
2008 CBs.

On 31 August 2023, the subscription took place and the 2023 CB in
the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were issued to Team Sunny.
The maturity date of the 2023 CB is 31 August 2025.

On 27 November 2024, upon the completion of the subscription and
issue of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined below), all the
outstanding principal amount of 2023 CB was offset and settled with
the subscription price of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined
below).

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

On 10 October 2024, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agrees to issue and Team Sunny conditionally agrees
to subscribe for the perpetual convertible securities in the principal
amount of HK$101,000,000 (the “Perpetual Convertible
Securities”) (which are convertible into conversion shares at the
conversion price of HK$0.10 per conversion share (subject to
adjustments)). The subscription amount payable by Team Sunny under
the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting the
outstanding principal amount of HK$91,000,000 under the 2022 CBs
and HK$10,000,000 under the 2023 CB.

On 27 November 2024, the subscription took place and the Perpetual
Convertible Securities in the principal amount of HK$101,000,000
were issued to Team Sunny.

Management Discussion and Analysi
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The Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer in whole or
in part of any distribution (the “Deferred Distribution”) which is
otherwise scheduled to be paid on a distribution payment date to the
next distribution payment date by giving notice to the Subscriber not
less than five business days prior to the relevant distribution payment
date. The numbers of distribution and deferral of distributions are
not subject to any limitation. If there is any Deferred Distribution
outstanding, the Company shall not declare or pay any discretionary
dividends or distributions or make any other payment, and will
procure that no dividend, distribution or other payment is made, on
any Shares of the Company; or at its discretion repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire for any consideration any Shares prior to its stated
maturity of the Company, unless and until the Company has satisfied
in full all outstanding arrears of the Deferred Distribution.

Based on the conversion price of HK$0.10 per conversion share,
a maximum number of 1,010,000,000 conversion shares will be
allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching
to the Perpetual Convertible Securities in full.

The Perpetual Convertible Securities have no fixed redemption date.
The Company shall be entitled at its sole discretion, by giving not less
than seven days' notice to the holder of the Perpetual Convertible
Securities, propose to the holder to redeem the outstanding Perpetual
Convertible Securities, and in certain specified circumstances
specified in the agreements.

As the Perpetual Convertible Securities bear no obligation of
principal repayment and the Company has a deferral option for the
distributions, the perpetual convertible bonds do not apply to the
definition for classification of financial liabilities. Consequently, the
Perpetual Convertible Securities are classified as an equity instrument.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had the Perpetual

Convertible Securities conferring rights to convert into 1,010,000,000
shares with the conversion price of HK$0.10 per conversion share.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded cash and bank
balances (including trust accounts) amounting to approximately
HK$6.4 million (2023: approximately HK$14.2 million) and the
net current assets value was approximately HK$5.2 million (2023:
approximately HK$15.6 million).

The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
0.27 (2023: approximately 1.41), being a ratio of total interest-
bearing debts, including amounts due to a director and convertible
bonds of approximately HK$9.8 million (2023: approximately
HK$79.8 million) to the total assets of approximately HK$36.4 million
(2023: approximately HK$56.7 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM 2023 SHARE SUBSCRIPTION

The Company completed a share subscription on 31 August 2023,
pursuant to which the Company has issued and allotted 37,666,666
Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per subscription share.
The share subscription amount payable by the subscriber of HK$4.1
million under the share subscription agreement has been satisfied by
way of setting off against part of the principal amount of 2008 CBs.

As at 31 December 2023, the intended and actual use of the net
proceeds from the share subscription is stated as below:

Management Discussion and Analys
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Amount
bk L]
HK$ million Intended use Actual use
BEAT HERAR BIRAR
4.1  Setting off against part of the principal amount of  Fully utilised as intended

2008 CBs
EBINIREH2008 F A IR B A & 4R

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no pledged assets (2023:
Nil).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Save as disclosed, the Company had no changes in capital structure
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING

During the year, the Group invested as a co-organizer in live concerts/
events in Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. This allowed the Group
to establish connections with industry players, gain insights into the
entertainment industry climate and culture and ultimately acquire
valuable IP assets for IP asset management. The Group will continue
to identify potential investment opportunities to enhance its business
portfolio, explore web 3 projects or blockchain initiatives, and
leverage Al-driven technologies within its current financial service
framework.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's business is principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no foreign
exchange risk exposure in US dollars against HK$ that would
significantly affect future profit or loss. No currency hedging
arrangement had been made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024. The Directors have positive attitude to regular
monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the foreign
exchange rate risk to minimal.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 15 staffs (2023: 18).
The Group’s remuneration policy is based on principle of equality,
motivating, performance-oriented and market-competitiveness.
Remuneration packages are normally reviewed on an annual basis.
Apart from salary payments, other staff benefits included provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance
related bonuses. A share option scheme is also established to reward
and motivate the employees of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Hin Shek, aged 55, is an executive Director, the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an authorised representative of
the Company (the “Authorised Representative”) and an authorised
representative for accepting service of any process and notices in
Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (the "“Process
Agent”). He is also a substantial shareholder of the Company and
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a
Master of Science (Financial Management) degree from the University
of London in the United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Toronto in Canada. Besides having
over 30 years of experience in the investment banking industry, Mr.
Wong has been involved in the management, business development
and strategic investment of listed companies in Hong Kong, having
operations in finance, information technology, hotel, manufacturing
and environmental protection industries. Mr. Wong is currently the
chairman and an executive director of Sino Golf Holdings Limited
(stock code: 361), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was an
independent non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings
Group Co., Ltd. (previous stock code: 1175) from January 2022 to
August 2022, which previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and delisted with effect from 9 February 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, aged 52, is an independent non-executive
Director and is a member of each of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “"Remuneration Committee”) and
the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”).
She holds a Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) Degree from Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology. Ms. Ng is a member of both
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
CPA Australia. Ms. Ng was the chief financial officer and company
secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock code: 108), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2019
to November 2019. She was the group financial controller of Luxey
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8041), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 2011 to 2018. Ms. Ng has
over 25 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERERELBER

Mr. Wong Wing Kit, aged 54, is an independent non-executive
Director and is a member of each of the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the City University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong
held senior positions with various local and international institutions.
Mr. Wong has over 32 years of experience in auditing, accounting
management, financial reporting and analysis and financial system
implementation.

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, aged 60, is an independent non-
executive Director and is a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
She holds a Bachelor Degree of Retail Marketing with honours in the
United Kingdom and a Diploma in Marketing from The Chartered
Institute of Marketing. She pursued her further study on legal course
and has been awarded a Diploma in Legal Practice in the United
Kingdom in 1998. She is a consultant of Messrs. Fung & Fung,
Solicitors, a legal firm in Hong Kong. Ms. Yeung is an independent
non-executive director of Success Universe Group Limited
(stock code: 487), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Yeung has
over 25 years of experience in legal field.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B BAER AT

BKMEEE 545 ABUFATESTERRSLE
ER - FNEEEREREZEGRBEZIME KT
EEBRTARIEHEEET2UREEEIX
BEHBENSET B -RARHF ARG EE
EREBGFMATEE - mAENSHE M KE
RIEBEEsSRBU - SERENSEF StEE
MHBRERDIREMAREH S EER B32EF
iLEgo

BREZLT 60K ABIUFNTESHARGS
Bg FNEEERERETESREZMEB MK
ERESSETHEREE T BULERASTFTS
BEE o MBE R -BEBRI1998FEHEE
EErERETEBRERMEIREE E - HAEE
B EEERMT (—HEBERMT) ZBEREM
BRTABBIRKBRAR (RMHME : 487) »—
BMRBRXAERLTHNADRERBEERERE
RAT (B RSR - 8222) » —RIF B X PRGEM £
MABZBIUERTESR - R INEAEREAR
B2SEFRER o



The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Cayman
Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room
1108, 11/F.,, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The subsidiaries are engaged in (i) financial services business including
provision of corporate finance advisory services, asset management
and advising on securities business and money lending services;
(i) corporate consulting business including company secretarial
services, accounting and financial reporting services and management
consulting services; and (iii) digital business that leverages blockchain,
artificial intelligence, and immersive interaction technologies to
create value and protection to individuals, creators, artists, businesses
and brand owners, and offer various opportunities within the
entertainment sector, including the organisation/production of and
investment in concerts, events and festivals.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Type 1 license used
for conducting securities brokerage services was revoked by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC"). Apart from this,
there were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
principal activities.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 92 to 93.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 20
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years are set out on
page 228.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, CONVERTIBLE
BONDS AND PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options,
convertible bonds and perpetual convertible securities during the year
are set out in notes 32, 39, 31 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2023: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers, respectively, during
the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

FTEERRMER

BRAFTERPL MPERMNE E20245F12831H 1E
EEDRMENAEEEEERRERERER
mr

Percentage of the Group'’s

total sales

hAEEEHEETALE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Largest customer RAKR 19.44% 21.44%
Five largest customers AAREFLEE 47.33% 55.55%

Percentage of the Group's
total purchase

AR EEERBEGIL
2024 2023
20245 20234
Largest supplier BRAEER 100% N/A 3
Five largest suppliers hAREEREAREE 100% N/A T iE

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group made donations in various charity activities for
approximately HK$89,800 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately HK$39,800).
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Director:
Mr. Wong Hin Shek
Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of one year and will continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by either party and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company
(the "AGM") in accordance with the amended and restated articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).
According to the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong
Hin Shek and Mr. Wong Wing Kit will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and both retiring Directors are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with the nomination policy of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has reviewed the biographies of each of
Mr. Wong Hin Shek and Mr. Wong Wing Kit, being the Directors,
who will be subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM, and
taking into consideration their knowledge, experience, capability
and various diversity aspects as set out in the board diversity policy
of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) as well as their
overall contributions and services to the Company, including their
attendance of Board/general meetings and the level of participation
and performance on the Board over the years. The Nomination
Committee also assessed and reviewed the written confirmation of
independence of Mr. Wong Wing Kit, based on the independence
criteria as set out in rule 5.09 of the the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Nomination Committee is of the view that Mr. Wong Wing Kit
will continue to contribute to the Board with his perspectives, skills
and experience. In addition, Mr. Wong Wing Kit does not have any
financial or family relationships with any other Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company,
which could give rise to a conflict of interests situation or otherwise
affect their exercise of independent judgement. The Nomination
Committee believes that Mr. Wong Wing Kit remains committed to
their role as independent non-executive Director and will continue to
be independent.

Taking into consideration of the above, recommendations to the
Board for the proposal for re-election of each of Mr. Wong Hin
Shek and Mr. Wong Wing Kit as the Directors were made by the
Nomination Committee and the Board accepted the nomination by
the Nomination Committee and recommended Mr. Wong Hin Shek
and Mr. Wong Wing Kit to stand for re-election by the Shareholders
at the AGM.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Change in composition of the Board

Pursuant to the Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules. During the
year, the changes in composition of the Board are set out below:

Mr. Wong Hin Shek, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, has been re-designated from a non-executive director
of Sino Golf Holdings Limited (stock code: 361) (“Sino Golf”) to
an executive director of Sino Golf, and has been appointed as the
chairman of the board of directors of Sino Golf, all with effect from
16 September 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Wong Hin Shek being the executive Director, has entered into
a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years
from the date of appointment/agreement and which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party and are subject to
retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles. Each of the other three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, Mr. Wong Wing Kit and Ms. Yeung
Mo Sheung, Ann has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year from the date of appointment and
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party and
are subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

No Director had a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
any interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred
to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

EERESITHRABRARARESFNEDR

R2024F12B31B AR BEEREEGTHAR
RARABZEEAERZE (EEREBS KPS R
B) 25~ EEARDREEEFEERZESE S K
HE BB EXVESFE 7RSI EBBH G A AT KB
FrEmhkXE (BIEREBEESMBERANZS
BXREREFARAEENEMERAKXAR) >
FALARBE S RBAERAFEI2HREFENER
MANER XA WIRIEGEM EMmRAE5.468
567 ETETH S ZNRETFRENS
KRR RGN ERRXABWT !

REABRMBRERRKRGBZEE :

Approximate

Total number  percentage of the

Number of of Shares and  total issued share

Nature of interest/ Number of underlying underlying capital of the

Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares held Shares held Company (e

EEAF

BEITRE

HERMR BEz

EEHS BREE /56 HERMNYE HEABKRGHE HEARNEEY B E AL =)

Mr. Wong Hin Shek et 7 Controlled corporation 174,421,666 1,010,000,000 (et 2 1,184,421,666 195.97%

T EaRE A W) SR iz2)

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
REERL BHREAA

Mr. Wong Wing Kit Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
EKERE BHERAA

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
BRELL BHREAA
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Notes:

(1) The interest is held by Team Sunny, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands owned 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr. Wong is
also the sole director of Team Sunny.

(2)  The Company issued to Team Sunny Perpetual Convertible Securities
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$101,000,000 which set
off existing convertible bonds with outstanding principal amount of
HK$91,000,000 under the 2022 CBs and HK$10,000,000 under the
2023 CB. The conversion price per conversion share is HK$0.10 and
a maximum of 1,010,000,000 conversion shares will be allotted and
issued upon the full exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the
Perpetual Convertible Securities.

(3) The percentage has been calculated based on 604,395,612 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors,
at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred
to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

7

TERRREMATIRARBESFNED

122024F 128318 FAAT BRESERA QAR
BITHRABN REAB ZRM UKD PES
RiEES R SEMNEXVERE2RINDBAMNE &
NERBRARBES RIEKAE3I6MKEEN
MmN ER RN T

Approximate

Total number  percentage of the

Number of of Shares and  total issued share

Nature of Number of underlying underlying capital of the

Name of Shareholder interest/Capacity Shares held Shares held Shares held Company

BEREBET

FRERMK RABEZ

RRATE EEE /56 RERMEE FARRRGEE WHRRNEE  BOESL T

Team Sunny Mot Beneficial owner 174,421,666 1,010,000,000 Mot 1,184,421,666 195.97%
TR R BB A LEA

Notes: Wiat -

(1) The interest is held by Team Sunny, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr,
Wong is also the sole director of Team Sunny.

(2)  The Company issued to Team Sunny Perpetual Convertible Securities
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$101,000,000 which set
off existing convertible bonds with outstanding principal amount of
HK$91,000,000 under the 2022 CBs and HK$10,000,000 under the
2023 CB. The conversion price per conversion share is HK$0.10 and
a maximum of 1,010,000,000 conversion shares will be allotted and
issued upon the full exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the
Perpetual Convertible Securities.

(3) The percentage has been calculated based on 604,395,612 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of
the Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at
31 December 2024, had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO.

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « B BAER AT

(1) ZETZHENFE BRAANABREZEEMMN
Vo BRERBRAEEA100%RE e ERETRE
MRME—ES-

(2) AREMAERZEITAELREEA101,000,0008E T2
KATPRES LUK 2022E A TEHIE TR E
BAE91,000,0008 0 K2023F AFEHFE T X
{8184 £10,000,0008 2 REIBKRES SR
RN BV R EA0.108 7T E K AR IREH
FIM R EERMITER RIS RET
1,010,000,0008% 2 B& B2 15 ©

) ZEDLBEMR2024F£128B31BEHTH
604,395,612/ fR1D5tHE o

R EXFIEEEN BARBAEEREETHRAS
BTN > 7220245128318 B EAA TR RMH K
MERRMD T HEREIREE S MBERAIEXVE E2 K
3DEBMEANE HBLAREES RBER
53361 BT FENELMANERRRE



SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of the
Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 December
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from the date of its adoption. The Board may, at their
discretion, offer options to any Directors of the Group, full time or
part time employees of the Group ; and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including any
sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-
tenants) of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for
Shares.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue. The maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to each Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
the above limit must be subject to shareholders’ approval with such
Participant and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted
and to be granted (including share options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess
of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options must be approved by
the Shareholders at a general meeting of the Company, with voting
to be taken by way of a poll. The Company must send a circular to
the Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour of the
proposed grant at such general meeting. Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such share options must be taken
on a poll and comply with the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days (or such
shorter period as the Board may from time to time determine) from
the date on which the share option is granted. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors and
commences after a certain vesting period, if any, as determined by
the Directors and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options.

The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price
as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that
such price shall be not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily
guotation sheet on the date of the grant of the share option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as shown in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on the date
of grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at 31 December 2024, a total of 4,349,836 share options of the
Company (the “Share Options”) were lapsed. Save and except for
the aforesaid, no Share Option was granted, exercised, cancelled,
expired or lapsed during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 1,816,214 accumulated
total outstanding Share Options, which entitled holders thereof to
subscribe for 1,816,214 Share under the Share Option Scheme at an
exercise price of HK$0.132 per Share. Save for the aforementioned
Share Options, the Company does not have any other outstanding
Share Options. The total number of shares available for issue by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme was 48,506,228 shares,
which represents approximately 8.03% of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 December 2024.

The number of shares of the Company that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (i.e. 1,816,214 Shares)
divided by the weighted average number of shares of 604,396,000
Shares for the year ended 31 December 2024, was 0.3%.
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The following table summarised movements of the Company’s share

options under the Share Option Scheme during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

BRESETAADBRENENEHHZF ¢

HE2024F12B31HLLEE :

Number of Share Options
BREYE
Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding Price of the
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Shares before
1January  duringthe  during the  during the 31 December Date of Exercise the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity ERA/ & 2024 period period period 2024 grant period  grant®e? price e/
120245 120245 R B A
1818 H KR 128318 2RI ER i@
WATE  REREE  REATE  EH/RR HAGE RUAH (i e 150
Per Share  Per Share
gk i
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUEHTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REEUL 113,513 - - - 113513 20112021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit EkfiRE 13513 - - — 113513 20122021 20/1/2020- 0014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BREZL 113,513 = = = 113,513 201172021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible BERAMAERSEE
participants
Employees of the Group rEEES 1,816,215 = = (340,540) 1,475,675 20112021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants /o EfaBRSEE ) 4,009,296 = — (4,009,296) — 20172021 20112021~ 0014 0.132
(ote 4) (¥/z4) 19/1/2024
6,166,050 - — (434983) 1816214
Notes: Mzt -
(1) The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the (1) BEREZTEEEMEMCET HR - RODF

(2)

(3)

4)

case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or consolidation of
the Shares, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on which the
Share Options were granted.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but not
limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto and blockchain
technology development and accounting and financial management
respectively. The grant of Share Options to the consultants is to provide
them an incentive to (i) optimize their performance for the benefit of
the Group; (ii) share of their respective relevant experience, knowledge
and network to improve of the business operating system of the Group;
and (iii) introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.

All Share Options granted by the Company to the consultants has been
lapsed on 19 January 2024.

3)
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PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued Perpetual
Convertible Securities on 27 November 2024 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$101,000,000, which could be converted
into 1,010,000,000 Shares at a conversion price of HK$0.10 per
conversion Shares.

The Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer in whole or
in part of any distribution (the "Deferred Distribution”) which is
otherwise scheduled to be paid on a distribution payment date to the
next distribution payment date by giving notice to the Subscriber not
less than five business days prior to the relevant distribution payment
date. The numbers of distribution and deferral of distributions are
not subject to any limitation. If there is any Deferred Distribution
outstanding, the Company shall not declare or pay any discretionary
dividends or distributions or make any other payment, and will
procure that no dividend, distribution or other payment is made, on
any Shares of the Company; or at its discretion repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire for any consideration any Shares prior to its stated
maturity of the Company, unless and until the Company has satisfied
in full all outstanding arrears of the Deferred Distribution.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed "“Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in securities of the Company” and “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated
corporations, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and
chief executive of the Company (including their respective spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors,
substantial shareholder or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any of the
Company's subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries were a party, and in
which a Director and an entity connected to a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and Perpetual Convertible Securities
of the Company, no other equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company, or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance
Code in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) and
subject to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any
legal actions brought against the directors and senior management of
the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as
required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board is aware, there were no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
by the Group that had a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Company is set
and recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board on
the basis of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and recommended
by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, having regards to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees of the Company, details of which
are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statement.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection. The Company has
adhered to the concepts of recycling and reducing by implementing
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
using recycle papers and reducing energy by switching off those idle
lighting. The Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities from time
to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets.
Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, our senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.

(a)

The Group's financial services business, corporate consulting
business and digital business are facing significant competition
which may affect its profitability if the Group fails to maintain
its competitiveness;

The business operations and performance are significantly
affected by the uncertainty about the customer behaviour
and preferences, such as changes on customer expectation
upon new regulations or requirements, and relatively price
competitive. If the Group is unable to respond to such changes
promptly, the Group may not be able to compete effectively
against its competitors and may lost its market share;

The Group may face the risk of business sustainability arising
from low awareness of potential change in the business
environment under outbreak of contagious diseases, such
as novel coronavirus pandemic, which causes a significant
economic downturn;

The Group's success depends on professional and experienced
staff to provide regulated and consulting services. Failure to
attract, motivate and retain skilled and talented individuals
would have an adverse impact on the Group’s operations;

Delays or failure in payments by customers, or delay repayment
of loans by borrowers may adversely affect the Group's
financial position and profitability. The Group may have to
incur additional legal expenses for legal proceedings and/
or enforcement of collaterals and/or make provision for
impairment or write-off the relevant receivables;

The licensed corporations and money lending business under
financial services business segment are regulated under the
SFO and Money Lending Ordinance (“MLO") respectively. Any
failure of compliance would be subject to disciplinary action, or
even revoke or suspend on relevant licence;

Both of the financial services business and corporate consulting
business are required to comply with Anti Money Laundering
related statutory and regulatory requirements under SFO
and issued by the Companies Registry and the Hong Kong
government respectively. If the Group fails to comply with the
relevant requirements and guidelines, it may be subject to
disciplinary actions or even suspension of operation.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 40 to 64.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
which are in line with the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix
C1 of the GEM Listing Rules and comprises three independent non-
executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company and the external auditor the Group’s annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and was of the opinion that
the preparation of such results are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as required under the GEM
Listing Rules throughout the financial period under review and up to
the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited (”Elite Partners”) has resigned as
the auditor of the Company (the ”Auditor”) with effect from 6
December 2024. Moore CPA Limited (“Moore”) has been appointed
as the Auditor with effect from 6 December 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by Moore who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for their re-appointment as the Auditor will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always recognised the importance of the
transparency and accountability to Shareholders. It is the belief of the
Board that the Shareholders can maximise their benefits from good
corporate governance. The Company is committed to maintaining
a good and sensible framework of corporate governance and to
complying with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements with
a view to assuring the conduct of management as well as protecting
the interests of the Shareholders.

Throughout the year, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has applied the principles and complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code except for the
deviation as mentioned below.

Code Provision C.2.1

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
This is at variance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code which
provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Board considers that (i) Mr. Wong has substantial experience that
is essential to fulfilling the role of the Chairman, at the same time,
he has the appropriate management skills and business acumen that
are the prerequisites for assuming the role of the Chief Executive
Officer in the day-to-day management of the Group; (ii) having the
same individual in both roles as the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer could ensure the leadership consistency and could make and
implement the overall strategy of the Group more effectively; and (iii)
the powers and authorities of the Group has not been concentrated
as all major decisions of the Group have been made in consultation
with the Board and appropriate Board committees, as well as senior
management. The Board will regularly review the effectiveness
of this structure to ensure that it is appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has not adopted a code of conduct nor established
written guidelines regarding the securities transactions by the
Directors and relevant employees of the Company but has applied
the principles of the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the "Required Standard of
Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors
has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with the responsibility for the promotion of the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Directors take decisions objectively
in the interests of the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, are aware of their responsibilities and accountability to
Shareholders and for the manner in which the affairs of the Company
are managed and operated.

The senior management of the Group was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board and under the leadership of
the Board, responsible for executing the Board’s strategy and
implementing its policies through day-to-day management and
operations of the business of the Group. The Board determines which
functions are reserved to the Board and which are delegated to senior
management. It delegates appropriate aspects of its management
and administrative functions to senior management. It also gives
clear directions as to the powers of senior management, in particular,
with respect to the circumstances where senior management must
report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.

Important matters are reserved to the Board for its decision, including
strategic direction and objectives of the Group, extension of the
Group's activities into new business areas, appointments to the Board
and the Board committees, appointment or change of auditors,
monitor the performance of the management of the Group, annual
budgets and effective control measures, material acquisitions and
disposals, material transactions, material banking facilities, risk
management and internal control, announcements of quarterly,
interim and final results and payment of dividends and other
significant operational matters of the Company.
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The Directors are enabled, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist
the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Board has established the Group's purpose, value and strategy,
and has satisfied itself that the Group's culture is aligned. The
Directors and senior management have acted with integrity, lead by
example(s), and promote the desired culture to support the Group's
pursuit of success. The integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality, and
ethical long-term business practices should be stated as one of the
core values of the Group.

During the year, the Group has adopted anti-corruption policy
(the "“Anti-Corruption Policy”) and whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to provide the platforms for reporting
issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business
integrity in its operations. These two policies are the core to
establishing the healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical
standards in the Group.

The Group will continuously day-to-day implementation and oversight
of these policies, and consideration and approval of changes to the
policies, if necessary. The Group believes that a healthy corporate
culture is very important for achieving the long-terms success and
foster sustainability of the Group.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of the legal
action against the Directors and the management of the Group. The
Board considers that the Group has sufficient and appropriate liability
insurance to cover the Directors and the management of the Group
against any legal liability arising from their performance of duties.

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four Directors, with
an executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Director:

Mr. Wong Hin Shek
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann
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The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of
the Group. The Directors with a variety and a balance of skills and
experience in investment banking, auditing, accounting, financial
management, company secretarial, business development, legal,
management, marketing and corporate finance which is relevant
in managing the businesses in which the Group is engaged. The
names of the Directors in office during 2024 and up to the date of
this report and details of retiring Directors to be re-elected at the
forthcoming AGM are set out in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” in this report. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this report. Updated list of Directors
identifying their role and function are maintained on the websites
of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at
WWW.N0iz-group.com.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
Board members or between the Chairman and the chief executive.

Appointment, Re-Election and Retirement of the Directors

In accordance with article 83(2) and 83(3) of the Amended and
Restated Articles of Association, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. The
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company (the “"AGM")
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles of Association,
at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM at least once
every three (3) years.
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In accordance with article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director
who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors
subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the
Board pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association shall not
be taken into account in determining which particular Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy
and policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Wong Hin Shek assumes the roles of both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer. The roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer are not separated and exercised by different
individuals. The reasons for the deviation from the code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code are set out under the section “Corporate
Governance Practices” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned individuals
from diversified backgrounds and industries. The Board has complied
with rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least three
independent non-executive director and who represent one-third
of the Board and with at least one of whom holds appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting or related financial
management expertise. The total number of independent non-
executive Directors represented half of the Board members so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
formal letters of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of one year and will continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by either party, subject to re-election at the general
meeting/AGM next following their appointment and thereafter
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs in accordance
with the Articles of Association.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company
is of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

During the year, the Chairman has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors.

Board Meetings

Board meetings are held regularly and at least four times a year to
approve, among other things, the financial results of the Company.
Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give the
Directors an opportunity to attend. All Directors are invited to include
matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. For all other Board
meetings, reasonable notices are given to Directors. Directors can
attend Board meetings either in person or by electronic means of
communication.

During the year, a total of eight Board meetings were held. There was
satisfactory attendance for Board meetings, which evidences prompt
attention of the Directors to the affairs of the Company.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by a written resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors who, have no material interest in the transaction
will be present at such Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of all Board
and Board committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to Board
or Board committee members unless a conflict of interest arises and
the final version of minutes are open for inspection by the Directors
upon reasonable notice.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors also have
separate and independent access to senior management to make
further enquiries or to obtain more information where necessary.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Upon appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will
receive the briefing by senior management on, among others, the
corporate goals, objectives, business activities and plans and financial
situation of the Group. Subsequently, each newly appointed Director
is also provided a training with a package of materials in respect of a
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable law, rules and regulations, corporate governance
matters and financial reporting standards.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code. Reading materials on relevant topics are sent to the Directors
where appropriate.

Each of the Directors participated in the following trainings during
the year:

ERHIIRFEEEER

REFEZAR BLMETEFESREEEM
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FR-RARERETESHEREE BXES
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Attending or giving
talks at seminars/

webinars/ Reading
conferences/forums materials
HEEE
=L+ Ve
WENRREE REME
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Wong Hin Shek TREmBEE 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors JBHIIIFHITES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REEYL v v
Mr. Wong Wing Kit KRR E v/ 4
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BREZL v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference. The main roles and responsibilities of
these three committees, including all authorities delegated to them
by the Board, as set out in the terms of reference and are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.noiz-group.com. The different committees’
independent views and recommendations not only ensure proper
control of the Group but also the continual achievement of the high
corporate governance standards expected of a listed company. The
chairman of each committee reports the outcome of the committee’s
meetings to the Board for further discussion and approval.

There was satisfactory attendance for meetings of the Board
committees during the year. The minutes of the committee meetings
are circulated to all members of the relevant committee unless a
conflict of interest arises. The committees are required to report back
to the Board on key findings, recommendations and decisions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, culture and educational background, skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually, and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (iv)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Members of the Nomination Committee are:

RRZEEMERHE:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REERL (BIIERITES)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
=KL (B IEMITES)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

HBRIET LT (BILIFAITES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

The Nomination Committee will at all times, have a minimum of three
members, a majority of which shall be independent non-executive
Directors and presently consists of three members comprising
three independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is elected by the members who are present at
the meeting.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has (i) reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed
the independent of the independent non-executive Directors; (iii)
recommended to the Board on the selection of members of the
Board; (iv) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy
and terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, the Nomination Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at
the Company's expense to seek independent professional advice,
where and when necessary.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee takes
into account various aspects as well as the factors concerning the
Board diversity as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, as follows:

Board Diversity Policy
0] Objective

The Company recognizes the importance of the nomination
of the Board of Directors and the Board diversity which are
beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.

(i) Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and recommends the
appointment of new Directors. In addition to its terms of
reference, the Nomination Committee will also take into
account includes: (a) in designing and reviewing the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee will consider from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to reputation
for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time; and (b) all Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

(ifi)  Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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(iv)  Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board annually in the corporate governance report contained in
the Company’s annual report and monitor the implementation
of this Board Diversity Policy. A summary of this Board
Diversity Policy together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the
annual corporate governance report of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised two male and two
female Directors, and the percentage of male and female employees
are 33.33% and 66.67% respectively.

The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including Directors)
are diverse in terms of gender. The Group will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken, and will
continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of our
Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
diversity of the Board, it ensures that the Board composition is
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Also, it reflects an
appropriate mix of Board's specific skills, experiences and knowledge
and diversity of perspectives, and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency to achieve the Company's strategy and
corporate governance issues. The Nomination Committee considered
that an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
(include the industry or professional knowledge and experience,
gender, technical skill and management experience) is maintained.
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Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy which
sets out the nomination procedures, criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of Directors. Details of the Nomination
Policy are set out below:

1. Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

° character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

° any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

° requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules (in case of
independent non-executive Director);

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.

fERHE

EFSHAEREMERER ETRERGREE
EFNRLERF RERBRE - RBBRFBEHI
LI

Corporate Governance Re
T 3=

AMERBESEFEEAR  RLEEERS
HEFEREBUATRE !

. REREE;

. OEGEER B NAREHEE
BoURESETS T LBERRE &
AAREBRELFRAMNS 1L
HE;

e AENEFEZMERMEMAA
EEBR;

o ETGEMLETMRAIBRE > URMBIL
FHITESEMS » 2RGEM A ARBIFR
HEUMIES  ETRREARSES

v

e TEER -ERE-ER-BuUMRMHZ
TEDEEREARAEEEHRME
FBEER ;

e RARHFEUBTEATDEFIR
SRNEELEERENERERET &

e EEER/URLEZEGTHNEERSD
R Mg R8I G EIB T B A B 5
R/ BETHNBERREADEB R
R EIRE R A thER RS -

ANNUAL REPORT £E 3R « 2024




Corporate Governance Report

PXREB

RS

Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the Articles as
below:

2.1

2.2

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the Board or the
Company Secretary shall call for a meeting of the
Nomination Committee upon receipt of any nominations
of candidates. The Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the selection criteria
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship. For any person
that is nominated by the Shareholder(s) for election as
a Director at the general meeting of the Company (the
“General Meeting”), the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the
same selection criteria as mentioned above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship, and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to the Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
General Meeting. The Board should have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any General Meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the General Meeting according
to the Articles. The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution and service
of the retiring Director to the Company, his/her level
of participation and performance on the Board and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet
the above selection criteria. The Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should then make recommendation to
the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the General Meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of Remuneration Committee include: (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) assessing
performance of executive Directors’ and approving the terms of
executive Directors’ service contracts; (iii) reviewing the remuneration
package including the performance-based bonus and incentive
rewards for the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Group and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; (iv) reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board the compensation, if any, payable
to the executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment; and (v)
reviewing and approving the matters relating to the share schemes
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
and motivate the executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group by linking their rewards to the corporate and individual
performance, job complexity and responsibilities, so that the interests
of the executive Directors are aligned with those of the Shareholders.
No Director can, however, approve his/her own remuneration.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are:
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Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REERL (BILIENTESR)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
EmKERE (BILIENTESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

BREZL (BIUFPTES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is elected by the
members who are present at the meeting.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
included: (i) reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, including those
retired and re-elected at the AGM. The Company has adopted the
model to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;
(i) reviewing the performance-based remuneration package of each
individual executive Directors, and his/her terms of services contracts
and recommending to the Board; (iii) reviewing matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (iv)
reviewing the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include: (i) reviewing the
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group; (ii) reviewing
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;
(iii) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Group; (iv) ensuring the objectivity and credibility of the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control procedures as well as to
maintain an appropriate relationship with the external auditor of
the Company; and (v) reviewing and investigation of reports of the
whistleblowing policy and systems.

Members of the Audit Committee are:
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Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REERLT (BILIENTESR)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
KSR E (BILIENTESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

BREL LT (BIUFPTES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(Independent non-executive Director)
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The Audit Committee consists of three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The chairman of the Audit Committee is elected
by the members who are present at the meeting. All members of
the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications
and experience necessary to give advice on the Board's strategies
and other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee
have complete and unrestricted access to the external auditor of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets at least two times a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Three
meetings were held during the year.

During the year, the work performed by the Audit Committee
included: (i) reviewing together with senior management of the
Company, the annual audit plan, the risk management and internal
control system, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and other financial matters; and (ii) considering and
approving the Company’s annual financial results and annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim results and
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024, and change
of auditor of the Company and confirmed that the preparation
of such complied with the applicable accounting standards and
practices adopted by the Company, the requirements of the under
the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements and adequate disclosures has been made.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Moore as the Company’s external auditor subject
to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.
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Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings EXggR EELEgRERREAGHEREE
and General Meetings l

During the year, the attendance records of the Directors at Board HFWR > EBEZ=ERNEFLLE BEXZECTTZ L
meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Nomination Committee ZEGEH - FNEEcom REBEATARK
meeting, Remuneration Committee meeting, AGM and Extraordinary 4RIk e (MERIFINAS)) BEHUBEFTLN
General Meeting (“EGM") (attendance by either in person or by HJE) 2 HELHEWT :

phone) are as follows:

Number of meetings

EEES
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHE/RERLE
EGM held on
Audit Nomination Remuneration AGM held on 25 November
Board Committee Committee Committee 20 May 2024 2024

120245 720245
5H208 2178 1182588178
Exg BR%EY Re%8g EMEZEE REBEAT REFEIKE

Executive Director

HITES

N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Wong Hin Shek 8/3 TEA AER A 1" (l
TRERELE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIUFHNTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina 6/8 2/3 11 7 1”7 11
REEQL
Mr. Wong Wing Kit 8/8 3/3 11 7 1”7 11
BXBRE
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann 718 3/3 11 7 1”7 11
BRIEZL

The attendance of a Director is stated by reference to the number of FRENTRESENEEMs > HHEEZXHELS
meetings held during his/her tenure if he/she was appointed part way BEERNARTZ EZREMIIHE -
during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which
include: (i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of
the Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer while all Directors have access to the advice and
services of her to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for supporting the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed, advising the Board through the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance matters and
facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year, Mr. Au Kai Yin, the Company Secretary of the
Company attended over 15 hours of professional training as required
under rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy which outlines
general principles for the determination and payment of dividend to
its Shareholders (the “Dividend Policy”). Dividends or distributions
by the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and
the Dividend Policy.
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Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Company may declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders by way of cash or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such
dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current and
future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received from the
Company'’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend on
the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend. In
addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board will continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to
time, amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it
deems fit and necessary.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established the (i) policy and measures to support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii) whistleblowing policy
and measures for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise
serious concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Board about
possible improprieties in financial report or other matters of the
Group. These polities can promote high probity standards and ethical
business practices.

Further details of the Group’s anti-corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy, please refer to the Company’s website.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 provided by the external auditor of

the Company, Moore CPA Limited are as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Fri (AR 75 et FENER

HK$'000

FHT

Audit services EIZRFS 750

Non-audit services JETBZRTS -

Total Bt 750
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL EEMAEHAMBRRZET

STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company and ensure that they
are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely

EFNTREECERRUALDMBRE > LHER
BERBBEEZERERBERAGENRR -EFNA
BREFTNEZSMBERR -EFRIMLERR
MEASREEFTEZNERZ FEo

publication of such financial statements. The Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position

and prospects.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Moore
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements is set out in the section headed

“Independent Auditor Report” in this report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing
and maintaining the Group's risk management and internal control
system and reviewing its effectiveness. The Group has established
a risk management and internal control system covering all the
business units to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the
Group's business activities, on a regular basis.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group include: the identification of risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous
update of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of
risk management and internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. Such risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system
identifies, evaluates and manages the significant risks through regular
risk assessments, including both compliance assessment and self-
assessment on risk management and internal control.

The risk management and internal control system of the Group
comprises four levels based on the corporate governance structure:
(1) the Board, responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives and to ensure the defects found in reviews of
the risk management and internal control system can be resolved in
a timely manner; (2) the Audit Committee, responsible for reviewing
the quality, integrity and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control policies of the Group and to approve and make
suggestions to the Board the revisions on the risk management
and internal control policies; (3) management, responsible for the
day-to-day risk management in all departments and subsidiaries of
the Company and (4) the members of the Group, responsible for
performing the daily risk management task.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control element,
a serious of disclosure procedures of price sensitive information on
reporting and dissemination of inside information and preservation
of confidentiality. Under the current practice, the directors aware any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as practicable
when it materializes for determining the nature of developments,
and if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to
observe the code of ethical standards to keep non-public information
confidential.
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During the year, the Group engaged a professional advisory firm
as internal control reviewer and to report directly to the Audit
Committee to conduct annual review for the effectiveness the risk
management and internal control system of the Group covering the
period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 in compliance
with the requirements under code provision D.2 of the CG Code
which covers expenditure and cash management and treasury cycles
of certain Subsidiaries of the Group.

The result of the review has been summarised and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board with recommendations and follow-
up results. All the recommendations have been properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they will be implemented within
a reasonable period of time. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control system of the Group is adequate
and effective.

During the year, the Board also reviews the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company, the
Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be the
principal place of the meeting, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Sending Enquiries to the Board

The Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board by addressing
them to the Company’s head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing On Centre,
111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong, by post for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

Pursuant to article 83(2) of the Articles of Association, subject to the
Articles of Association and the Law, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that such notices
must be lodged with the Company at least fourteen (14) days prior
to the date of the general meeting of election but no earlier than the
day after despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election.

The Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or
move resolutions at the general meetings under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands other than to propose
a person for election as a director. Shareholders who wish to make
proposals or move a resolution may, however, follow the procedures
set out in “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting” above by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
putting forward proposals at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to ensure
the Shareholders’ questions and concerns are the appropriately
addressed. The Board has the responsibility to review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy set out the provisions with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company in order to promote effective
communication with the Shareholders so as to enable them
to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights
as Shareholder in an informed manner. The Shareholders’
Communication Policy is available on the Company’s website at
www.noiz-group.com and emphasizes the maintenance of ongoing
communication with the Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means includes: (1) financial reports
and other corporate communications. The publication of the financial
reports (quarterly, interim and annual reports) and other corporate
communications including but not limited to announcements,
circulars, notices, proxy forms and other regulatory disclosure will
be provided to Shareholders in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules and any other relevant laws and regulations to facilitate
Shareholders’ understanding; (2) Shareholders’ meetings. (i.e. AGM,
extraordinary general meeting or any other Shareholders’ meetings);
and the members of the Board, in particular, either the chairmen
of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives will attend AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions in
normal circumstances; and (3) Company’s Website. The availability of
latest information of the Group on the Company’s website at www.
noiz-group.com which is an effective communication platform to the
shareholders and the investors as well as the general public.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of ZARABDRIHEFSEHEERKRABIEE  BRIE
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of GEM_EMREBIBR 0 HRE AR EE R EHHE
relevant information to its Shareholders and investors and discloses E#l > RIRBEBRBEZEREIREARTHTIERS
information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, and publishes KA o

periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with

the relevant laws and regulations.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation HR > EBFCEZMKREEBBRNEH kMK
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy for NEREEZERG MEEETHAIEFBEFRER
enhancing the investors relations, and the investors understanding of 5o

the Group's business performance and strategies.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS BEEXH

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during 2 E2024F12831HIEEEAEBEEARKRES B
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report. AT E S I EEF) o

r . NOIZ GROUP LIMITED « BiZEMARAH
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Board recognises the importance of a strong commitment to
sustainability and performance in meeting stakeholder expectations.
The Board has worked with the management to identify, prioritise
and oversee Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) strategy
to continuously improve our ESG performance to mitigate the ESG-
related risk.

As the Board of Directors, we are committed to leading our company
with integrity and responsibility, recognising the importance of ESG
principles in our operations. We are dedicated to create value not
only for our shareholders but also for the communities we serve.

We believe that sustainable growth is essential for long-term success.
Our financial services operations are designed to uphold the highest
ethical standards, ensuring transparency and trust in our client
relationships. Our corporate consulting segment strives to empower
businesses to enhance their governance frameworks and adopt best
practices that align with ESG goals.

We acknowledge that the path to a more sustainable future is a
shared journey. As a company, we are committed to continuous
improvement in our ESG efforts, fostering collaboration with our
stakeholders, and engaging with the challenges and opportunities
that lie ahead. Together, we can make meaningful contributions to a
sustainable and equitable future.

OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Since 2021, the Group has established an ESG working team (the
“Working Team”) responsible for evaluating the impact of ESG-
related risks on business operations through ESG risk assessments and
internal control reviews. The team formulates corresponding policies
to address these risks. The Working Team will report to the Board
at least twice a year on ESG performance and the outcomes of the
associated risk assessments. The Group’s ESG management approach
and strategy will be closely monitored and reviewed by the Working
Team, which will assist the Board in evaluating progress toward
achieving ESG-related targets and performance goals. Additionally,
the Group conducted a materiality assessment to gather feedback
from various stakeholders on each ESG issue, which serves as a
reference for sustainability development plans. We also aim to raise
awareness among our employees and encourage them to collaborate
in moving toward sustainability.
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YOUR FEEDBACK

The Group recognises the importance of our stakeholders’ opinions.
Should you have any suggestions or comments on the content
of the Report or our ESG performance, feel free to contact us at
admin@noiz-group.com.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Noiz Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group” or “We") are pleased to present the
environmental, social and governance (the "ESG") Report (the "ESG
Report”). This ESG Report focuses on the Group’s environmental
and social-related policies, initiatives, strategies, and performances
arising from our operations in Hong Kong from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (“Reporting Period”).

Reporting Standards and Principles

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 —
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”).

The reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance, and
consistency have been strictly applied in determining and compiling
the content of this ESG Report.

ERKRER

FEBEBAFHERRNEEM . BTUHERR
SERERHEMRE - HEREARBEAMNERN
B R BulEBadmin@noiz-group.comi A T 9 o
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A

The ESG issues covered in this Report are sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders in
the areas of the economy, environment, and society.
AREHEARE - RENT SEFENKEEENAMSENEEEEENRE - HEREAER -

Key performance indicators (“KPIs") are disclosed measurably. Targets are set to reduce a particular
impact. In this way, the effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems can be assessed and
validated. Quantitative information should be elaborated with a narrative, presenting its objective,
and impacts, and providing comparative data where appropriate.

FEL RIS H IR B RE ISR ((RRRERIEIR)) - BREBELBDEERE o LRI LET
ERBERE - HEREABRNEEAANAN - EEENERBRUIETHMARE BREE
SR W EE SRR R

To maintain credibility of this ESG Report, ESG information is presented unbiasedly.
RERARE - HEREARENIGEE  BRR T8 RERENNZHEA R

The Group ensures consistency of the reporting standards, data collection and calculation methods
adopted and provides figures of previous years of KPl under this reporting framework to allow
meaningful comparison.

REBEMRFTERANRESER - ERIRENMSE R EZN—2S > UEIERESER MRHETENRERE
BERIEREE  LEETAERENLER
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R - H8REIG

The Group highly values feedback from our stakeholders. Through AEBSESHEFHENRE EREATERHRHS
regular engaging activities with our major stakeholders, we could MEEHEEES > HFAALUSEME R > BiF iR
communicate transparently and better understand and respond to  AZF0[0] FE 18 55 ¥ 3 P9 BJ 1548 25 IR SR BR AN SR 2R 25 R
their expectations and concerns regarding our sustainability strategy ~ HVHAEHMB F - ZERERBHIHME—TH B K&
and future development. These opinions will help us further identify  FEFMERIN AT FE S TIERTE=HFINIEE
and assess our current efforts on sustainability and refine our ESG ~ #H &K EAREE I ERENEE-

strategy to align with their perceptions.

The following table sets out our major stakeholders and their TXREIEEFTNHERHAABEEERE-

corresponding communication channels.

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication channels

BhE HAZFRAE BEERE

Government and regulatory e Compliance with laws and regulations e Announcements and other
organisations o BEFEEER regulatory reports

BB B S o NEMHEMZERRE

Shareholders and investors e Return on investments e Information disclosed on the

BRMEEE o KE[LIW Stock Exchange website and the

e Corporate governance mechanism

o REERKE

e Sustainable development

e FHEER

e Compliance with laws and regulations

o BFIERER

Employees e Employees’ compensation and benefits
== o ETWEMER

e Career development

o BUEERE

e Occupational safety and health

o BEZEMRER

Customers e High-quality products and services
S e BmENERMRY
e Protection of customer rights and
personal information

s REZFPRBRAMMEAEGESR

Community and public e Compliance with laws and regulations
HEMAR o EIERIEM

e Involvement in community activities
o ZHEMEEH

e Environmental protection awareness
o REREM

Company's website

TE B 3T PR A8t e A5 /A B) M8 i 45 B8
W&

Annual general meetings and other
shareholders’ meetings

REBFEANGREMBKRRGZH

Employee performance evaluation
BT AN

On-the-job training

TEREE

Internal email

P B0 E

Regular meetings

EHRE®

Corporate website
2
Meetings

EE

Industry events

EXEEH

Corporate social responsibility
activities

PEHEEEED
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has carried out a materiality assessment to identify
significant ESG issues. The assessment process involves identifying,
prioritising, and validating these issues. The procedures of the
assessment process are outlined as follows:

Step 1: Identification
F15 Al

A total of 23 ESG issues relevant
to the Group were identified by
reviewing daily operations, and
creating a pool of possible material
issues.

BBREREEE HHR23HH
AEEEBANRRE - HtERERRE
BRERY —(BBEERNZEE-

EEMTE

FEBEETEEMTGUBNEANIRE LE
R EBEE - STLIBEW RH A BEE B REE
ZEZB LB ENTRIIRAT !

Step 2: Prioritisation

F25 BEZRE

Through continuous communication
with stakeholders, evaluation of the
Group's actual business operations
and industry characteristics, and
with reference to the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
as well as the material issues
disclosed by industry peers.

BRAFNEFREBSR Fht-EER
BEREBEERERFRB 1L2EH
FiEE R e 2ERIZ S E(SASB)LAK
EXERFEPMIRENEANZEE

NOIZ GROUP LIMITED » Bz &£ EFR AT

Step 3: Validation
$3% | EiE

The management of the Group
reviews and verifies the materiality of
the issues and issues located in the
upper right quadrant are regarded
as material by both stakeholders and
the Group.

FEREEEERAREZENE
M URA LS RIENEES R
PENTERRHEARE-



Stakeholder Materiality Matrix

Environmental, Social and Governan
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Air emissions 6.  Environmental impacts 11. Communication with 16. Green procurement 21. Protection of customer
BERAR RERE employee frERE information
Waste production and 7. Employment practices HETER 17. Quality of services RERLEA
treatment EREH 12. Occupational health and RERE 22. Anti-corruption practices
BENEENEE 8. Equal opportunity and safety 18. Complaint handling RESEH
Greenhouse gas anti-discrimination BEREAZ2 KREE 23. Participation in volunteer
emissions TERBMRIZR 13. Staff development and 19. Advertising and activities
RERBHR 9. Employee welfare training promotion 2HEFRTEY
Energy and water BTEH BIEERE B R
conservation 10. Staff turnover 14. Labour standards 20. Intellectual property
AR AK BT RAX ez :]| rights
Climate change 15. Supply chain MAERE
management management
REESEER HrEREEE
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT
Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") emissions

Since our business does not involve manufacturing or production,
we do not have fixed machinery emissions related to gas fuel
consumption. All air emissions generated come from our motor
vehicles. The primary source of our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
is the purchased electricity consumed for office operations. The
Group adheres to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) to minimise air pollution. The significant
decrease in GHG emissions and GHG emissions intensity are primarily
due to the decrease in air travel. In the coming year, we aim to at
least maintain the GHG emissions intensity below 2.5 tonne of CO2ze/
million of revenue.

Below is a table illustrating the air emissions and GHG emissions
during the reporting period:

REIRIR
BERRBEERE (TRERE) HK

HREFANEB TSI RRENEE FILRERAR
HTRAREH FEAR R BY B E M R IR - FR B E RO BE
REFME R AN HFIRAE - IR EREH Y
TERBREMAZTEEFMHENINEE N FEH
BT(ERTREGRD) EBEHE311E) - XU
BERVER SR BREREBHFRERBERES
BERERERL > TEZRRMEBR IR
RERR—F RPNEREE VR EERBEIRE
EHEFEI2 M _atREs B8R

TERANPARSHENERFRENREREIK

5= .

Emissions Unit 2024 2023
BEW ==K v 20245 20234
Air emissions
BE R HEER
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 4.40 4.20
|14 (NOx) NS
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.07 0.07
BReE E® (SOx) NIas
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 0.32 0.31
TBE KL (PM) NS
GHG emissions
BERBEHEN
Direct emissions (Scope 1)
BHiZHem (#EE1)
Fuel combustion Tonne of CO2e 12.59 12.02
AR JEE AR L W_EtIREE
Indirect Emissions (Scope 2)
EiEHER (EE2)
Purchased electricity Tonne of COze 22.49 27.01
FrigE W_EtIREE
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)
H Bz (EE3)
Business air travel Tonne of CO2e 5.09 19.86
A 28 = iR W —ECIREE
Total GHG emissions Tonne of COze 40.17 58.89
R ERBEN W—ECIRESE
GHG emissions intensity Tonne of CO2e/m? * 0.08 0.1
= R AR E WB_EEIREE FH K *
Tonne of CO2¢e/million of revenue 2.07 3.1

B_REREE BEWE

W The intensity of GHG emissions is calculated by dividing the total GHG
emissions by the gross area of the office.
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Wastes Management

The Group's operations do not generate any hazardous waste,
such as medical or chemical waste. Our primary waste sources are
paper used for business activities and domestic waste. Despite our
minimal resource usage, we are committed to promoting resource
conservation and have implemented various measures to reduce
consumption.

We encourage employees to minimise waste generation by recycling
and reusing paper and other materials whenever possible. The Group
complies with the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) to ensure proper treatment and disposal of waste.

Since we do not generate a substantial amount of waste, we have
not yet established specific waste targets. However, we remain
vigilant and committed to adhering to best practices in waste
management to ensure that all waste is handled responsibly.
Used toners and ink cartridges are collected by the supplier when
new toner are delivered to our office. Our focus is on continuous
improvement in resource conservation and waste reduction initiatives.

The table below outlines our non-hazardous waste produced data:

Environmental, Social and Governance Rep

R - H8REIG

BERMER

FEENEEFNSEEERAASEREY AINER
FEBERY - RN EEEEYRREANRES
EERAARN A EREY - BERMNERERSE iy
BAK > EERMOBRAORESHERHLA > LEBHMS ;

T it DU AR 46 o J

HII B B S5 AT A5 48 o] W K & AR A 9R A ELAth
MBI LUBL ELEBEREY AEREETREBRE S
EPIEIAE(BEYRERD)  HERERRERE
Y -

HREMTEELERENERY) FILHRHER
BNEERYER T8 AMANREER LA
RETEEVEENREER  URRAABEREY
SN EENRE - EFMBMEZRMNMPARE
Ko HEESWERBNININER - RMMNER
ERFENEERFRENRD ERYRIET-

TR T RMEENESERYRE

Non-hazardous wastes productions Unit 2024 2023
BEBRRMEE Efl 20245 2023%
Paper kg 225 492
4R N
Food wastes kg 240 738
&Y R N
Total non-hazardous wastes productions kg 465 1,230
mEBEEYVRES N
Non-hazardous wastes productions
intensity Kg/m?* 0.9 2.4
REBEVEERE NS b
Kg/million of revenue 25.5 65.0
NTA-L- 16
* The intensity of non-hazardous waste production is calculated by  * BEEVMELZENSABEAZABRSEEYR

dividing the total non-hazardous wastes by the gross area of the office.

"E
RO AZHRAER -
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Use of Resources
Energy consumption

In light of our office-based business operations, the primary source
of energy consumption comes from electricity used for general
purposes, including air conditioning and powering laptops, monitors,
printers, and other equipment. Additionally, the consumption of
unleaded petrol is attributed to our motor vehicles. In the coming
year, we aim to at least maintain the energy consumption intensity
below 5 MWh/million of revenue.

Below is a table outlining our fuel and electricity consumption data:

BiREH

BEFHFE

BRBRAUMAEAERIEREF SEREFERN

ERRRE—RARNAE SEEANELE
B RBTESE EREREMREBNE LI &
SRR R BN RS E R R—F
RN EREEVERERHEREENSKRE
/BB

TEREANEMNENRERHRE

Energy Consumption Unit 2024 2023
BEIRHFE Bl 20244 20234
Unleaded petrol MWh 54.6 43.0
mINSOM KB
Purchased electricity MWh 34.1 38.0
FREBE N KB
Total energy consumption MWh 88.7 81.0
4R BETROH FE KB
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m?2* 0.17 0.16
BERHERE KRBT K+
MWh/million of revenue 4.57 4.28
KER B8R
* The intensity of energy consumption is calculated by dividing the total ~ * RERHERENSE A AAEE R HZERMMA

energy consumption by the gross area of the office.
Water consumption

The Group’s water consumption comes from the daily business
operations in the office. As the Group's office does not have a
separate meter for water consumption measurement, the Group does
not have any data on the amount of water consumed. Due to the
nature of the Group’s business, water consumption is not identified
as a material issue relevant to the Group's operation.
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Environmental and Natural Resources REMNBRER

Due to the nature of the business, the Group does not have any EREHKUDT  AEEESERBRERATHIREN
direct and significant impacts on the environment and natural BRABREMTAEZEREANT ZE KAEFHFER
resources during its operation. By taking the green initiatives TRAAR B B OREHRENZE  WHIRIE
mentioned below, the Group is committed to mitigating the Mt E@ESEMNEETSE-

environmental impact and acting in an environmentally and socially

responsible manner.

Aspects Measures

FSES i)l

Emissions reduction e Gradually increase the proportion of new energy power vehicles as official
B vehicles

s BYRBMERAEFEREHFAENLA
e Specify the principles for using official vehicles, strictly approve the use of
official vehicles and reduce the number of times they are used

s BMESAECERRR BRESSEEREMN BB REERARH

Energy conservation e Increase the proportion of energy-saving and consumption-reducing
BfiBE equipment, and regularly repair and upgrade the power-consuming

equipment in office buildings

o IBINENSERMFERBAVLLG) ) EHREEN BN AKENFEBRE

e Strengthen energy-saving publicity via electronic screens, energy-saving
signs, etc. to encourage energy-saving acts and habits. Make full use of
natural light during office hours to eliminate maintained lights

e FBBFHE HAERSENAMNETE  XEHETHETIE LHE
B7 0 H A B AN BUS ARG

e Temperatures of air-conditioners are set to be at 24°C to 26°C to avoid
excessive consumption of electricity

e TEHRERTEABRUEERMR26ELERBERE

Wastes reduction e Electronic communications and electronic handling of documents are
R encouraged among employees to promote resource conservation
e HENMEETAEFEMAKREFXHREUEEESRDHH
e Re-used single-sided printed paper and promoted duplex printings
o EREBMEENRBIARK WHEEEEEDR
e Recyclable amenities are sorted and collected according to their
classifications and delivered to recycling vendors

o HEIYBREBEDEHIRKE  REX TR HER
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Tackling Climate Change

Awareness of climate change is growing, making it one of the
most discussed topics globally, as rising temperatures and extreme
weather threaten communities and business operations. Although the
Group does not engage in production or manufacturing processes,
we are committed to managing potential climate-related risks and
adopting environmentally friendly operating measures to reduce
GHG emissions. We have implemented risk management practices to
identify and mitigate these risks.

To address physical risks, such as rainstorms, typhoons, hurricanes,
and other extreme weather conditions, we have established policies
in our Employee Handbook regarding procedures during adverse
weather. Employees are required to inform their department head
as soon as possible if they encounter difficulties reporting to work
during such conditions. We will continue to identify and manage
climate-related risks to tackle the challenges posed by climate
change.

Regarding transition risks, stricter policies and reporting requirements
for corporate sustainability may expose businesses to increased
compliance costs and claims. To address these legal and policy risks,
the Group closely monitors changes in laws and regulations to avoid
cost increases, non-compliance fines, and reputational damage.
Additionally, we remain committed to controlling energy consumption
and reducing carbon emissions.
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OUR COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Employment Practices and Labour Standards

The Group places great importance on its employees, recognising
them as valuable assets essential for sustainable business
development. We strive to create an inclusive, discrimination-
free working environment and emphasise equal opportunity in
recruitment and promotion decisions.

Recruitment and remuneration are based solely on relevant factors
such as job requirements, work experience, qualifications, and
performance. We do not consider gender, nationality, race, religion,
disability, marital status, or pregnancy in these processes, ensuring
equal opportunities in employment. Any form of discrimination is not
tolerated in our workplace.

Our operations team requires specialised training in finance or
consulting services; therefore, we do not rely on manual labour or
engage in labour-intensive work. As a result, we are not involved
in child or forced labour. The human resource management policies
and procedures are in place to set out the Group’s standard of staff
recruitment, remuneration, work periods, rest periods, termination
of employment, and compensation matters. During recruitment,
all applicants must provide valid identification for verification, and
background checks may be conducted as necessary. If under-aged
candidates are discovered, our human resources staff will contact
their parents to ensure the child returns home.

Employees are the foundation of our sustainable growth, and we aim
to maintain an acceptable turnover rate to facilitate the accumulation
of professional skills and experience. We offer competitive
remuneration packages to attract and retain talent, continuously
reviewing our policies in line with industry standards.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed 15 full-time staff, all
located in Hong Kong. The workforce distribution and staff turnover
rate, categorised by gender, age group, and employment type, are as
follows:
Total number of staff
BTHH
20 18 10
15 8
15
6
10
4
5
2
0 0
2024 2023
Total workforce by age group
RERENBSNETHER
8 20
7 7
7
6 15
5 5
5
4
4 10
3
3
2 5
1 1
Sy Iy I
0 0
21-30 31-40 41-50 51 or above
21-305% 31-405% 41-50%% 51pEL £
r (92024 92023

R EEARAR

HE2024F 1283 1B AEBEHLERISHERHE
T 2AUREB MR FRAR RERER
PN ETIMRETIREAENT .

Total workforce by gender

HEREI DS THEE
10 10
8
5
Male Female
B4 1%
() 2024 92023

Total workforce by employment type

HEFENISHETHEH
18
15
0 0
Full time Part time
28 R
() 2024 ) 2023



During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations in
relation to employment including but not limited to the following:

Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Employment of Children Regulation (Cap. 57B of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and

Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulation (Cap. 57C
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Environmental, Social and Governa

RIS - HER
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o (MR (FBEMIE480F)

o (BERERFEA) (BEBEMIH487F)

o (REBUEREN) EBEAF5275)

o (ERERFEA) (FEBEMIE602E)
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The Group strives to maintain employee turnover rate at an
acceptable level so as to facilitate accumulation of professional
skills and experience. The staff turnover rate is approximately 18%,
categorized by gender and age group as follows:
Overall staff turnover rate
BRETREAEX
100% 140%
120%
80%
61% 100%
L 80%
40% 60%
18% 40%
20%
20%
0% | 0%
2024 2023
Staff turnover rate by gender
BERNBSHNE TRERR
100% 100%
80% 80%
60% 50% 60%
40% 31% 40%
20% 10% 20%
0% I I 0%
Male Female
B oy
(92024 92023
o

s BEEEARAR

FEERNBEERRFEFTAIEZRIKT
BRNRBE-BEIREAENR

DURE T E R E R

18% > MR R EBE R D ERW T ¢

Staff turnover rate by age group

BREWRENB DB T REE

100%100%
71%
0%
21-30 31-40
21-30p% 31-40p%
() 2024

133%
29%
17% 149
41-50 51 or above
41-50%% 51
2023

Staff turnover rate by region

BHER S E TRER
100%
56%
18%
0
Hong Kong Mainland China
&H FREI A3t
() 2024 D 2023
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Health and Safety

Protecting the health and safety of our employees is one of our core
responsibilities. The Group is dedicated to creating a safe and healthy
working environment and complying with the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Our
office layout is designed to adhere to applicable safety standards,
minimising the risk of occupational hazards.

The Group provides medical insurance for employees, covering
hospital and surgical services and outpatient fees. We are committed
to fostering a work-life balance, and encouraging employees to
maintain a healthy lifestyle.

To enhance workplace cleanliness, we regularly clean and
disinfect frequently touched surfaces, ensuring a hygienic working
environment. Over the past three financial years, from 2022 to 2024,
our Group has not reported any instances of injury or work-related
fatalities.

Development and Training

The Group prioritises talent development and is committed to
helping employees reach their full potential. We recognise that
the knowledge and skills of our employees are essential for the
long-term growth of the organisation. To promote continuous
professional training and education, we offer paid educational leave
for employees pursuing academic and professional qualifications. We
also regularly review our employee policies to enhance capacity and
align with our business needs.

All professional staff are required to complete prescribed hours of
continuous professional training annually for each type of regulated
activity. This training encompasses a range of topics, including but
not limited to the Securities and Futures Commission Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486), the GEM Listing Rules, the Drug Trafficking
(Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap. 405), the Organized and
Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455), The United Nations (Anti-
Terrorism Measures) Ordinance (Cap. 575), and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Cap. 615) (“"AMLO").

RIS - HEREIGH
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Furthermore, the company secretary and all directors are required to L4 A MERERESH AT ERS T EE
engage in ongoing professional training to develop and refresh their  Fl> UE R EREHEMBRTE BRERSE TS T
knowledge and skills, ensuring they remain fully informed of their fRGEMLEMiREIRABEBR ARERIERAIERN
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and all applicable laws  &1fEe

and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, our staff attended a total of 147 hours $REHA HFAMWETSMT &H147/NEFRE
of training, covering approximately 60% of our workforce. Training  FIl > HELI60%MWE T - REHAN FEERHIET
ratio and average training hours per employee by different categories ~ BIIEIIELAI RS 8 TR F B EUER M T
during the Reporting Period are summarised as follows:

Percentage of

Average staff attended
training hours training
15 2E:Na

=535 EIFSL

By gender e il E:ban
Male B4 11.3 40%
Female gk 17.8 70%
By employee category REEERE 5
Senior management SR EEE 19.4 80%
Middle management FIREIEE 13.9 83%
Operating staff EEAE = =

,' i _ NOIZ GROUP LIMITED » Big &5 R AT
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OUR COMMITMENT IN UNDERTAKING
RESPONSIBILITIES

Supply Chain Management

The Group operates primarily as a service-oriented business, with
minimal procurement involved. We mainly engage third-party service
providers for ancillary services, such as property management, legal
and professional services, as well as office equipment and printing
suppliers.

Although we do not heavily rely on suppliers, the Group is committed
to conducting business in an ethical and safe manner. During the
supplier assessment process, we evaluate not only their capabilities,
product and service quality, and pricing, but also their performance
in environmental and social responsibilities. We obtain quotations
from two or more potential suppliers or service providers for any
new engagements to ensure competitive fairness. We also conduct
annual reviews of existing service providers to maintain consistent
performance.

To reduce our carbon footprint from transportation, we primarily
engage local suppliers. As of 31 December, 2024, the Group have
worked with 9 suppliers in Hong Kong.

Product Responsibility
Customer Care

The Group is dedicated to delivering thoughtful and consistently
high-quality financial and corporate consulting services, striving to
treat customers fairly at every stage of the business relationship. We
have obtained all necessary licenses, qualifications, and permits for
our operations. We have established internal control and compliance
procedures for our frontline staff to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations.

Management actively monitors and supervises business operations
and practices to ensure adherence to internal policies as well as
applicable laws. The compliance officer and each department
head are responsible for staying updated on the latest industry
developments, laws, and regulations, and for communicating these
updates to the team. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group
has not encountered any violations of laws or regulations related to
our services.

RIS - HEREIGH
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Customer feedback and satisfaction

We value our clients’ opinions and satisfaction. Customers and other
stakeholders can reach out to us via email, hotline, or our website
to share their concerns and feedback. The Group has built trusted
relationships with its diverse customer base by delivering dedicated
customer service. To ensure we meet our client’s expectations, we
communicate with them before project commencement and actively
coordinate throughout the service delivery process.

All complaints are managed by an officer who is not involved in the
related matters, ensuring an impartial approach. When customers
file a complaint, the Group commits to investigating and resolving
disputes fairly and promptly. Information and records of complaints
would be retained for at least seven years.

During the year, no complaints were reported regarding our services
concerning financial advisory, factoring, leasing, and dealing in
securities.

Data protection and privacy policies

The Group has established a comprehensive set of privacy principles
governing the collection, retention, use, security, transparency, and
accessibility of information. These principles are designed to ensure
that all information received from customers and potential customers
is utilised solely for its intended purpose and to prevent any
unauthorised disclosure of information. During the Reporting Period,
no cases of non-compliance related to confidentiality, privacy, or data
protection were recorded, which would have had a significant impact
on the Group. We will continue to act in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

Both the employment agreement and our Employee Handbook
require employees to handle the Company’s and client’s information
with the utmost confidentiality. Employees are prohibited from
retaining or disclosing any confidential information regarding
the Group's business and other sensitive data to any third party.
Department Heads are responsible for supervising the procedures in
place to protect this confidential information.

The Group has implemented several measures to prevent
unauthorised access to customer data and our staff's personal data,
including installing firewalls and secure protocols for handling and
storing sensitive information. Confidential and sensitive data related
to our staff and clients is either password-protected or stored in
secure locations accessible only to authorised personnel.
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Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of intellectual
property rights. To protect the intellectual property and prevent
misrepresentation and misuse of the Company, the Company logo is
safeguarded by registering trademarks and patents.

In order to ensure only safe, genuine computer software and systems
are installed, any unauthorised installation of software or use of
pirated software is prohibited.

Anti-corruption

The Group is dedicated to fostering a culture of integrity, fairness,
honesty, and transparency, as well as taking a zero-tolerance
approach to bribery and corruption in our business operation.

The Group upholds a high standard of business and ethical conduct
throughout our operations. The Employee Handbook and Compliance
Manual provide clear guidelines and reporting channels for our staff
to report to management through their department head or the
Human Resources Department of incidents or suspected cases of
corruption, theft, fraud and embezzlement. If any employee is found
to have violated anti-corruption policies after investigation, the Group
will take disciplinary actions against the employee involved, including
immediate termination of their employment contracts. Such cases will
also be reported to relevant regulatory bodies and/or the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC") if appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and our staff were not aware
of any concluded legal cases regarding corruption, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.
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Money laundering

The Group has implemented a comprehensive set of policies and
procedures to prevent and detect money laundering and terrorist
financing. These measures are designed to ensure full compliance
with relevant laws and regulations while safeguarding the integrity of
the Group’s operations.

To combat money laundering and terrorist financing, the Group
has established detailed policies and procedures outlined in its
Compliance Manual. These policies address key areas such as
customer due diligence, record retention, cash handling, and the
reporting of suspicious transactions to the Group’s management. The
Group adheres strictly to all applicable laws and regulations, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201), the Organized
and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455), and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Cap. 615) of Hong Kong.

Anti-corruption training

To strengthen awareness and ensure compliance, the Group regularly
organises anti-corruption and anti-money laundering training
sessions for directors and employees. Training materials and practical
guides from the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(ICAC) are distributed to staff on a regular basis. Additionally, the
Group encourages employees to participate in training programs
conducted by external professional organisations, such as the
Hong Kong Securities & Futures Professionals Association, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Hong
Kong Securities Institute. These initiatives equip staff with up-to-
date knowledge of codes of conduct, regulatory requirements, and
industry best practices, ensuring they remain well-informed and
compliant.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible corporation, we actively seek opportunities
to enhance community well-being and are dedicated to supporting
the ESG conscious community to progressively grow in our
sustainable development. To achieve this purpose, we decided
community wellbeing as our focus area for investment and
engagement with the local communities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has donated HK$39,800 to
support the Ten Percent Donation Scheme Foundation Annual Charity
Ball, the organisation which focuses on subsidising primary school
students in Hong Kong, hoping to provide them with a good learning
environment and diversified development space and opportunities.
In addition, we placed the donation boxes of Ten Percent Donation
Scheme Foundation in our office welcoming our staff, customers and
visitors to devote to the education for underprivileged students in
promoting upward social mobility.

The Group has also donated HK$50,000 to the Federation of Hong
Kong Guangxi Community Organisations to support the work of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government. This
contribution aims to foster a harmonious society, promote cultural
and business exchanges between Guangxi and Hong Kong, and
strengthen the connections among Guangxi residents in Hong Kong.

In the future, the Group will continuously explore diverse
opportunities to deliver positive influence for our community.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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A MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
NOIZ Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NOIZ Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 92 to 227, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS"” section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

As at 31 December 2024, goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$5,470,000 and intangible assets amounting to approximately
2,900,000 were allocated to multiple cash-generating units
("CGQUs").

For the purpose of the impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets, the Group determined the recoverable amount of
each CGU at the end of the reporting period based on the discounted
cash flow used in the value-in-use calculation.

We had identified impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets as a key audit matter because significant management
estimation was required to determine the key assumptions used in
the discounted cash flow model including estimated future income
with growth rate, operating margins and discount rate, etc.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our major audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
the goodwill and intangible assets included the following:

o We evaluated of the independent valuers’ competence,
capabilities, independence and objectivity;

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and techniques used in determining the value
in use of the CGUs to which the goodwill and intangible assets
have been allocated;

o We challenged the reasonableness of key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the business and industry;

. We checked the accuracy and relevance of input data used; and

o Performed retrospective review on the consistency of
methodology adopted in the prior years and inquired with the
management for the reasons of changes, if any.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
dit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
e have performed, we conclude that there is a material
information, we are required to report that
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determined is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

Independent Au
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

3 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We

sponsible for the direction, supervision and review of the

med for purposes of the group audit. We
ible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Leung Yu Ngong

Practising Certificate Number: P06734
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE20245F 12831 HIEFE

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M EE FET FAT
Revenue WA 6 20,576 18,938
Cost of sales 5 & A (15,657) =
Gross profit E7 4,919 18,938
Other income and gains/(losses) HgA kW&, (§58) 7 3,066 583
Operating and administrative expenses RERITERER (25,196) (32,266)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss & 2 FEUWRZRIE (REEE)
on trade receivables, net BEEEREE 25 23 (990) 72
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss ¥ K E A fEWFIE (RIERSE) /
on deposits and other receivables, net BEEEREE 25 24 (196) 3
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) FEUX S =Rl (B 5 18 %[0,/
on loan receivables, net CR1ERS18) » B 48 25 622 (25)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB ARz W= 38 3,246 —
Share of loss of associates AMEBEATNEE 19 - (462)
Finance costs BhE A A 8 (12,967) (12,575)
Loss before income tax PRETS ARSI 9 (27,496) (25,732)
Income tax credit PREMIE SR 12 223 59
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEEHR (27.273) (25,673)




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Co
rB1|
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & =2

2024
20244
Notes HK$'000
5% FET
Other comprehensive income: HtZ2EKA :
Item that may be subsequently R B 7 HE 2R
reclassified to profit or loss: ZHEE

Changes in fair value of financial assets MATFEESt AR MEERA
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ Z£RZEEA L EEEH)

income 20 2,946
Other comprehensive income FEEHMBEKA
for the year 2,946
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEEZEERA
FOR THE YEAR (24,327) (25,358)

Total comprehensive income attributable 72 F]REREE AEGEESEEAWA

to owners of the Company (24,327) (25,358)
HK$ cent HK$ cent
Al Al
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO TATRIEER A&
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY BREE 14
Basic and diluted BARRi#E (4.51) (4.43)
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EABBIRRE

As at 31 December 2024 /22024128315

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
iz FET TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment N Y 15 622 1,523
Goodwill mE 16 5,470 5,600
Intangible assets EBEE 17 2,900 14,761
Right-of-use assets ERESE 18 3,242 2,983
Interests in associates REgE QT 2 #m 19 - —
Financial assets at fair value through MAFEES AEMEZAERA
other comprehensive income ZEREE 20 4,419 1,473
Financial assets at fair value through MAFEEFAER
profit or loss ZEMEE 21 547 263
Rental deposits ME#ZE 24 774 1,358
Total non-current assets ERBEEEE 17,974 27,961
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =F8 22 - 418
Trade receivables B 5 ENEIE 23 3,611 3,867
Contract assets BHNEE 6 196 352
Prepayments, deposits and TETRIE N 12 R HAth
other receivables FEU =R I8 24 4,606 1,293
Loan receivables B E R 25 3,244 4,161
Financial assets at fair value through MAFEEFAER
profit or loss Z2EMEE 21 395 4,308
Tax recoverable A BRI - 156
Bank balances — trust accounts IRITAEER — S5LERE 26 - 70
Bank balances and cash — IRITHER RIRE —
general accounts —RERF 26 6,375 14,127
Total current assets MENBEEHE 18,427 28,752
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables B ENIE 28 - 188
Contract liabilities aHEaE 6 51 2,658
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERETE R 29 11,455 7,355
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 1,735 2,995
Total current liabilities MEE(E4EEE 13,241 13,196
Net current assets REEEFE 5,186 15,556

less current liabilities

BERERRBER

23,160

43,517




Consolidated Statement

As at 31 December 202

2024
20244
Notes HK$'000
[ FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payables and accruals H PRI R st & A 29 224
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBE A B 30 479
Convertible bonds AR ES 31 -
Lease liabilities HESE 27 1,494
Total non-current liabilities ERFEaEEE 2,197
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (AR $5 20,963 (34,804)
EQUITY L
Equity attributable to owners of AT EES NEEEDR
the Company
Share capital &N 32 60,440 60,440
Perpetual convertible securities KA BARG 8 55 34 101,000 -
Reserves ki (140,477) (95,244)
Total equity/(deficiency) R (B54t) 48%8 20,963 (34,804)

These consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
28 March 2025 and is signed on its behalf by:

Wong Hin Shek

FEaRE
Director

EF

BN ERE227TENZE

FREMBREAEHESE

PR2025F 328 H I AERKETE - LHUTES

RARE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE20245F 12831 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATRERAE AR
Fair value
through
Equity other
component Share Capital comprehensive Perpetual
Share Share  Contributed of convertible option reduction income Other  Accumulated convertible
capital premium* surplus* bonds* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* securities Total
HUATEE
THRESZ BRE REHE  HARMRE
(-2 BRipERE: BARE REHa i Tt WA Hittt Bt kATRRES &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thx Tin TiEw TiEw 5w TR TFiEn TR TR TR
(Note 32) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 34)
(H&32) (33) (33) (H33) (K33) (333) (333) (333) (H3t34)
At 1 January 2023 202351818 56,673 1,124,344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 (1,677) (6,548) (1,444,250) - (28,935)
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Loss for the year EEEHR - - - - - - - - (25,673) = (25,673)
Other comprehensive income Ht2EHA
Changes in fair value of financial assets WATEESAEMRERA
at fair value through other ZEMEEATRER
comprehensive income (Note 20) (Hizt20) - - - - - - 315 - - - 315
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZEAUALE - - - - - - 315 - (25,673) = (25,358)
Issuance of shares (Note 32) BRI (Ha£32) 3,767 2,636 (2,335) - - - - - - - 4,068
Lapsed of share options FRRRIE & - - - - (53) - - = 53 = =
Release of fair value through other BRUATEEHA
comprehensive income reserve HEt2EHAZRE - - - - - - 835 - (835) = =
Modification of the terms of BITTRREFZER
convertible bonds - - (3,558) 18,979 - - - - - - 15,421
At 31 December 2023 and R20235128318%
1 January 2024 2024F1818 60,440 1,126,980 62,980 28977 408 163,191 (527) (6,548) (1,470,705) = (34,804)
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Loss for the year FEERE - - - - - - - - (27,213) - (27,213)
Other comprehensive income Eth2EUA
Changes in fair value of financial assets NATEESALMRERA
at fair value through other ZEREEATEELY
comprehensive income (Note 20) (Hiz20) - - - - - - 2,946 - - - 2,946
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZ2EUALE - - - - - - 2,946 - (27.213) - (24,327)
Lapsed of share options AR - - - - (284) - - - 284 - -
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 38) HE—BHELE
(Hz£38) - - - - - - - (9,666) - - (9,666)
Issuance of perpetual BORATRRES
convertible securities (Note 34) (Hit34) - - - - - - - - - 101,000 101,000
Derecognition of RIEEDTARES
convertible bonds - - - (28,977) - - - 17,731 - - (11,240)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 60,440 1,126,980 62,980 - 124 163,191 2419 1523 (1,497,694) 101,000 20,963
i These reserve accounts comprised the reserve balances as presented in ~ * ZERERBOENGEMBIRRERFE

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement o

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #iZ20244

RO IR

2024
20244
Notes HK$'000
i FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFHRLRS
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax FREFISTRAIE 1R (27,496)
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs =% 8 12,967
Interest income FIEWA 7 (17)
Depreciation of property, MEBERZERE
plant and equipment 15 1,032
Amortisation of intangible assets B E NS 17 1,484
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREERE 18 3,278
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHWBARZ Ham 38 (3,246) =
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ UATEBEFABRZEMEE
fair value through profit or loss ATEEZS 21 (272) (167)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) B 2 & zE
on trade receivables AEEBE/ (REBBER) 23 990 (72)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) %% & E i fE U RIE
on deposits and other receivables HEREE, (REBEEER) 24 196 @)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss FEWE X (REBEERE) BESE
on loan receivables 25 (622) 25
Gain on derecognition of other payable R B RUIER R 7 (750) -
Written off of deposits and < T EL 8 W ERIE 38
other receivables 7 - 151
Provision for defined benefit plan obligations 57 @ F] 518 S E & H 29 53 =
Share of loss of associates DIEHE A BB 19 - 462
Operating loss before working MR EEE AL EHBE
capital changes (12,403) (6,424)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 U RIB g (1,723) (1,412)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEERLD/ (1EmM) 299 (3)
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables FEWE L/ (12mn) 1,539 (483)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BB 2& R EMENIE
deposits and other receivables b, (GG 806 (308)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair UAFEBEFABEZSHEE
value through profit or loss L, (1) 2,968 (3,720)
Decrease in bank balances R1T4EER — FEERP D
— trust account 26 70 11,705
Decrease in trade payables 85 REAmERD 28 (188) (12,895)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHEGERL) /&M (2,607) 2,570
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HMETRIB R EStTIB
accruals CRi) /181 (799) 2,971
Cash used in operations RS EBFMARE (12,038) (7,999)
Tax refunded RO 370 18
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMRAZRERE (11,668) (7,981)




 GREREREX

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEZHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest income received BURIRTTH S WA 7 17 189
Dividend received from an associate B—HEEEARRERZEE 19 - 60
Refund of rental deposits REHERS 590 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment FEAYZ \BE K& A 15 (136) (861)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ ZKBEHEUAFEBEF AEMEER
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ WA Z &£REEZ FTEHIE
income 20 - 1,895
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HE—RBNBAREEZREMY
a subsidiary BEE 38 (1) =
Net cash generated from REEHEEZRETEH
investing activities 470 1,283
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BAFE (802) (36)
Repayment of principal portion of BEHESBREHS
lease liabilities 27 (3,303) (3,830)
Repayment of interest portion of BERESEFNERD
lease liabilities 27 (79) (226)
Proceeds from borrowings (EE NI O] 10,900 2,000
Repayment of borrowings BEGBR (3,270) (114)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MBEBEE TR 2REF8
financing activities 3,446 (2,206)
NET DECREASE IN CASH RERFEESEEB ALV ZE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (7,752) (8,904)
Bank balances and cash RITAERRIRE
— general accounts at the beginning — FH—MRERF
of the year 14,127 23,031
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FEXRRERREEFEBIER
of the year 6,375 14,127
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERREEEBEEER IR
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEHRIRE
— general accounts — —RERR 26 6,375 14,127




For the year ended 31 December 2024 #&;Z20244E1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its share are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered office
is located at the offices of Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the
principal place of business is located at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the
immediate holding Company and ultimate holding company
to be Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which is wholly owned by Mr. Wong Hin Shek (“Mr. Wong").

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal
activity of the Company was investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries comprised of financial services
business, corporate consulting business and digital business.

Pursuant to the passing of a special resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 5 May 2023, the English name of
the Company was changed from “Merdeka Financial Group
Limited” to “NOIZ Group Limited” and its dual foreign name in
Chinese from "EEEMEBBRAT" to "BIZEEARA
7", The Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was
issued by the Registry of Companies in the Cayman Islands with
effect from 9 May 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS")

(a) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the first time
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), which are relevant to and effective for the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the above
amendments to HKFRSs in current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRHEBHBHREEDN (TE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs (Continued) (a)

Impacts on adoption of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has adopted the amendments for the first
time in current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) What is meant by a right to defer settlement;

(i) That a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period;

(iii)  That classification is unaffected by the likelihood
that an entity will exercise its deferral right; and

(iv)  That only if an option at the discretion of the
counterparty included in the terms of a convertible
liability is itself an equity instrument in accordance
with HKAS 32 Financial Instrument: Presentation
would not affect the current or non-current
classification of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R B IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs (Continued)

Impacts on adoption of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specify that only covenants with which an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant
is assessed only after the reporting date. Covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities
is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 1 January 2024
and concluded that the classification of its liabilities
as current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial adoption of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z20244

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs,
potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Lack of Exchangeability?
Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113
Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027.

The Group will apply the above new and amendments to
HKFRSs when they become effective. Except as described
below, the application of the new or amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(b)

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which was issued by the HKICPA in April
2024 supersedes HKAS 1 and will result in major
consequential amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards including HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements (renamed from Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors).
Even though HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on
the recognition and measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, it is expected to have
a significant effect on the presentation and disclosure
of certain items. These changes include categorisation
and sub-totals in the statement of profit or loss,
aggregation/disaggregation and labelling of information,
and disclosure of management-defined performance
measures.

The Group is in the progress of making assessments of
the potential impact of this new standard upon initial
application.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,Z20244

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which
collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair
values as explained as the material accounting policies
set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except when
otherwise indicated.

Going concern assessment

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration to
the future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$27,273,000 and
operating cash outflow of approximately HK$11,668,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Going concern assessment (Continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business. The
directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. Certain measures have been taken to mitigate
the liquidity pressure which include, but not limited to,
the following:

1) Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the
loans from a director amounting to approximately
HK$9,776,000 have been extended for a term due
more than twelve months from the date these
consolidated financial statements are authorised
for issue;

2) The Group will continue to take active measures to
control administrative costs and project costs;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=20

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Going concern assessment (Continued)

3)

The Group has significantly reduced its budgets
for non-core areas that do not generate revenue,
decided to refocus the Group’s effort on its core
financial industry operations and actively explore
other potential business activities;

The Group will continue to invest cautiously in
concerts, events and festivals; and

The Group will focus on optimising working capital
by efficiently managing trade receivables and trade
payables to free up cash within the business cycle.

Notes to the Consolidated

3. RREEREAGHER

3.4 RERENG @

3)

4)

5)

A EEE K EHR R
L ON:SELS AN Epe: b
BAEENBHERER
DEMEER L LIRH
tMEBERHED ;

FERREESERERES
EBREA K&

FEAREBENEEEZE
WREREZENRELEER
EEEEL UEXBHBERRE
MIRE -




<

i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. RUEEREAGHBEEHR @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Going concern assessment (Continued) 3.4 FEKETG®
The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow EXEEREEEBRECAERRE

forecast prepared by the management of the Company
for a period covered not less than twelve months
from date of the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue. The Directors are of the opinion
that, taking into account the abovementioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the next twelve
months from the date of the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for future liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities to current respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.5

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.5

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &;ZE20244F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.6

8.7/

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R B IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease term
20% to 33%
33%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Motor vehicles

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
or at revalued amounts, being their fair value at the
date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Amortisation is
charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows.

Customer relationship
Blockchain technology

5 years
9.5 years

ion expense is recognised in profit or loss
ting and administrative expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.8

3.9

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at the date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9

3.10

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modlfications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-to-use assets.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
t yet available for use are tested for impairment at
d whenever there is an indication that
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.10 Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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’ - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
{ T LT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3. RUEEREAGHBEEHR @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.10 Impairment on property, plant and equipment, 3.10 MREBIIMME - -BERRE -FRES
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than ERBHLEERE @

goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash- st EE (HIREELEE W) WATU
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying Bl EF DR EREE IEE (FIF
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash- EELBA) NERAERAREEATY
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Bl - ERAaBRE—ROEAT
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which BEEABDLAAEEE—HRETESE
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent B AEER—HRESELBEMZ
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the REHE(EESEEZREELES N
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, HBRAIZABEERS D AT EERE
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets &58) H—AREEE BN KEE
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group HETER RoRREBER 8%
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount DEBEBELRDEAEENRE
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating B (W A) > 1% ¥ b F R 4% B8 (i 3¢
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated —HREELBURNSEENREE
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if NEEHEHMEE - BEERBENSESH
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata DEBREAFEERHEERA WA
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the FE) HEREE WMAEE) REZ
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying FHREE - BRITIREEEZR
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest EEERRLLASEEEE M —4A
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its HEELBEUNEMEBEE - RERHE
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of HRF BN 7L 18 7 R A ST ©

the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the R EEEERED AEE (H—@
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit HeEELEU—HReEE B M)
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the HEREEE E R W OIEEENET R
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that FoOBMEBMENEEEAEBEHER
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the ZEE (—ERESELES MR —4R
carrying amount that would have been determined had EEEBA) UNEFELEEDRER
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or EMEREETCHNREE R EHBIBERE
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating BB L a2 P HEER o

units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

RREBEREAGHBRE

EMIT R

3.11 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), except that
at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &;ZE20244F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(if)

(iif)

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the other income and
gains/(losses) line in the profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other income and gains/
(losses)” line item.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivable, deposits and other
receivables, loan receivables and bank balances)
and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after each reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Notes to the Consolidated Financ

ﬁél\

RREBEREAGHBRE

3.11 I AE @
THEE &)
THEERE

FEERFREESER (RBEEE
) BXEBREEBVMBREENS
KA FRENLZENEE (BEE
2 EWGRIA ~ 2 R HA FEWGRIE ~ B
WERKRIRTEER kaNEEETR 4
B fE -FRREEGEENTEN SR
SHBEN URMBVSEIDERE
ERBEHEE-

EHRAEEHRRIEEE T ANES
FHANFMBRENENSHREERN
FHHEEEE -HR 12B8RHAREE
BE (M2ERRIMEEEE)) 5RN
MERSBHARI2EL NETEEERN
BUEHERNHD2MBREES
BHofENREAERABEEEBRE
REBRET IMEBARENRE —
AR ASE MR R A R B &= B IR B AT
TR AR AR TR Z SH A R R o

FEEGEREZBRBEREBERGNE
ERRERRREEER

HRFEEMT A AEEFEEN
RERRREEBENEIREE IR
FEB W in R SR LUK 5 B A R K 18 18
meAlxEEEREHRBEEERE-
SRR EMARREEERD
BN BEERLIREEENR A
1 B B B 2 S KRS A o

ANNUAL REPORT iR « 2024




- ROMFHmEM

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at each reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

3 an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

3 an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
hat results in a significant decrease in the
bility to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days (2023: 30 days) past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables, contract
assets and other financial assets measured
at amortised cost, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

3. MNBEREATHHEEN @

3.1 ERMTH @®

EHEE B
=R R 1 ()
(v) FEHEEBRZFERER @

BERUREREGENEENZ
HREEEREN RERER
mE R ZEIBENEREE
REBENEEER AR
REEBEER -

HRNERTE AEEERED
EREERBUTRINLE:

. BHEARR

s BEBANME -RERT
E MU

. SNEREEETHRR (NA) o

EEETERRN DA UERE
AR P EEBRERLUEERR
ke

FEWARERE ENIRER
BB BREFREMEEGER
B RZEBERT FMEBERARE
WMEENEHENASTE -

FEBRZBRERAEN BT

RATA TR T ARERZS
BEIEE S REMBRRIE
BNBEEREMIZHBERAE
ZERMEERI HAARMBEE
BIBERBART UES -




Notes to the Consolidated Fina
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

RREBEREAGHBRE

3.11 £ftT A (@

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by group
entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments (Continued)

Perpetual convertible securities are convertible into a
fixed number of ordinary shares of the Company and
includes no contractual obligation for the Group to
deliver cash or another financial asset to the holders
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities
with the holders under conditions that are potentially
unfavorable to the Group, and the Group, at its sole
discretion, is able to defer in whole or any part of any
distribution on the principal amount of the perpetual
convertible securities, with unlimited number of times of
deferral of the distribution. These securities are evaluated
by independent third party valuer in consideration of
total cash outflow of whole principal and distribution,
and discounted to present value at date of issuance,
whole perpetual convertible securities classified as equity
instruments and are not subsequently remeasured.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities including trade payables and other
payables and accruals are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued
by the Company are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised

is using the effective interest method until
conversion or at the instrument'’s
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

RREBEREAGHBRE

3.11 £fIT A @

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the lives of the convertible bonds using
the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.11 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change in
exercise price of the underlying options, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such modification is accounted for as derecognition
of the original financial liability and the recognition
of new financial liability. The difference between the
carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and
the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

For the perpetual convertible securities in the principal
amount of HK$101,000,000 took place on 27 November
2024, that the subscription price was set off against
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
convertible bonds of HK$101,000,000, the issue of
perpetual convertible securities was transaction with
the subscriber in its capacity as a shareholder of the
Company, the variance between the carrying amounts
of the convertible bonds and fair value of the perpetual
convertible securities, including derecognition of equity
component of convertible bonds, is recognised in
accumulated loss directly.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 E;ZE2024412

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.12 Income tax

Income tax expense comprise of current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.12

3.13

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Related parties
a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management
onnel of the Group or the Group's
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.13 Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in a).

vii) A person identified in a) i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation

to transfer goods or services to a customer for which

' Group has received consideration (or an amount of
tion is due) from the customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net

basis.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

i)

Services income

Provision of consultancy and financial advisory
services

The performance obligations for certain
consultancy and financial advisory services
are fulfilled when all the relevant duties of an
advisor as stated in the contract are completed.
Consultancy and financial advisory fee is generally
due within 30 days upon reaching contracts’
milestone payment terms.

For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.

Certain consultancy and financial advisory
services’ performance obligations are satisfied
over time as services are rendered if the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. These services are charged
at agreed fee billed on a mutually basis (e.qg.
regular period).

Provision of asset management and advising on
securities services

Revenue from asset management and advising on
securities services are recognised over time as the
services are provided. Fees for asset management
services are calculated based on a fixed percentage
of the value of assets managed and due on a
regular basis as mutually agreed. Invoices for
provision on advising of securities services are
issued on a regular basis based on the terms stated
in the contract and are usually payable within 30
days.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.14 Revenue recognition (Continued)

i)

ii)

iii)

Services income (Continued)
Provision of securities brokerage services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point
in time when the customer has received the service
from the Group. Commission income on securities
and futures dealing and broking is generally due
within one to three days after trade date.

Provision of Blockchain-as-a-Service income

Revenue is recognised over time as those services
are provided. Invoices for provision of services are
issued on a regular basis based on the terms stated
in the contract and are usually payable within
30 days.

Concert and other entertainment event
organisation

Revenue from the organisation of a concert or
other entertainment events is generally recognised
upon the occurrence of relevant concert or other
entertainment event and when relevant services/
activities are provided/performed.

Revenue from other sources
Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset’s
net carrying amount.

Investments in concerts

Investments in concerts are measured at fair value
through profit or loss with gain or loss arising
rom net changes in fair value of such financial

nts recognised as revenue from other
onsolidated statement of profit or
nsive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans and defined benefit pension
plans.

(i) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
to a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined
contribution plans are expensed as they fall
due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and
are included in current liabilities or current assets
as they are normally of a short-term nature.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for
those employees in Hong Kong who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

RREBEREAGHBRE

3.15 EEEF

=B

BIIEFIEZE

BERNEHN D ZEEERERE
ERARABRAREFBIRM

()  EEEHAEE

EEERGERETERRBIL '
S F B E H RV R k& 5F s
B - AE B TE A B E R I
BACNEESERME—D

ko

7~ 7T

A [ TE 88 {1 705t B B 50 A9 (1 K
PR E BB 5t A B 52 o i 2 4
AT R S TREN - R AT mi UL 53
BEEREE TRHBEBREH
MEMst ARBEEIRBE
o

rERBRABMELEEE
HROIMEE  SENFEERSH
NEBEES BT RMRBE
MRABEERKENE (AR
&5t FREEMDIREBES
BEAXHEZRETDLIFL I
RIRBRBEE S B RA A
TEER BEm N BB
BNEEHBIEEASRE
SBAEREENRFTA -~&E
B9 {8 = 7R S A 3R AR == 5t B 4
A BERESTA

ANNUAL REPORT 43§ » 2024




. eanlEREN

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(1)

Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit pension plans define an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation.

The liability recognised in the consolidated
statements of financial position in respect of
defined pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflow using interest rates of high-
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating
to terms of the related pension obligation. In
countries where there is no deep market in such
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are
used.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &;ZE20244F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(i)

(1)

Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

When the formal terms of the plans specify that
there will be contributions from employees or third
parties, the accounting depends on whether the
contributions are linked to service, as follows:

o If the contributions are not linked to services
(for example contributions are required to
reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan
assets or from actuarial losses), they are
reflected in the remeasurement of the net
defined benefit liability (asset).

o If contributions are linked to services,
they reduce service costs. For the amount
of contribution that is dependent on the
number of years of service, the entity
reduces service costs by attributing the
contributions to periods of service using
the attribution method required by HKAS
19 for the gross benefits. For the amount
of contribution that is independent
of the number of years of service, the
entity reduces service costs by attributing
contributions to the employees’ periods
of service in accordance with HKAS 19
paragraph 70.

Long service payments obligation

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance in respect of long service
payments on cessation of employment under
certain circumstances is the estimated discounted
amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current
and prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit method,
taking into account offsetable accrued benefits
related to the Group’s MPF Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when

it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the

inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and

sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve. For shares/share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.16 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes judgements, estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
the Directors have made the following judgement which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
solidated financial statements:-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

Perpetual convertible securities

Pursuant to the terms of the Perpetual Convertible Securities
(as defined in note 34), the Company, as an issuer of the
Perpetual Convertible Securities, can at its option redeem the
Perpetual Convertible Securities and at its discretion defer
distributions on the Perpetual Convertible Securities, with
unlimited number of times of deferral of the distribution.
However, in those cases, the Company and the issuer will
not be able to declare or pay any dividends to their ordinary
shareholders if any distributions on the Perpetual Convertible
Securities are unpaid or deferred. In the opinion of the
Directors, this restriction does not result in the Group having
the obligation to redeem the perpetual convertible securities
or to pay distributions on the Perpetual Convertible Securities.
Accordingly, the Perpetual Convertible Securities are classified
as equity instruments.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below:-

(i) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group's management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$622,000 (2023: HK$1,523,000). This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Notes to the Consolidated Financi

4.

ﬁél\

BEAE G RAE @

KA R 55

R T ERES (5% DK #34)
00 A A E) (1F 25 K AT Hh R 2 HO 354
o T R B K A B R R R S » Y1
B KA AR B A9 IR E BRI
R ATD EREWRT > BXATARES
BER D IR RBIE > 4 AT R BT
o HEERRE SRS E RS
EERA LR E B AL R IHE
1K A BT B 2 4 ok A BRI B S B ‘
595 0 LI » KA B0 RS 25 ) 28 25 R Ak T

Ho

st REEE M

PRIREHR  BRRRZ EZRRKREMME
SEAREEMZ TERIR > AIREH T —EM I
FEZEERGEREABEREARE &
IR L —

() ME-BERRBEUKRTE

FEBREEBEEME BREARMB
#9622,00078 7T (20234 © 1,523,000
7o) B9 5t AT 2 FB 4 A U R AB R 4T EE
e MEt HIREMEE RNERLN
ME-BERRBEEREAFHNSE
EEBRMAEL TERERMERRBR
FHFABBCUNTEBRMMETE
MBRERES - HAEAFHRZ
A RE MEEESASINE
FZ > S B ¥R EE 5 H & B AT B By
B IE SRR A M SRR ©

ANNUAL REPORT iR « 2024




<

i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment on trade receivables, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables and loan receivables

The Group's gross carrying amount of trade receivables,
of approximately HK$5,673,000 (2023: HK$4,969,000),
gross carrying amount for contract assets of
approximately HK$196,000 (2023: HK$352,000), gross
carrying amount for deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$5,183,000 (2023: HK$1,606,000)
and gross carrying amount for loan receivables of
approximately HK$3,733,000 (2023: HK$5,272,000)
are assessed for impairment based on the expected
credit loss model required by HKFRS 9. The assessment
made by management has taken into account relevant
historical information adjusted for forward-looking
information available to management at the date
of assessment (to the extent that such information
is reasonable and supportable without undue cost
or effort). Impairment losses are also recognised for
the current year (please see Notes 6, 23, 24 and 25).
Management has exercised judgement in estimating the
amount of expected credit loss. If the actual outcome
is different from management’s estimate, an additional
impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss may arise.

Impairment on goodwill, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets

Determining whether goodwill of approximately
HK$5,470,000 (2023: HK$5,600,000), intangible assets
of approximately HK$2,900,000 (2023: HK$14,761,000)
and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$3,242,000
(2023: HK$2,983,000) are impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill, intangible assets and right-

of-use assets have been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Directors to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s assets and liabilities included
in the consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial
assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs
and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into different
levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

Level 2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in
the period they occur.

The Group measures the following item at fair value
categories into Level 3:

— Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 20)

— Financial assets at FVPL (Note 21)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to the
respective notes.
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 Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 & ZFE2024F 12831 HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’'s major financial instruments comprise loan
receivables, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets at
FVPL, trade receivables, contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, bank balances, trade payables, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities and convertible bonds. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. The Directors
review and agree policies for managing this risk and they are
summarised below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HHREBEEBERBEER @
POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk RENE & B
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEBEZENZRERDF AARET
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of BR O TEEREREEEEN 2 M
convertible instruments and borrowings. o
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's TREMBRIRE QIR AR Z AED
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. BEZEHER
As at 31 December 2024 $12024%12831H
More than
Within one 1 year but Total
year or on less than undiscounted Carrying
demand 5 years cash flows amount
—FERH SR—F RER
BEXR BOREE RENEE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET
Other payables and accruals HtpE B R st E 11,455 - 11,455 11,455
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,864 1,525 3,389 3,229
13,319 1,525 14,844 14,684
As at 31 December 2023 20235 12H31H
More than
Within one 1 year but Total
year or on less than  undiscounted Carrying
demand 5 years cash flows amount
—ERNF ZR—%F RERH
BEX BARASE REMEE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TET TET
Trade payables BEENTIE 188 = 188 188
Other payables and accruals Ht R TIE R FIE 7,355 = 7,355 7,355
Convertible bonds AR ES - 101,000 101,000 77,931
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,043 = 3,043 2,995
10,586 101,000 111,586 88,469
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HEBEMGETEBERKE @
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk I

The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate AERTESREANKER > ABHETER
risk, as the Group has no financial assets and liabilities of WELDGFHANNEA B ZEARETHEERES
material amounts with floating interest rate. fFe

Management will continue to review the market trend, as EEBREGRN T SBEURHEEBEE
well as its business operation needs and its financial position BREMBA R U EHAERBN KRR
in order to identify the most effective tools for the Group’s EEREYZI A

interest rate risk management.

Credit risk EERE

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade AEEZEERRETIZREEFEBGRIA
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other receivables, GREE 70 H I8 WIS B R E R
loan receivables and bank balances. Management has KiRTT4 R - BB FERERRE R
monitored the exposures on an ongoing basis.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances AEBAEBRRKBRTERNEERRA
is limited because the counterparties are the major banks Hong RRABZZHFHILEE RIFEEF4R
Kong with established credit ratings, for which the Group MERTERT > MAEERDHEERE
considers having low credit risk. Given the high credit ratings BRE-ENRTNEEFRRS EEER
of the banks, management does not expect any counterparties AAEERAMARBSHFRERITEEE.

to fail to meet its obligations.

For loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, the Group ERER - BEREMBRRIBMES > &
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the SEER =B85 R R EE S R R R At
loss provision is determined for each of those categories. These Z=_ BB EEHEEE ZENRBEER
internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit rating b AR 2B E NP E BT R AT —K

companies, such as Moody's.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises REBNREEERARTRIERTEUTE
the following categories: Al

Internal credit rating  Description Trade receivables and  Other financial assets
contract assets .
NEEETR Bl B 2 RIRRIER HitneREE
ANEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
any past-due amounts (refer to as Stage 1) credit-impaired =
AR REAFHZENEARBIE B REMBRRERE EHRBEERR 12EAEREEHE
(EE—RE) o =
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
after due date (refer to as Stage 1) credit-impaired o
BzyE RERIBHBEEMERNIBARRUEMNER EHRBEERR 12EAEREEHE
(EE—RE) —BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL-not
recognition through information developed internally (refer credit-impaired credit-impaired
to as Stage 2)
2 RERS T K2 ERSSNIE R EE R B sk Lk EHBEREERR cHRBEERR
BERN (5F ) - BiEERE - BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired (refer to  Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
as Stage 3) credit-impaired credit-impaired
B BRBETEELREERE EE=RE) EHBEREERSR HBRAEERR
— E&HE —E&HE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

(refer to as Stage 3)
BREENEBAASRENHAERAERTRER KL  FIERME IR M
AL (BE=RE)




For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=20244F

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the trade receivables and contract assets arising from
business other than dealing in securities, the Group carries
out regular review on these balances and follow-up action on
any overdue amounts to minimise exposures to credit risk. The
Group measures the lifetime ECL based on the outstanding
balances and historical credit loss experience adjusted to
reflect the Group's view of current and forecast economic
conditions that may affect the ability of the debtors to settle
receivables. The total impairment allowance amounted to
HK$2,062,000 (2023: HK$1,102,000) had been provided under
ECL assessment by using simplified approach according to the
ageing by due date of which impairment loss of HK$990,000
(2023: reversal of impairment loss HK$72,000) was recognised
in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, trade receivables
of approximately HK$118,000 that were arising from the
business of dealing securities, the credit risk is limited because
the counterparties are clearing house and brokers with sound
credit ratings. They have a low risk of default and there is
no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Accordingly, they are subject to lifetime ECL and the amount
of ECL is insignificant. For contract assets, the management
considers that the amount of ECL is insignificant because the
carrying amount is insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5.

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was
determined for trade receivables arising from business other
than dealing in securities as follows:

HERANGEEREEREE @

EERE (@

120244 %2023F 12831 HO B BEEH S
7 UM R F5 B B 7 B U R IR

wR B B E S
EWF

Gross carrying

Expected  amount (after
credit loss rate excluding
— weighted credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
BHiEE IREAE
IR (BMREE
— Ty A B BEEE B8
(%) HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(%) FTET FTET THET
At 31 December 2024 1$2024%12831H
Not yet past due 1e A S HR 0.6% 924 (6) 918
Overdue within 90 days BHAARIBIE0H 26.0% 1,674 (436) 1,238
Overdue over 91 days BEEI1R 52.7% 3,075 (1,620) 1,455
5,673 (2,062) 3,611
Gross carrying
Expected amount (after
credit loss rate excluding
— weighted  credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
BHEE REAE
BaEth= (GHIBRMEE
— TS BB BERE B
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) TET TET TET
At 31 December 2023 1#2023%12A31H
Not yet past due i R 0.1% 2,348 2) 2,346
Overdue within 90 days BT EB90H 0.9% 1,261 (11) 1,250
Overdue over 91 days AEEAEH 87.7% 1,242 (1,089) 153
4,851 (1,102) 3,749

For the deposits and other receivables, the ECL had been

provided under 12m ECL assessment. The total impairment

allowance amounted to HK$213,000 (2023: HK$17,000) has

been provided under ECL assessment, of which impairment

loss of HK$196,000 (2023: reversal of impairment loss of

HK$3,000) was recognised in the profit or loss for the year
d 31 December 2024.

MERRHEMEKRERTS > E%12@8
EHEEFETEATEREEBIBTRE
o TR BB AR EEA213,00058 7T (20234 ¢
17,0007 70) » BIRETEHAE B R EE G5t
IREifE > HR R {EE518196,000%8 7T (2023
F RE R A #$[0]3,00058 7T) BREIE2024
FE12831HIEEEWERE PR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financia

RO AH

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HMHRKREEBERBE @
POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FEERE @) J
The credit risk of loan receivables is determined based on the FEUR BRI 15 & & B3 T5 AR 15 73 2B Kz 9 26
combination of the internal and external credit rating, the FEEFH FHEHBLOKE -REBSEE
average debt recovery, peer review information and comparison e BN BB KB L8R 55 K 22 2R 7 7 o AN
with public available data. The Group calculates ECL using FR=ZEFXEBDFERPEEREE | B
three main components: a probability of default (“PD"), a loss B (2L ) BB X (HEQNER
given default (“LGD") and the exposure at default (“EAD"). ) REARE (GEORKR) 121@8 85
The 12m ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12m PD, LGD EEEEBENBERMNI2ERENELOE E
and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD HMEAERENRKESH 2HERE
instead. The 12m and lifetime PDs represent the probability of EEBEAE2BEABMERSE12E8 &
default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining THEABXDRARRRRI2ER AEE
maturity of the instrument respectively. The EAD represents the BAONBER T ENFERAAR - Z R KA ' 4
expected balance at default, taking into account the repayment REBNEGNEMRRE TRINEEERER '
of principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the HHEIEOEH4NAE R ENER Uk
default event together with any expected drawdowns of ERFEANAEERNIRI EBLBEAER
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected losses on the REZLEENSHRENRRNTERER
EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among ZTRI (HEFaEEMmE ) KFRREETE
other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the TEHRE IR NERREFRA R EKHNEREE
time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. R20245F12831H  EFEAEEFBTGE
The total impairment allowance on the loan receivables as at T FEURE RRAY R (B B 5 48 3B 43489,00078 7T
31 December 2024 amounted to HK$489,000 (31 December (2023128318 :1,111,000%7T) » /&
2023: HK$1,111,000) has been provided under expected BB 5185 81622,00058 7T (20234 : i {EE
credit loss assessment, of which reversal of impairment loss 825,000 7T) EREIE2024F12831H Lk
of HK$622,000 (2023: impairment loss of HK$25,000) was FENGEETAEMEEUARPIRES
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2024.
An analysis of changes in the gross amount and impairment R2024F %2023F 12831 HEKER &
allowances of loan receivables, deposits and other receivables Te Eofh FE WA IE Y 48 2 B8 Ko R (B S 1 2 )
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follow: W
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEER B PRER B st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FHT
At 31 December 2024 7120245128318
Loan receivables FEWE R - 3,733 - 3,733
Deposits and other receivables 3% Bz H fth & Wz 18 5,183 - - 5,183
Impairment allowances R EEE (213) (489) - (702)
Net amounts A RE 4,970 3,244 - 8,214
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEER B PEER B = PRER 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FiET FiET FET
At 31 December 2023 1220235 12H31H
Loan receivables FEW SRR 2,020 3,252 = 5,272
Deposits and other receivables % K H fh & U 7018 1,606 = = 1,606
Impairment allowances B (438) (690) = (1,128)
Net amounts FH 3,188 2,562 - 5,750 ’
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would exposure the Group to the credit risk.

Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, which are not
measured at fair value, are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the immediate or short-term
maturity.

The Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value represent
the Group's other financial assets. The following provides on
analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3
based on the degree which the fair value is observable.

— Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

— Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

— Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets are determined as
follows:

The fair value of listed equity securities as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 is determined by reference to its quoted
market price at the reporting date in active markets.

The fair value of unlisted investments, put option in relation
isition of a subsidiary, unlisted equity securities and
rts as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
to a valuation report issued by
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HHBEAMBBTEEEREE @
POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued) REEEMGET @)
The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated RiFE M BRRRAUA T EEST 2R
statement of financial position are group into the fair value BEERAFEERBRHUWT :
hierarchy as follows:
At 31 December 2024 $220245%12831H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—E =l =] B=E .
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FET
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BATEEFAERZ
TREE
— Listed equity securities — RS 395 - - 395
— Unlisted investments — JEEHERE - - 547 547
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEEFAREM
EEBAZEREE
— Unlisted equity securities — JE_EmHREE S - - 4,419 4,419
395 - 4,966 5,361
At 31 December 2023 $%2023%12831H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—IE E_E BB wast
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FET
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL AT EEFAEEmZ
TREE
— Listed equity securities — F R 407 - - 407
— Unlisted investments — JEEHEKE - - 263 263
— Investments in concerts =~ — JEIEEIRE - - 3,901 3,901
— Put option in relation to — BAWE—KKB AR
acquisition of a subsidiary AR IAERRE = = = =
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEESAEM
SEWAZEMEE
— Unlisted equity securities — JE_EmRR#EEH - = 1,473 1,473
407 — 5,637 6,044

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level
3 fair value hierarchy classifications.

AU 8T EERNT ARG ERMEME
REMEEEETt - SMEERERER
TEEERIETHNE B - F_EBERE=
Bz EE REE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5.
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements:

DFEEMS @

HERANGEEREEREE @

EME=BATEENBNEN

Fair value as at Valuation Significant
Financial assets EREE 31 December techniques unobservable inputs ~ Range
EXTHE
R12A31BMATEE BEHE BREAYE #E
2024 2023
2024 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET AT
Unlisted investments ELEmEE 547 263 Market approach and Aggregate discount for ~ 50%
equity allocation lack of marketability (2023: 26.54%)
method (2023: ("DLOM") and
Discounted cash discount for lack of
flow) (hete! control ("DLOC")
(2023: Pre-tax discount
rate)
miHERREDNEE B miHm@NENE (T8 50%
(2023%F : iR ZHHRBENRE) Rk (2023F :26.54%)
Reiw) w8 Tz G E TRz
PRI R ) BOAEA]
(2023%F : AR
Investments in concerts  RIEBRE - 3,901 Discounted cash flow Expected ticket sales N/A
performance (2023: 80% to 90%)
BIRRER R PIRHERR B
(2023%F : 80% %
90%)
Put option in relation to  LEURE—K B - — Monte Carlo Volatility N/A
acquisition of a NEIEEN simulation (2023: 126.74% to
subsidiary Shom At model 154.78%)
SRRERERN KB TEA
(20235:126.74% %
154.78%)
Unlisted equity securities  JEEHRAES 4,419 1,473 Market approach and Aggregate DLOM and  50%

equity allocation
method (2023:
Discounted cash
flow) (et
Gl ol
b (2023 : #4537
R w9

been changed from the discounted cash
ach and equity allocation method
s, enhance the reliability of

DLOC (2023: Pre-tax
discount rate)

(2023: 26.54%)

RZTHRBIETERR 50%

P2l ik kTl
(2023 : RAIAHIRE)

(20234 : 26.54%)

K EERZERMRREREFEE AT HERR
HDEE  UEFH R ER TR > e B G E 5
R EE N WERITEREHE—H -



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The fair value of financial assets at FVPL is a Level 3 recurring
fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

5. BHBEAKREEERREEK @

DFEEMS @

AT BB ABE T SRS AR A
BE=EREN AT EMEE -5

closing fair value balances are provided as below: N BEEERREHROT ¢
2024
20244
HK$'000
FET
Unlisted investment: JELEHRE :
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring YRR (FZBRE A TEB)
fair value) 263 3%
Fair value change during the year FARFEEBEED 284 (56)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring R (F=EBREEATEBR)
fair value) 547 263

A higher in aggregate DLOM and DLOC (2023: pre-tax
discount rate) would result in lower in the fair value of unlisted
investment, and vice versa.

EAZ T 35 B M T SR R = PR R A AT S BY AR
MRS (20234 | BFMRATAEIRE) » JE LR

ENATEERE RZFAe

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$000
FHET TET
Investment in concerts: HEERE
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring YR (FZEREERATEEB

fair value) 3,901 —
Additions BE 3,368 7,166
Settlements EE (6,581) (3,921)
Transfer out of Level 3 BHE=E (BEBETM)

(completion of concerts) (933) -
Profit on investments in concerts, net BIEGRE RN FEE 245 656
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring ARG (F=EBREEATEBR)

fair value) - 3,901

The higher in expected ticket sales performance result in higher
in the fair value of investments in concerts, and vice versa.

REAPIRBERRES  BEBERENQT

BEMES RZTFRe
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HMEEGEEBEREE @
i POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued) REEEMBET @)
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$000
FHET FHET
Put option in relation to acquisition of £ EE— K & A 55 BBV Rk HA
a subsidiary: & :
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair FRES E=BLBEERTFER)
value) - 53
Fair value change during the year FARFEBEEE - (53)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring FRGEGH E=BEBERTFER)
fair value) - —
The higher in volatility would result in higher in the fair value R B M Y 35 0 A< 25 R £ LAY B A /B A B B ALY
of put option in relation to acquisition of a subsidiary, and vice FUREAN AT EEEM K2R
versa.
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net gain recognised in profit or loss F AR 1B m PSR F W =
for the year 529 547




For the year ended 31 December 2024 &;ZE20244F

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is a Level 3 recurring

fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and
closing fair value balances are provided as below:

Notes to the Consolidated Finan

ﬁél\

RHHEEAREEBEEREEK @

AFEEMS @

AT EESFARMEEBAZ E/ME
ATEEBE=-"EKEUATEESE
MR AT EERELROT ¢

2024
20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unlisted equity securities JEETHRRIEE S
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair YRR (FZEBREERAFEE)
value) 1,473 3,053
Fair value change during the year (Note 20) WA BEEE) (#/5£20) 2,946 315
Disposal (Note 20) HE #£20) - (1,895)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring BARERRE (B =B 4 FEE)
fair value) 4,419 1,473

A higher in aggregate DLOM and DLOC (2023: pre-tax discount
rate) would result in lower in the fair value of unlisted equity
securities, and vice versa.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, except as
disclosed, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of
Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

Other market price risk

The Group holds some strategic equity investments in other
companies where those complement the Group’s operations
(see note 21). The Directors believe that the exposure to
market price risk from this activity is acceptable in the Group's
circumstances.

The effect of a 5% increase in the value of the equity
investments held at the reporting date would, all other
variables held constant, have resulted in an increase in the fair
value through profit or loss and net assets of approximately
HK$20,000 (2023: HK$20,000). A 5% decrease in their value
would, on the same basis, have decreased the fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve and net assets by
the same amount.

RZHE R B IT R R R R 4R
M (20234 : BRITATALIRER) » JE LR
EEHENATBEBE K2R

HE2024F K%2023E 128310 ILEEE > BRFRr
WEEN AEBTES—EBRE_EBLAF
BESEZENEE TETHEEREM
BEEANEBLHE=E-

H th i3 15 B 4% 2 B

FEBFAETRBUERERSE  UHRE
EEEE (BfE21) - EBFR A KEE
SR HEREAREAERZIBERT
BRI KF o

WRRE AR IFRERE ZBEEM
5% EFTE EMEBHERAEZBERT &
BRI AFEBAESABREREEFEE NG
20,0005 75 (20234 : 20,0005 7T) ° HEE
BERL5%  EHEEEET  BEEQAFEE
SFAEMEER S REEREESERLDAR
HEBo
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group's objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns and benefits for members and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes the amounts due to a director, convertible bonds,
bank balances and cash and total equity as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
corresponding fair values.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as
follows:

HERANGEEREEREE @

BERRAKBER

FEREREANENRHELERNRE
e WERRRIEHEIR A F & I
MR RENBEREE UFEEEARE -

FEENEXREBEEREFH HEER
EREEHRIRENENT —REZRE
IR ES  RTERRIREME DB

FEENEERSHEBR —REXER-
ERLEEEN—BD EEERERELN
FREAKEREHEMNEAR - RIEEEE
WEZ cEERBBRETHR ETHME
HEBORARS U THHERERERE

HE2024F %2023F12831HIEFE » K&
B YRR RS CRBR A 1 N it o

EEZRn ERAMBERRPUEHEBREA

RNEMBEERTHERNIREAELHEAR
NPEEEE-

BEMANEERB/LEROT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Amounts due to a director (Note 29) B —2ESEHIE (Ma£29) 9,776 1,889
Convertible bonds (Note 31) AR ES (HaE31) - 77,931
Total debts EF5HA%E 9,776 79,820
WEE 36,401 56,713

BEAM/JLEE 0.27 1.41




For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management (Continued)

Except for certain subsidiaries of the Group licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

A subsidiary of the Group with trading rights of Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) (“Type
4 & 9") is required to have HK$100,000 minimum liquid capital
in relation to Type 4 & Type 9 regulated activities, the subsidiary
is subject to the licensing condition that they shall not hold
client assets.

Another subsidiary of the Group with trading right of Type 6
(corporate finance) is required to have HK$100,000 minimum
liquid capital in relation to Type 6 activity, the subsidiary does
not act as a sponsor and shall not hold client assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Fi

5.

BHERMEERRREEE

BREAKRERE @

GAEEETHNB AR ERSRIES
w58 ((BE) #RI XAF
HNBABTZIIBWIMEEREZ

TEBZ —RIBLAERE H4E MBS
MER) REE (BELEE) ((E4RYME) T
S BRBIREESHETHERRE
100,000B T2 B &4 > ZMB AT BE
FAGREZREEZ BB K Mt

FERZZ-RWBRABKAEF6HE (1%
BRE) RXZ% ANFcREHERRE
100,000 T2 RBE X Z BB LA
EEREAN TASHAZREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

6.1

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. WARDEH®RS
Revenue represents income from financial services 6.1 WAEFARETHBRBEDTMEF K
operations, income from corporate consulting operations A EBHEBMEUA KB
and income from digital operations during the year. FEUTA o
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers 1RIEF BRI TR EZERF 15553
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HENEREEIZER
recognised over time: BHWE
Financial service business ERARTS 275 9,991 9,457
Corporate service business 1 ZERRTE 275 5,512 4,025
Digital business G - 2,822
15,503 16,304
Revenue from contracts with customers 1Ri5 % #0753k & 2 8 F155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEINNE—RFEEIZ
recognised at a point in time: ERAaHWE :
Financial service business ERARTS 275 - 1,455
Digital business BB £ 4,362 -
4,362 1,455
Revenue from other sources: HhaRUg =
Interest income from financial SRURBEB ZHEIWA
services business 466 523
Profit on investments in concerts from HISEBBERGRE RN
digital business, net HEE 245 656
711 1,179
20,576 18,938

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose
information about the remaining performance obligation
that have original expected durations of one year or less.

FEBHERBEBMBREENEIS
SEEI121RZAITEE R A WERKE
EMRBEREBED —FHUTZHERE

BYEEZER -




For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z202445

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6.2 Segment reporting

(a) Reportable segments

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to make strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker has
been identified as the executive Directors.

The Group currently has three reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies as follows:

(a)

(b)

(0)

The financial services business segment
includes provision of corporate finance
advisory services, asset management and
advising on securities business and money
lending business;

The corporate consulting business segment
is engaged in the provision of company
secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management
consulting services; and

The digital business segment is engaged to
leverage blockchain, artificial intelligence,
and immersive interaction technologies to
create value and protection to individuals,
creators, artists, businesses and brand
owners, and offer various opportunities
within the entertainment sector, including the
organisation/production of and investment in
concerts, events and festivals.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

IWARDERSE @
DEBIRE

(a) HEHZE

e

FERRBEEREEERT
BB AR TERBERRE
ETHKEDH BREE
EEBRBEERNTES

FEBERB=ET2{RDE e
DBWHDHER ARREES
REFBENERKRE  LFER
B B9 £ 75 SR BE U0 T PR

(a) BREEHEEREALAR
B EBEEERIBSESH
EBRBEEH Z R
BEZDE

(b) RNERERIADWERS
Bt R B EIRF U
EEAARBT 2L FEAES
EHDE R

(0 HBEBIBRKEIAER
BEATEERINER
B A @A Al
E-BMR EERME
A ANRIEBERREHRRF
o W IR AR R R
e SEAM RE
RERERBE A KRE
Ho
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 Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 & ZFE2024F 12831 HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSHBHRSE @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DE®E @
There were no inter-segment transactions between FRN RELE D8 2 BT D PR
different operating segments for the year (2023: Nil). 5 (20234 | &) o ETHZARBER
Certain expenses are not allocated to the operating FELKERTEBLUTEHD BEUDN
segments as they are not included in the measure of DEEBESTE 2N AP R LE D
the segments’ results that is used by the chief operating EB o

decision-maker for assessment of segment performance.

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) ZDEBRAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue UTERERAUERDIHAE
and results by reportable segments: IR A e BRI D AT
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZFE20245F12A31HIEEE
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business Total
& ¥
HK$'000 FTET PRI R YR ait
Segment revenue SEUA 10,457 5,512 4,607 20,576
Segment profit/(loss) HEEF (B518) 6,399 3,009 (14,768) (5,360)
Finance costs BT (12,945)
Gain on disposal of a HE—HIBARZ
subsidiary g 3,246
Unallocated corporate RABMEERSY We)
expenses Mot (12,437)

Loss before income tax BRERISIRAIAS 1R (27,496)




Notes to the Consolidated

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=20

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSEHERE @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 NHWI®E @)
(b) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (b) ZDERAREE (@)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F12A3181E
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business
ER =3
HK$'000 TAT ARF %% BAE YIS
Segment revenue AEBERA 11,435 4,025 3,478
Segment profit/(loss) AEEH /(8518 3,307 2,265 (3,484) 2,088
Finance costs MERSE (12,525)
Unallocated corporate RREEERS #2
expenses "¢ (15,295)
Loss before income tax PRERSHAIES1E (25,732)
Note: Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included et RoECERZFTEZAER
staff salaries, directors’ remuneration and F2024F 52023F12H831H
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and FFENBTHe EXMe
right-of-use assets for the years ended 31 December T A2 ~ S Tz 2% 1 DA T 155 FA
2024 and 2023. EEENTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2

(c) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARDHHRSE @

SEBER S (4

DEEERE R

UTREAI2RDBHEEER

and liabilities by reportable segments: BERBGBNDN
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Segment assets DEEE
Financial services business ERRBED 16,078 20,807
Corporate consulting business A ER 6,534 6,728
Digital business QS 1,647 20,674
Total segment assets DHEERE 24,259 48,209
Unallocated bank balances ROEBITHFRIRE
and cash 413 2,098
Unallocated corporate assets ™ot SR43Fp 1> 2 & = 02 11,729 6,406
Consolidated total assets EeEEHEE 36,401 56,713
Segment liabilities SEEE
Financial services business ERIAR TS ETS 2,002 3,901
Corporate consulting business EBET 135 1,000
Digital business BEETS 121 2,107
Total segment liabilities NHEEEE 2,258 7,008
Convertible bonds AR ES - 77,931
Unallocated corporate liabilities et 5k 43 i 1> 2 & 5 &) 13,180 6,578
Consolidated total liabilities TABEAE 15,438 91,517
Note: Unallocated corporate assets mainly comprised of Wi RO tX(BEEFECRER
unallocated right-of-use assets, financial assets at DEEREESE - BATFER
FVPL and financial assets at FVOCI. FABmZEMBEERER
FTEEFAEMEEKREZ
ERBE -
corporate liabilities mainly comprised APECEBBEFEGARER

liabilities and amounts due to a

NEEEERREN—BRE
EMIE



6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued)

(d) Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Consolidate

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &}
6. WARDHBH/ES @

6.2 DHFWE @)

(d) RHM7EEH

#F20245128318 1L
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business  Unallocated
SRRH EEN
£% £% HEEH RAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERL TEL TER

Amounts included in the AR EER R
measure of segment profit ~ HAPEE:HE
or loss or segment assets: ZE8.

Additions to non-current assets  REFERBEE
(other than financial assets) (SREERM

Deprediation of property, plant 1% BER&REHITE
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets fEREBENRE

Amortisation of intangible assets &/ & E &S

Impairment loss on BARKTERHESS
trade receivables

Reversal of impairment loss/ REREMENIE
(impairment loss) on deposits HEGRER/
and other receivables (FIESR)

Reversal of impairment loss on ~ [EWEFRERFERR
loan receivables

Interest income FSHA

1,253 - - 2,420 3,673
- - (292) (740) (1,032)
(766) - - (2,512) (3,278)
- (38) (1,446) - (1,484)
(954) (36) - - (990)
1 - (40) (157) (196)

622 - - - 622
17 - - - 17

ANNUAL REPORT £ » 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSHBHRSE @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DE®E @
(d) Other segment information (Continued) (d) EM7EEH &)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F12A31HIEFE
Financial Corporate
services consulting Digital
business business business Unallocated Total
SRRE hxEH
=% =% LS Ely st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER TERL TEL TER

Amounts included in the FARBER SR
measure of segment profit ~ HAWBEEHE

or loss or segment assets: ZE8:
Additions to non-current assets  FRBIFFEEE

(other than financial assets) (GREERIN - - 861 = 861
Deprediation of property, plant ~ ¥1% BERRETE

and equipment - - (79 (1,162) (1,241)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets #FEEEE (794) = = (2,785) (3,579)
Amortisation of intangible assets & E &S = (228) (1,478) = (1,706)
Reversal of impairment ERRNHEREES

loss/(impairment loss) on e/ (RESH)

trade receivables 128 (26) (30) - 72
Reversal of impairment losson  && R EMERFIE

deposits and other receivables BB EE - - - 3
Impairment loss on loan receivables FE 4t & =R E 518 (25) = = = (25)
Written off of deposits and other  #is#% € REM

receivables =B - = = (151) (151)

Interest income FISWA 71 - - 18 189




Notes to the Consolidated Fi

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARSHBHRS @
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 NHWI®E @)
(e) Geographical information (e) EFEHEN
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, B 2024 2023512
the Group's revenue from external customers is WFFE - REBERBE I
derived solely from its operations in Hong Kong WAZZREERES T
(place of domicile), where all of the Group’s non- MEE  REBMAEIERS
current assets are located in Hong Kong. The EAREE SNE R I
geographical location of external customers is ENERINEY RIEHRES
based on the location at which the goods are B 1 B o

delivered and services rendered.

(f) Major customers ) ETEEF
Revenue from a customer contributing over 10% of EAREBBINHEBEI0%HNE
the total revenue of the Group is as follow: BPUWAWT :

Year ended 31 December

HE12A3MHLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Customer A — Financial services BERA — R RIFETS
business 4,000 4,060
Customer B — Financial services and EFB — TRUARFE &
corporate consulting business EERAER 2,630 N/A* 38
Customer C — Digital business BERC — BBER N/A*R5E 2,000
& The corresponding revenue from this customer e REZEFNERKAMGE
contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of EBERWATEBIEI0%

the Group
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6.3 Contract balances

The following table shows movements in contract assets

WABRDERSE @

6.3 BHEEER

TRV ENEERGNERNE

and contract liabilities: g
Contract assets Contract liabilities
AHEE arasE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ETT FHETT F#E T FHETT
At 1 January R1B1H 352 349 (2,658) (88)
Transfers in the year from contract ERNH SN B EERE
assets to trade receivables B 5 R’ RIE (352) (349) - =
Amounts included in contract FREDABUAD
liabilities at the beginning of the E#&HNEER
year that was recognised FI R B RRIE
as revenue during the year - - 2,658 88
Excess of revenue recognised over 4R HEEEAI B FER
cash (or rights to cash) being WA BB &
recognised during the year (HIREHEF) MW= 196 352 - =
Cash received in advance of FRARERBBARN
performance and not recognised BAIFTUWEIIIR &
as revenue during the year - - (51) (2,658)
At 31 December #128318 196 352 (51)  (2,658)




OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES) 7. HWARKE  (EIB)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & =2

2024
202445
HK$’000
FHET
Bank interest income ERITH BUA 17
Changes in fair value of financial assets at MAFBETABR 2 SMEE
FVPL (Note 21(a), (b) & (c)) NEEEES Hfa21(a) (b)K()) 272
Written off of deposits and other i 2 5 K B AR URUIE
receivables -
Gain on co-operator of investment R BREEEEN RS
in concert 1,744
Gain on derecognition of other payable A ERESD ELAth FE (T TR IB R U & 750
Sundry income MEIEUA 283
3,066 583
FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMZE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FHET
Imputed interest on convertible bonds ™ B &5 2 & EF] 8 @ 11,829 12,310
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaEMNE 79 226
Other borrowing costs HiEE R 1,059 39
12,967 12,575
Note: It represents the imputed interest on the liability component of Wiat SR FEEAMRESEEN D 2 mEFE

the convertible bonds for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. [RFRIFMAIEGIE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): FRFF M AT AR, Gt A) TFER%R
mE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$’000
FAET TET
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) ET A (BEESM®) ©
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e  ITEREMEF 11,074 13,637
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE T E R 324 529
11,398 14,166
(b) Other items: (b) HEhIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration Z S M = 750 988
Depreciation expenses in respect of: LUFHHTEERR ¢
Property, plant and equipment M BB Rk 1,032 1,241
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,278 3,579
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 1,484 1,706
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment B S REWRIBRERE
loss) on trade receivables CRER a5 E) 990 (72)
Impairment loss/(reversal of & R EMERRUE
impairment loss) on deposits and BEREES
other receivables CRER51E#[E]) 196 (3)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ FEW E = CRERE#E)
impairment loss on loan receivables BERE (622) 25




Notes to the Consolidate

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 10. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIFBER MR REBRE
the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies FEEBZEFHMUWT :
Ordinance, is as follows:
2024
20244
HK$’000
FET
Executive Directors: HMITESE .
Fees B -
Other emoluments: HAB = -
Salaries, housing allowances, other e EERM - EthERL
allowances and benefits-in-kind REYIN = 1,950
Pension scheme contributions BRAREEEHERR 18
1,968 2,806
Independent non-executive Directors: BWILFRITES !
Fees B 360 360
360 360
2,328 3,166
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or the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 128318 LFEE

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 10. EFEM= @
r (a) Independent non-executive Directors (a) BIUEMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors FAENBIERTESZHEU
during the year were as follows: T«

Share-based

payment Total
Fees expenses emoluments
Mg 1R
HERN
e e Bl & 48 %8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHE7T FHET
2024: 20244 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann Y 120 - 120
Ng Ka Sim, Casina L= 120 - 120
Wong Wing Kit =K 120 - 120
360 - 360
2023: 20234 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRI 120 - 120
Ng Ka Sim, Casina BE=E 120 — 120
Wong Wing Kit =PI 120 - 120

360 = 360




For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Fi

10. EEME @

Executive Directors (b) HITESE
Salaries, housing
allowances, other Pension Share-based
allowances and Discretionary scheme payment
Fees  benefits-in-kind bonus contributions expenses
e BEEE N
Hitr2BE R el AERE
fig BNHE RIBTEAL HEE fIRE%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER TET
2024: 2024
Wong Hin Shek TEH - 1,950 - 18 -
- 1,950 - 18 -
2023: 203%F
Wong Hin Shek TEE - 1,950 - 18 - 1,968
Cheung Wai Yin, R w1
Wllson (Note 1) — 50 - 2 . 52
Tsang Kwai Ping B
fied) - 770 - 16 - 786
- 2,770 - 36 — 2,806
Notes: it :
1. Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson resigned as an executive 1. REBSENR2023FE3831HEHEHR
Director with effect from 31 March 2023. TESH-
2. Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping resigned as an executive Director with 2. B R2023F 1281 HEER

effect from 1 December 2023.

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent and non-executive Directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company and the Group.

No share options were granted to directors in respect
of their services to the Group for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

TES-

FHRATEFOMESAWBRREEE
BARARFEREES EHREMHOR
o EMBIMIFRITESRBIBN S S M
BREGREIRARFTEREE IR
HBIIRTS ©

B E2024%F K2023FE 128318 1IEE
B> EESAAERIRENREMm
BHERTERE

B E2024%F K2023FE 128318 1E£E
B ruEFHERITANESRERRR
BEEAME 2 ZHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

10.

11.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included one (2023: one) director. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2023: four) highest paid individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

10.

11.

EEME @
(b) BITEE @

HE2024F K2023FE1283181EE
B> AEBMERESZIAHM > LUE
AREFEEMA SRR INA A E R
FIEAE R o

EFRARREHMAL

FROAEDRLBRESHFMALTBE—%
(2023%F : —%) EF - H E2024F12831
HIEEE TG (20234 : M%) BRe i
B A T EOSREBN N F

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e EMREYA G 4,092 4,037
Pension scheme contributions BRIRBEHEIMHER 72 71
Share-based payment expenses URMABER ZTREEZ - =
4,164 4,108

2024 2023

20245 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

HK$ BT AE A#
Nil-1,000,000 £ %1,000,000 - 1
1,000,001-2,000,000 1,000,001%2,000,000 3

No share options were granted to non-director, five highest
paid individuals in respect of their services to the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which the above non-director
and five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
muneration for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
mpensation for loss of office has been paid by
idual for the years ended 31 December

HE2024%F K%2023FE 12831 HIEEE > {4
BFEEERFILRESFMNATHEQEER
IR AR F5I% T RE AL o

HZE2024F 52023FE 12831 H IEEE > 4
FFEEREARSFMALTHRERIRE
REE AN ZHE - B E2024F 5202345
12A31HIEFEE  AEEREREAEAZ
AT 1 o] B B A 1 o



Notes to the Consolidated F

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=20

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FRIGIRIES
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first iRk A SR W ARG
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be 2,000,000 7t A9 iz A E’Jﬁ$#}fj
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed 8 #82,000,0007 7t B9 i@ FI| U R
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in Hong Kong that are 16.5% c AR EFBIRMARFINELBE
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will B R AR 1216.5% 8] — M KE
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for RAEEBEERIBEIE > 7] BER
Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the current and prior ERNEsERR EF > R ARFERR2
years as the Group has tax loss brought forward which are Bl TR E AN S RA B o
available for offset against the estimate assessable profits for
the year.
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET
Current tax BERAFRIE
Hong Kong profits tax: BB R
— Over-provision in prior years — REBREEE (214) (18)
Deferred tax (Note 30) IEIERIE (B 230) (9) (41)
(223) (59)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BT IS ER KRB 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FRAEMIER @

FEEFR/NAGSEGAEMEEKRAE
BIRRFTIS IR B BRI T ¢

2024 2023

20245 20235

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Loss before income tax FREFSIRAIESE (27,496) (25,732)
Tax calculated at the domestic rate of 16.5%  IZZAMIE16.5% (2023F : 16.5%)

(2023: 16.5%) stEMIRIE (4,537) (4,245)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7~ a] =R #E U A B 550 & (705) (352)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR NN HETE

tax purposes 2,737 2,736
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AFEINIBHEENRFZZE 3,074 1,946
Utilisation of tax losses previously B AR RN R R

not recognised (627) (126)
Tax effect of other temporary difference HME RS EENRETE 49 =
Over-provision in prior year T FEREERE (214) (18)
Total income tax credit PRSIR I e AR (223) (59)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$73,156,000 (2023: HK$60,566,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

R2024F 128310 AEB A BRIBEE
#97473,156,0007% 75 (20234 : 60,566,000
BT) o B BEER IR AR AR F) c IR R
AETERI R A m F 2R R - AN S B S pL AR 1E
ERBIELERIBEE-



13.

14.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

DIVIDEND 13.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share based on the
following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

HQ l%\

EEZTAEZRIREEE20245F1283
FENEMRE (20234F : &) °

BREBE

BREAKRBEBRDREUTEES

2024
202445
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss attributable to owners of the Company Ftst S ERER R EEHEIE
for the purpose of calculating basis and KA EER AELETE
diluted loss per share (27,273) (25,673)

Number of shares

K eE
2024 2023
20245 20234
‘000 ‘000
T T
Weighted average number of ordinary M EEREA R EFEE
shares for the purpose of calculating ZiE AR T 8
basic and diluted loss per share 604,396 579,422

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based
on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of 604,396,000
(2023: 579,422,000) ordinary shares in issue.

Diluted loss per share amount for both years were not
presented because the impact of the exercise of the share
options and conversion of convertible bonds was anti-dilutive.
Potential ordinary shares are dilutive when and only when their
conversion into ordinary shares would increase loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company.

EREARBEGEEILREBEALBDZERR
REMEE UREBTZERNMNETS
£0604,396,0008% (20234 : 579,422,0008%)
&

HRITEBRERBRIBRESHNEZER
R#&EHE AtEmBEEENSREEES
BERUTEEZR -EREEEESAREMR
mEBREIEMALDREEE ABGER
iRk T RA#EE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME -BERHZE

Computer
Leasehold and office Motor

improvements equipment vehicles Total

BiEK
HEMEEE BAZRE _E At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET TET FHET

COST: D%
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 2,376 258 3,433 6,067
Addition BE - 861 - 861
At 31 December 2023 and 12023128318 %

1 January 2024 20241818 2,376 1,119 3,433 6,928
Addition BE 70 26 40 136
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EEBAR H238)

(Note 38) - (26) - (26)
At 31 December 2024 1R2024%12831H 2,446 1,119 3,473 7,038

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:HirE RiFERSE :
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2023 K2023F181H 2,376 221 1,567 4,164
Depreciation for the year FRNITE - 97 1,144 1,241
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%F 128318 %

1 January 2024 2024F181H 2,376 318 2,711 5,405
Depreciation for the year FRNITE 3 296 733 1,032
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REWBAR (H238)

(Note 38) - (21) - (21)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 2,379 593 3,444 6,416

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BREEME -
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 67 526 29 622
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 - 801 722 1,523
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=202

16. GOODWILL 16. HE
COST: D7
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 72023FE181H 2023F12831H K
1 January 2024 20241818

11,403

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 38) L E—REH B AR (475£38) (130)
At 31 December 2024 2024 12831H 11,273
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: iR ERBE

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024

1202351818 2023128315~
202418 1H %2024%12831H

5,803

NET CARRYING AMOUNT:
At 31 December 2024

AREFE
1120244128318

5,470

At 31 December 2023

72023FE12831H

5,600

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") identified as follows:

AEANSMES BELRECHMNREE
FEM ((REEEEM) M :

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Corporate consulting business R TS 5,470 5,470
Digital business ESUES - 130
5,470 5,600
Notes: Hiet -
Corporate consulting business EEBHER

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of corporate consulting
business in the financial year of 2019. The carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$5,470,000 (2023: HK$5,470,000) as at 31 December 2024.

J5(20234F : 5,470,000 7T) ©

EETDRRE20190 BFEEWEB L EBHER
2024128318 mENREES 5,470,00078



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R B IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F128331HIEFE

16.

financial
R 4 1

GOODWILL (Continued)
Notes:
Corporate consulting business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit of corporate consulting business (the “Corporate
Consulting Business CGU") is determined by the Directors with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified
valuer. The recoverable amount of the Corporate Consulting Business
CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculation. The calculation
used cash flow projections based on latest financial budgets approved by
the management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount
rate of 19.19% (2023: 19.46%). The cash flow projections beyond
the 5 years periods are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate at
2.5% (2023: 3%). Cash flow projections during the budget period are
based on past performance and the Group management’s expectations
for the market development and future performance of the Corporate
Consulting Business CGU. The discount rate is determined based on the
cost of capital adjusted by the specific risk associated with the Corporate
Consulting Business CGU. As the recoverable amount of the Corporate
Consulting Business CGU is significantly higher than its carrying amount,
the Directors are in opinion that no impairment loss was considered for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment.

Digital business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of digital business in
the financial year of 2022. The goodwill with the net carrying amount
of HK$130,000 as at 31 December 2023 was allocated to the cash-
generating unit of digital business (the “Digital Business CGU").

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the
Digital Business CGU was determined by the Directors with reference
to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer. The
recoverable amount of the Digital Business CGU had been determined
from value-in-use calculation. The calculation used cash flow projections
based on latest financial budgets approved by the management covering
a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount rate of 20.52%. The cash
flow projections beyond the 5 years periods were extrapolated using a
terminal growth rate at 3%. Cash flow projections during the budget
period were based on the Group management's expectations for the
market development and future performance of the Digital Business
CGU. The discount rate was determined based on the weighted average
cost of capital reflecting the specific risk associated with the Digital
Business CGU. As the recoverable amount of the Digital Business CGU
was higher than its carrying amount, the Directors were in opinion that
no impairment loss was considered for the year ended 31 December
2023. Management believed that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not result in impairment.

On 23 December 2024, the Group served the option notice on the
Vendors (as defined in Note 38) to exercise the put option which shall
require the Vendors to repurchase the entire issued share capital of the
NOIZChain Limited (“NOIZChain") at the repurchase consideration. The
disposal was completed on 23 December 2024. Details were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 13 June 2022, 4 July 2022,
22 July 2024, 23 December 2024 and Note 38 to the consolidated

16.

BHEw®

Mt

EEBAER

HE2024F12B31HIEEFE ) bEBHAEF RS
EEsa (tXZHEBRESELEEM) VT
WEEBHRESKSE LB A ERGER
HENGEERSEE CEBAEXKRESELS
MM REEELREEABESEEE 5t &
RAREEEBILEZRMMBBEEFR RS
TRETER  HESERE  WIRMATIEEEZE19.19%
(20234 :19.46%) BAIR - SEHB B ZIHER
EBALEBRIFIBEEZF2.5% ( 2023F 1 3%)
HEE EEBEZRESRERANRBEATERIE
UhAEBEEEHECEANERRSELES
NIz BEREARREBMEBERE - HEBEET R
REFANERRSEEBMN 2 BRSERKSA
BOBRRAMEE ARCEXBHNERRSE
EBANTKESEARESREREE EF0
AEE2024F 12831 BIEEEBEE BRERE
(2023 : ) - BEBHEE TAZSBRNE
B BE A S EEURIE ©

BIRER

20220 BE > 2R B U SRS 255 0 122023
F£12831H > EmEREFE130,0008 0 AL EH
WBEXRCEEEN ((HBEERSEESM)

HE2023F12B31HIEEE  SBEFRSESL
BUNTKESEREESE— LB UAERTG
B ENGEEREEE MBEFRSELES
MR 2ELRBERAEBESEEE T8
FAREEEBILEZBHMBEEFLRZERE:
REBTEA RESFIR > WM ATREIRZ20.52%
BRIR - SEHIE B BERERANFARIFEE
RIpHE BHBHZESREEANLREBELASE
EEEBHEYEEEREcELBUZHHBERE
BEARFRREMEBT MEXRLRBEHRBER RS
EE B2 ERES E R R FT &R Z NI E AR
BAMEBE HRBBERBEEEBMNAR
ElefEm N ERAEE EER A8 E2023F124
JHIEEESBEEEREGRE SEERE TH
ZEBRNEGEA ST TEERE -

R2024F 128230 AEBBELS (EERK
5E38) EEHEBHMUITER GHE EF
BREAHLBEEMAEHEENOIZChain Limited
(TNOIZChain ) W2 B ETRA - HEFIELE
20245 12823HEM HIBEHNR A QB HBEA
2022468130 ~ 20224 784H ~ 2024578220
2024F12H23B 2 A E KRG EMBIREKMIFE38



17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidate

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=

17. BEE

Trading Customer Blockchain

right relationship  technology

(Note (a)) (Note (c)) (Note (d))

RANE EERG  ERERM

(Wit(a) B2(0) CEL))

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

COST: B s
At 1 January 2023, R2023FE181H 2023512

31 December 2023 and B318%2024F181H

1 January 2024 5,705 1,140 14,040 20,885
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHKNEAT

(Note 38) (Hi5238) - - (14,040) (14,040)
Cessation of trading right Mo ®) 48 || 33 53 fi (20) (2,805) - - (2,805)
At 31 December 2024 1120245 12H31H 2,900 1,140 - 4,040

ACCUMULATED Rt B R R A
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 2,805 874 739 4,418
Amortisation for the year FREH - 228 1,478 1,706
At 31 December 2023 120235128318

and 1 January 2024 ’2024F181H 2,805 1,102 2,217 6,124
Amortisation for the year FREH - 38 1,446 1,484
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BIBAR (H#38)

(Note 38) - - (3,663) (3,663)
Cessation of trading right Mee®) & || 33 23 fi (#3) (2,805) - - (2,805)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 - 1,140 - 1,140

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: IRTEVEME -
At 31 December 2024 122024%12831H 2,900 - - 2,900
At 31 December 2023 1120235 12831H 2,900 38 11,823 14,761
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R B IS ERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z2024F 12831 HILEE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Group holds one trading right of the business carrying on
the regulated activities of Type 4 (advising on securities) and
Type 9 (asset management) (“Type 4 & 9") as defined under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Trading right has indefinite useful life and
therefore no amortisation has been provided. The recoverable
amount of the trading right of Type 4 & 9 is determined by
the Directors with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer and has been determined by value
in use calculation by using cash flow projections based on the
latest financial budgets approved by the management covering
a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount rate of 23.60%
(2023: 23.42%). The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years
periods are extrapolated using a growth rate at 2.50% (2023:
3%). As the recoverable amount of trading right of Type 4 and 9
is significantly higher than its carrying amount, the Directors are
in the opinion that no impairment loss was considered for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not result in impairment.

On 31 July 2023, the Group applied to the SFC for the cessation
of securities brokerage business and requested the SFC to revoke
the Type 1 license. The Type 1 license was revoked by the SFC on
19 July 2024.

Customer relationship of HK$1,140,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of corporate
consulting business and was valued as of the respective date of
acquisition by an independent qualified valuer on the basis of
the excess earnings method under the income approach. The
management of the Group considered customer relationship has
finite useful lives of 5 years and is amortised on a straight-line
basis. It has been fully amortised during the current year.

Blockchain technology of HK$14,040,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of digital business in
the financial year of 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, blockchain technology with the
net carrying amount of HK$11,823,000 was attributable to
the Digital Business CGU with which the goodwill amount
was recognised. The management of the Group considered
blockchain technology had finite useful lives and was amortised
on a straight-line basis over 9.5 years. As the recoverable amount
of the Digital Business CGU was approximately HK$14.4 million,
which exceeded its carrying amount, there is a headroom of
approximately HK$2.3 million. Therefore, no impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of the
impairment assessment of that cash-generating unit are set out
in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 23 December 2024, the Group served the option notice on
the Vendors (as defined in Note 38) to exercise the put option
which shall require the Vendors to repurchase the entire issued
share capital of the NOIZChain at the repurchase consideration.
The disposal was completed on 23 December 2024. Details were
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 13 June 2022, 4
July 2022, 22 July 2024, 23 December 2024 and Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Fina
=B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FRAEEE
COST: B
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 7R2023F1H1H~2023F 128318 &
and 1 January 2024 20241 H1H 10,498
Derecognition upon expiration of lease TEEH B AR IE TSR (10,498)
Addition BE 3,537
3,537
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: REtinE .
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 3,936
Depreciation for the year FRITE 3,579
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 120235 12H31H 20245 181H 7,515
Depreciation for the year FRNITE 3,278
Derecognition upon expiration of lease TEEH B AR IEFE SR (10,498)
At 31 December 2024 2024512831H 295
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: IREFRE :
At 31 December 2024 7R2024F12831H 3,242
At 31 December 2023 22023%F12831H 2,983
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Payment for lease regarding right-of-use ~ EREEERE X
assets 3,382 4,056
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HATA SN E R 79 80
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R ARZE 3,461 4,136
The right-of-use assets represent the Group's right to use FREBSEEAERRBELCSHEZHNAE

underlying leased premises under operating lease arrangements
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 2 years (2023: 3 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

W ERARMEEYERERN » BT
BERITERS) U E & EERERR

HEETEE.

KMEEE ~xEBAEXBEHEEZE
MAE - HEGHEERRD2E (2023F :
3F) - HEMRMDIRERERER > HAEF
(B 17 0 B A% 1 o 7 728 € 10 B HA R A 5T A A~ )
RERF AERAXBANESR UEES _
HBJAITHIHAMR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO REMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REEQTNERE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At beginning of the year RER] - 522
Dividend income from an associate KE—EEEQBE B WA - (60)
Share of loss for the year FERNDIEEE - (462)
At end of the year KR - =
Details of the Group’s associates are as follows: AEEBSATNFEBUT !
Particulars of Place of Percentage of
Name of company issued capital incorporation interest held Principal activities
RERTE ERTRAFE SEMBtES HAERZB DL FTEER
2024 2023

20244 20234

Articoin Limited (“Articoin”) HK$100  Hong Kong - 20% Art technology

Articoin Limited (I Articoin J) 10087t & By Sk

Mapxus Metaverse US$256,411 British Virgin - 28% Indoor map on
Investment Limited Islands blockchain digital
("Mapxus”) twin

BREFTFHEERRAE 256,411 HBERHEE EIREHBEL B AN
(M @) =Sl

The equity interest in Articoin and Mapxus has been disposed Articoin e BB 5N R EBE R A E B X E

following the Group serving the option notice to exercise BEBINUTERLEEREE  EFE

the put option, which requires the vendors to repurchase the REFZELKE (EXRBHE38) EL

entire issued share capital of NOIZChain at the Repurchase NOIZChainN 2 B ETR A - ZHEFIE

Consideration (as defined in Note 38). This disposal was BR20245F12823H 5/ °

completed on 23 December 2024.




19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information of the Articoin
extracted from its management accounts for the year ended

31 December 2023 is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

19. REEATINER @

8% B ArticoinEi Z£2023F12831H
HNEEREBNPYBERNBEENT :

&=

Articoin Articoin
As at 31 December 4128318
Current assets MENE E 103
Current liabilities mEAaE (794)
Net assets BETEE (691)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in Articoin:  EAZNEE E(LArticoinfE & ¥R
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBBEA ML 20%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBEEHE AR EE SRR =
Carrying amount of the investment KRER@E -
Revenue WA 301
Loss for the year FANEE (431)
Other comprehensive income HM2 A (300)
Total comprehensive income EEUWALEEE (731)
Dividend received from the associate HEE QB EWERNE R 60
Reconciliation to the Group's share of REEE(EArticoinZE AR AR -

result in Articoin:
Proportion of the Group's ownership NEB AN L 20%
Group's share of loss of the associate KEBDEHEABINEE (62)




. GAnEEENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. REEQATNER @

The summarised financial information of the Mapxus and its
subsidiary (“Mapxus Group”) extracted from its management
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

HiEREFRENBAR (TEEFER))
HE2023F12B31HIEFENEBEKREN
PHEERNEENT :

2023
20234
HK$'000
FHET
Mapxus Group B EE
As at 31 December 4128318
Current assets MENE E 69
Current liabilities mEIaE (462)
Net assets BETEE (393)
Reconciliation to the Group'’s interest in MAERELEEFERED SR
Mapxus Group:
Proportion of the Group's ownership NEBEA ML 28%
Group's share of net assets of the associate NEBEEHE AR BE TR =
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE =
Revenue YA =
Loss for the year FANEE (1,810)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mA =
Total comprehensive income S HEALREE (1,810)
Dividend received from the associate HEE QB B WERNE R =
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of SEERGEEEFEEZENHR
result in Mapxus Group:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEER NG 28%
Group's share of loss of the associate REBDEHE QB REE (400)




20.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &;ZE20244F

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Group has financial assets classified as FVOCI, which was
investment of ordinary shares in a private company, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in year 2019. Subsequently,
following a series of reorganisation with additions of shell
intermediate holding companies, the Group indirectly holds
ordinary shares with 5.75% (2023: 9.55%) ownership of
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, with
carrying amount of approximately HK$4,419,000 (2023:
HK$1,473,000) as at 31 December 2024. The increase in fair
value of this financial asset of approximately HK$2,946,000
(2023: decrease in fair value of HK$315,000) has been dealt
with in other comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

On 22 February 2022, the Group acquired 43.75% of the
issued share capital of a private company, with the aim of
involving in the investment in special purpose acquisition
company (“SPAC") projects with 2.88% effective equity
interest, at a consideration of US$350,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,730,000). On 6 October 2023, the SPAC
projects is terminated and the Group is entitled to a refund
of US$242,900 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,895,000),
which represents 69.4% of the original US$350,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,730,000) subscription
funds. The increase in fair value of this financial asset of
approximately HK$630,000 has been dealt with in other
comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Notes to the Consolidated Finan

20.

ﬁ é l\

UAFEESARMEEIL
BE

SEBEESEALUAFTEES AH
ABAZEREE AH—HALAAS
BROEFENKE  ZRABNR2019FF
SEM AL c Hig o 838 — R T A R i
REEERAR AEEBEEE B
BREZEEFEMMIIBATS5.75% (2023
F:9.55%) WEERK EREER2024
F12831H4%4,419,00058 75 (20234
1,473,000587T) c ZIEZMEENLQFEE
B I0492,946,00078 7T (20234 | AFEER
/1315,000587T) EREE2024F12831H ‘
IEFENEMEEBARUAFEEESAR '
2 EUR A RSN o

1202252822 H » A& B LI {E350,0005
7T (BE R 492,730,00058 75) WeBE—RIFA A
NEB43.75% EETRA > LS HEKE
HREMKREAR (ME%ENKEAR))
2.88% B HEMIBE °iR2023F1086H »
HRENWEBATERRILL MAaEEEEE
BIEFRIE242,900%= 7T (FHE 491,895,000
BT)  FBE R 350,000k 75 FBERKY
2,730,000 7T) REEEM69.4% ° Z B
BEENAFEEEIMA630,0008 T ER
HE2023F 1283 1HIEFENEMZEU
ARMAFEBEF AEMEEUW A EERE
1o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F128331HIEFE

5

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. UAFEBEAABHGZEHNEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT THET

Investment in a private company ®te @ R—ZHKIMARBRIRE @@ 547 263
Put option in relation to acquisition of BN — R E A BB RS G EAE

a subsidiary ™t ®) (Note 38) ) (ff2£38) - —

Listed equity instrument in Hong Kong at &B LEHRATE  #HHEE

market value Mete @ i) 395 407

Investments in concerts ®ete (@) EIE G % B W) - 3,901

942 4,571

Less: Non-current portion B IERENE D (547) (263)

Current portion T EB 395 4,308

Notes: =

(@)  On 29 October 2020, the Group entered into a simple agreement (@  £2020410529H > AEEE—FMAA
for future equity with a private company to grant the Group the 5] 57 3L oA 2R fl 48 i B8 17 o - %2 T 7 4 [ U
future right to acquire certain shares of the private company BETZAARERMBKRKER > KB
at a consideration of US$150,000 (equivalent to approximately #%150,0005 7t (1 E/°491,170,0004 7T) °
HK$1,170,000). The right is classified as financial asset at FVPL. ZEANW DB UAFEES ARG ZE
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the private company ROEE o BE2024F 128310 IEFE &
allotted preference shares to the Group, and the Group holds ARBAXEBEZFELR MAERE
0.86% of the private company indirectly through an intermediate BRERBEERA ZAAF0.86%
structure. The increase in fair value of this financial asset of o ZEERE EN A TEEE 284,000
HK$284,000 (2023: decrease in fair value of HK$56,000) has %E(ZOZBEZ/L\\:FTETE»&’/'\%,OOO%JE) >
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December %ﬁ§&§2024$12531 BIEEENERT
2024. 5o ©

(b)  The put option has been exercised following the Group disposed (b) SEARDHAEEBENOIZChain2H B
the entire issued share capital of NOIZChain. Details were set out BETRABTE - FBEHINEIATBEHA
in the Company's announcements dated 13 June 2022, 4 July 202268 13H \20224*:!57545 \20245-!57
2022, 22 July 2024 and 23 December 2024 and Note 38 to the FB228%20245F123238 2 AEU KRGS
consolidated financial statements. The decrease in fair value of HMBRERINE38 - ZTHEMEEZ A FE
this financial assets of HK$53,000 has been recognised in profit {ER53,00078 7T B[ # 22023512531
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023. BIEFENEm PR -

() Fair value of the listed equity instrument in Hong Kong has (c) EEBLHHNRATANATEEHZR
been determined by reference to its quoted market price at the HtRE A MEERE TSN M5 REE
reporting date in an active market. Fair value of the listed trading o LHRFHEAKRENATFTEERE—
portfolio investment is Level 1 recurring fair value measurement. BEREMAFEESE-ZATHMEERN
The decrease in fair value of this financial asset of HK$12,000 has NEEEBI 2,009@75575’:‘%62‘%2024
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 12831 HIEFERBm P (2023F | 2
2024 (2023: increase in fair value of HK$95,000). (B {EEN95,00077T) ©

(d)  The Group entered into several investment agreements to invest () #ZEEBTHELE S URERE
in the production/organisation of certain concerts, which entitle MRS TIRIEE > IR IRAR R KB 17 AR N
the Group to, among others, the rights to share the net profit AEEGE (HPgE) BEAEEEN
or loss of the respective concerts and entertainment events A8 BRI IS B e 4R 4478 B ) 115 % i A B 5 48
attributable to the Group, as appropriate, in accordance with BYRER] o RS AN M0 FESB B > A EBRIZA S
the terms of the respective investment agreements. The Group BRENRENBE B ZERENMA 0%
measured, at initial recognition, the cost of these investments ERARBSHARNEAED S EBEDL
based on the cash considerations for these investments. Their ZEREANGHARRRE B FERNAF
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period represented BE-BE2024F12831H FIESHY
the fair values of the estimated net future cash flows from B SMER AR TIF B M - REERE
these investments attributable to the Group. All production BUATEESABEZ THEESTRS
and organisation of concerts have been completed as of 31 790,000 7T (20234 © f%) > B## % Hith
December 2024. The financial asset at FVPL for investment in FEWRTE - Z 5 BB B B [L2023F128
concert amounted to HK$790,000 (2023: Nil) was transferred to 3THBATEETSE B/ & B IEEEED
other receivables.The fair value of investments in concerts as at HANGERSETC ZREMEEZA
31 December 2023 were determined by reference to a valuation FEEEIN181,0008 T E R EFE20235F
repo by independent qualified valuer. The increase in fair 128318 L FEMB m T

assets of HK$181,000 had been recognised
ended 31 December 2023.
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23.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2024
20244
HK$'000
FHT
Digital assets inventories BISEERFS -
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. B EWRIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Trade receivables & 5 EWRIE 5,673 4,969
Less: Provision for impairment losses B OREREEEE (2,062) (1,102)
3,611 3,867

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$6,280,000.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has credit control
procedures established to monitor credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

The Group does not hold collateral over the trade receivables.

On 31 July 2023, the Group applied to the SFC for the
cessation of securities brokerage business and requested
the SFC to revoke the Type 1 license. The Type 1 license was
revoked by the SFC on 19 July 2024. As a result, no trade
receivables from cash clients and HKSCC were recorded as of
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

K2023F1R1B REFRGHNEZ B
IR 736,280,000 7T

FEREHERZEBERRREBZUEER
T EEH—RA—BR -SBREFRARS
S EPREE o A 5 B AR AR 2 ) R 408 2 FEUWRBR
o lRBEEEEFUEREERR 8
EEASSTERRFBHIN - B 5 BUR
BERRE -

AEBTEMREZEWRREFARTR

R2023F7B31H  AEBHEBETRABR
IERE SRR WEREBE S HEHH 1488
BR o BRE B EN2024F7 B 190 S5 14818
B AL REE2024F %2023F12H31H
EFEETERERERETEREBEERN
M E 5 WIS




 ROMBEEME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. BESRWHIE @
Details of trade receivables as at the end of reporting period, REEHR > EZRWEENFEBUNT :

are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables from financial services HHEEUIN SRR EEHN
business other than dealing in securities & 5 e IE 2,941 2,253
Trade receivables from corporate consulting 1280275 2B 5 B IE
business 637 508
Trade receivables from digital business IS EBZ N E 5 WA 33 988
3,611 3,749
Trade receivables from the business of HHEEEBNE S EWIE
dealing in securities
— Brokers — &5 - 118
- 118
3,611 3,867
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment RIBEHR REESFEEMUINEBNES
losses, arising from business other than dealing in securities as FEWFRIE (N FRIBE R 1E) MERE D i (1RE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date ZHE) WM :
are as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 885 2,346
31 to 60 days 312604 1,145 1,163
61 to 120 days 61%F120H 93 88
Over 120 days 120H L £ 1,488 152

3,611 3,749




23.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=20

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the expected credit loss under lifetime
expected credit loss for trade receivables for the years ended

Notes to the Consolidated

23. BZEWRIIE @

B E2024F K%2023F12831 F

PREBREETE2HRAREEEE T

31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: BB
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
impaired) impaired)
2 HATEHA 2 HATEHA
EEE1E EEEE
(RmEERE) (EERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
At 1 January 2023 712023FE181H - 3,897
Impairment loss/(reversal of FENRERBES

impairment loss) for the year OB fEE5 18 £ [0]) 13 (85) (72)
Written off of trade receivables e B 5 el wIE - (2,723) (2,723)
At 31 December 2023 and 72023FE12831H &

1 January 2024 2024F181H 13 1,089 1,102
Impairment loss for the year FRNRERE 429 561 990
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ENEBEAR - (30) (30)
At 31 December 2024 $220245%12831H 442 1,620 2,062




 ROMBEEME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, FE(IFRIE - ¥ K H M AW RIE

RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Prepayments FETIE 410 1,062

Deposits and other receivables tote) ¥ 5 Fo Hh FE Uz g e 5,183 1,606

5,593 2,668

Less: Provision for impairment losses B OREREEEE (213) (17)

5,380 2,651

Less: Non-current portion BB EN &L (774) (1,358)

Current portion mEE D 4,606 1,293

Note:

Included in the balance is an amount due from a former subsidiary
amounted to approximately HK$3,531,000 (2023: Nil).

The movements in the expected credit loss under 12-months
expected credit loss for the deposits and other receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

5T

SR EIE R — AT B A B M IEA3,531,000
HIT (20234 : M) o

HE2024F K2023F 12831 BIELEE S
REAMERIEE12E B BEEEEEIE TN
BHEEBENESIT !

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

At 1 January ®1A1H 17 20
Impairment loss/(reversal of FRRERE (RERBE[D)

impairment loss) for the year 196 (3)

At 31 December 128318 213 17
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=202

Notes to the Consolidated Fi

LOAN RECEIVABLES FEWE =R
2024
20244
HK$’000
FET
Gross loans and interest receivables BB R H S4B 3,733
Less: Provision for impairment loss R EBEEE (489)
3,244

Note: HiaE -

As at 31 December 2024, loan receivables with gross principal amount
of HK$3,710,000 (2023: HK$5,170,000) in aggregate and related gross
interest receivables of HK$23,000 (2023: HK$102,000) were due from
two (2023: four) independent third parties. These loans are interest-
bearing at fixed rates ranging from 8% to 12% (2023: 8% to 15%) per
annum and was repayable within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and therefore were classified as current assets as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held collateral over loan receivables
with gross amount of HK$1,727,000 (2023: Nil). Reversal of impairment
loss of HK$622,000 (2023: impairment loss of HK$25,000) has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The movements in the expected credit loss for loan receivables for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

R2024F12H31H > &5t A &42%83,710,00078 7T

(20234 : 5,170,000 75) Z FEUR S =R 18 R FE
UK F1) S 48%E23,00078 75 (20234 102,000 7T) °
Thmis (20234 : %) BYE=FFE R &ZE
EXIZ8%E12%EEFFZEEE (2023F | 8% =E
15%) » AR EHAREST 1218 8 AEE > FLbR
20245 K%2023F12B31H oA BB E

R2024F 128310 AEBFERBRERILE R
48%81,727,00058 75 (20234 : ) - HZE20244F12
B31HILFEE  BEREEE622,000% 7T (2023
£ 1 {EE1825,000587T) BN B RS o

HE20245E K2023FE 12831 IEEE  ERER
NIEMREEFEEEEWT :

2024 2023

202445 20234

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 January ®1B1H 1,111 1,086
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss FR CRERBERRD) RERRE

for the year (622) 25

At 31 December "®12831H8 489 1,111

ANNUAL REPORT F# « 2024



g A

RO

25.

Rt 5 ¥R 2R Bf 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for loan receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

25. EWEF @

HE2024F %2023F 12831 B IEEEE

EMIREBENHROT ¢

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

FH—PEEL B PEER et

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHT

At 1 January 2023 K2023F1818 — 4,789 4,789

New loans originated EEENHER 2,121 603 2,724

Repayment B (101) (2,140) (2,241)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12831H &

1 January 2024 2024%F181H 2,020 3,252 5,272
New loans originated BELENITHER - 465 465
Repayment B - (2,004) (2,004)
Transfer 23 (2,020) 2,020 -
At 31 December 2024 £2024412831H - 3,733 3,733

The movements in the expected credit loss in respect of loan
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is

HE2024F K%2023F 12831 B IEFEREI

EMNEREEHBEZHNT :

as follows:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
FE—PEE B REER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FH7T
At 1 January 2023 12023FE181H = 1,086 1,086
Impairment loss/(reversal of FENRERBE
impairment loss) for the year CRER a5 E) 421 (396) 25
At 31 December 2023 and 722023128318 &
1 January 2024 20241818 421 690 1,111
Reversal of impairment loss for £ P Jl & &5 18 5 [0]
the year - (622) (622)
Transfer i (421) 421 -
At 31 December 2024 2024 12831H - 489 489
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

&=

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BRWER @
An ageing analysis of the loan receivables, net of impairment MRS R UFER &4 2 HA B 1 40 bR
losses as at the end of the reporting period, based on the BEENEWERNRESTAT -
remaining contractual maturity date is set out below:
2024
202445
HK$’000
FHET
Overdue # A -
Due within 3 months 318 A W EIER -
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 318 B & {B6{&8 8 R ZI &8 1,768 2,593
Due after 6 months but within 9 months 6188 & {B9{E 8 R 2 &8 1,476 =
3,244 4,161
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. RITHEGRIAE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT TFET
Bank balances — trust accounts IR1T4EERR — EsLiRp 03 - 70
Bank balances and cash — general accounts  $RfT&ER RIS — —RERE 6,375 14,127
6,375 14,197

Note: The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients in the
course of the conduct of the regulated activities. These clients
money are maintained in a trust bank account and a financial
institution and bear interest at commercial rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding trade payables to respective clients
(Note 28).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank balances and cash
— general accounts amounted to approximately HK$6,375,000
(2023: approximately HK$14,127,000), nil was denominated
in RMB, approximately HK$5,436,000 was denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars and approximately HK$939,000 in United
States Dollars (2023: approximately HK$80,000, approximately
HK$14,047,000 and nil respectively). Therein, approximately
HK$6,348,000 (2023: approximately HK$13,855,000) were
bank balances deposited with credit worthy banks of high
credit ratings in Hong Kong. There is no pledged deposit as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

M AEBEETRAEEHRFRNLEE R
FHEERHRE - ZEEXRHNRER—ERE
SERITIRP R ERBRE L ZEER X
SRR AEHERIBNITANERE

ZEARIE (M15E28) ©

R2024F 128318 > A&EE Z RITAEER IR
& ——MRBR P A%96,375,00058 75 (20234 :
#314,127,000%87T) » EUAREE UKk
435,436,000 T U A L5 B K £9939,000
BT ETEHE (20234 5 5] %4980,000
BIT 414,047,000 T RE) c HERH
6,348,00078 7t (20234F : 4913,855,0007& 7T)
AERNRESEESEETIREEERETIR
T2 IR1T46R - B = 20244 2023512831
B #EE IR ERo

>
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27.

} tes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Rt 5 ¥R 2R Bf 5

LEASE LIABILITIES

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of the carrying amounts of lease liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

27. HE&R

WEFHWMT :

and the movements during the years are as follows:

SIAGREMBRRERNEEaGEREERSE

Land and
buildings
TR g F
HK$'000
FH7T
At 1 January 2023 7R2023FE1H1H 6,825
Interest expenses MEMZ 226
Lease payments HEMR (4,056)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 2023F12831H K%2024F181H 2,995
Addition of lease liabilities BmEEaE 3,537
Interest expenses MEMZ 79
Lease payments HENAR (3,382)
At 31 December 2024 720245 12831H 3,229
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Minimum lease payment due RERAE AP TRREEIE
— Within one year — — %R 1,864 3,043
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive —E_EFhF (BiEEEMF) 1,525 —
3,389 3,043
Less: Future finance charges B RRMEER (160) (48)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEBERE 3,229 2,995




27.

28.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=202

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Fi

27. HE&FE®@®

2024
20245
HK$'000
FET

—FRN

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

F_ERAF (BFEEEME) 1,494

1,735

3,229

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities at 5.82% (2023: 4.89%) for the years ended 31
December 2024.

HE2024E12831HIEEE - BRAREES
BN EE EEHRNE%5.82% (2023
F 1 4.89%) ©

Other lease disclosures HthfAEHKE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Aggregate undiscounted commitments FEERTE B R RE IR AR IR AR ER
for short-term leases 34 4

TRADE PAYABLES

Details of trade payables as at the end of reporting period are
as follows:

28. B FE(IRIBE

RI|ERFR > EZERARBENFBENOT !

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FHET
Trade payables from the business of HHEEXBNE S ENNIE
dealing in securities
— Cash clients — HEREF - 188

On 31 July 2023, the Group applied to the SFC for the
cessation of securities brokerage business and requested
the SFC to revoke the Type 1 license. The Type 1 license was
revoked by the SFC on 19 July 2024. As a result, no trade
payables from cash clients were recorded as of the year ended
31 December 2024.

R2023F7831 0 ZEBHEEZHAFR
IR E R ¥R T ERSETRHIEE1E
hREE o SEBE & 1220247 B 198 BEH S5 14812
FBo AL #ZE2024FE 12831 H IEEE I
KRR ERNE ZEMRIE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

29. HMFERIERKRERIE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Other payables Mote @ L FE < RRIE () 10,211 3,579
Accruals FEStRRIE 1,468 3,776
11,679 7,355

Less: Non-current portion (Nete ©) B IETREN & (@) (224) =
Current portion e BB 11,455 7,355

Note:

(a) Other payables and accruals mainly comprised of amounts due to
a director of approximately HK$9,776,000 (2023: HK$1,889,000),
accrued office expenses and provision of long service payment.

The amounts due to a director is unsecured, interest bearing
at 5% to 11% per annum and repayable within one year.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the amounts
due to a director have been extended for a term due more
than twelve months from the date these consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue.

(b) Defined contribution plan

The Group participates in a MPF Scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by the employee.

There are not any forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

(c) Defined benefit plan obligations

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to Long Service and
Severance Payments (“LSP”) in accordance with the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract
is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The amount of
payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final
t HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced
crued benefits derived from the Group’s
ith an overall cap of HK$390,000
. not have any separate
LSP obligation.

B -

(a)

(b)

(c)

HE A RBEREt A ABERN—RES
FRIE#99,776,00078 7T (20234 : 1,889,000
BT B MAERX R RARBERERA

BN —2EENRER BRI BER XK
5%FE11%st BLAR —FAREE-RN|E
HERE BN —REEZENEBEREZ
iR BRRZETIEBRESBE T+
& 3 Z HAFR

REMMETE

FEFRBELERGIEABE S EEMIRIL
gt dl o8z EERLAER2EE
PTHEE UTHASTIABEZESFH &
EEBZTEER ZHREABRF SR A
5% B TINELR B

FEBBEREFBERDRAHRKTHR
W itk

RERFFBERE

RIFEEEBEG E&ETERT  BEE
SERVEFZEEEEFEESRIPRY
+ ((RERBES) - 2B RBERERETIE
RILEREBRHE B M RRE  BEF655%
U EER BT SEEENSE T HRITE
FRHBRESEN BNEHERE 22
Bk 2EREZ R+ (ER%22,500
BT RREER NRERAEEEESEE
mREET 2 ERZ REREEE 54
BE 2 2EE FE2390,0008 50 BRI &
B A ETERPRESEEMKILEM
BuUESZHE-



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z202445

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(c)

Defined benefit plan obligations (Continued)

The offsetting mechanism between MPF and LSP will be
abolished on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Among
other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before, on or after the
Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date. However, where an employee’s
employment commenced before the Transition Date, the
employer can continue to use the above accrued benefits to
reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service up to that
date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with
respect to Hong Kong employees.

The present value of unfunded obligations and its movements
are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

29. HhFEMNRIERESRIE @

e

5T - (48
(0 HRERIFIEE @

SRR B R A AR 2 0 B R A R B
F5818 (MBEBH) BUE - Kt
BERRE PG ML BEBBIEHB
A FEAERGMERBEEER (FmE
EHBZA EHRZRERZHR) FAE
EZERNRERDRVERESREZ
HRBE 22T MESNBERMIEHR
HRE AEZIEEER LERE#m
MOBEZALELERERBZRARBE ;
S RBEBBAINREBZ RBART S
RREESZREEBRNZAFKEESB
EERZRBERSE

REBEEE2022F BB IR AR EED
(RsEZHE) (B:D) R EBXBAERY
BEEENRARFSEE-

REBEEENREREESH25MT !

2024 2023

20244 20235

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiET FHET

Balance at 1 January R1B1H 4R 171 =
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RiBmERZ X

Current service cost 2R A 13 38

Interest cost A E M2 40 7

Past service cost BERBRA - 126

Balance at 31 December R12831 8 4R 224 171

The above expenses are included in the employee benefits
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (Note 9). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, there is no significant actuarial
assumptions for the determination of the LSP obligation.

HHRXEst AGReBEm REMEE KT
R2ZEEEAFHEZ (HE9) - A ABESRR
P EERMRFEEFUBEABER

S
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

_ 30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 30. EEMERR
' 2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
As at 1 January K1B1H 390 431
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 38) HE B A (#77£38) 98 =
Credit to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) st AEREm (K5£12) (9) (41)
As at 31 December R12831H 479 390
The deferred tax liabilities arising from amortisation of RERIBEERE B EERHE -
intangible assets.
31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 31. HRES
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET
2008 CBs (as defined below) Mot @ 2008F PIHA IR B
(EB BT M) _ -
2022 CBs (as defined below) Mete ®) 2022 F AR ES
(EER T Wwaw) - 70,214
2023 CB (as defined below) Mete © 2023F AR ES
(EER T ) Wae) - 7,717

- 77,931




31.

Notes:

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

2008 CBs

On 12 August 2008, the Company issued a convertible bonds
as part of the consideration for the acquisition of forest
concessions in Papua, Indonesia (the “2008 CBs").

Subject to the restrictions specified below (the “Conversion
Restriction”), the 2008 CBs are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.1 per share (subject to adjustments as
provided in the terms and conditions of the 2008 CBs) at any
time from the date of issue and ending on the fifth business day
before the third anniversary of the date of issue:

. The bondholders do not have the right to convert any
principal amount of the 2008 CBs into new shares of
the Company thereof, if upon such conversion, Merdeka
Commodities Limited and the parties acting in concert
with it will be interested in 30% (or such amount as may
from time to time be specified in the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Repurchases as being the level
for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company at the date
of relevant conversion;

3 The conversion of the 2008 CBs shall not cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float
requirement as stipulated under Rule 11.23 of the GEM
Listing Rules; and

3 The bondholders do not have the right to convert any
2008 CBs with the principal amount falling between the
range of HK$350,000,000 to HK$776,880,000 at any
time during the period from the issue date up to and
inclusive of the date that falls on the first anniversary of
the issue date.

The 2008 CBs are unsecured, interest-free and have an initial
maturity date at 12 August 2011. Unless converted into the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), the outstanding balance
of the 2008 CBs would be redeemed in full on maturity.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

31.

Mt -

(a)

AMRES @

s

2008 Al IR B 5

HR2008F8B12H » XA B & 17 A]
Lo FARBEEEHEERME
o2 (T2008F AT IR E S ) ©

EHEEATRE REFOPESTH
MW BEZASAEEE0 RN
BB R 5 RInEEM0. 18T (TRE
2008 AT R R E % E R RAE LTI RE
%) §520084E AR BB RIRBE AT
HIEA > ME T AR IR G (RS PRE)) :

o R R #2718 > Merdeka Commodities
Limited & B H —2 178 A LA 4878
RBBHREELA LD ERZERE
AEBHTRE30% (HATKE &
HERMBLETAAERRHIEES
fEEatlEEmB B ENKFE R
REDL) i E#% RIESES
N A B B A5 120084 7] #1 iR
BHEZREBRIVABRREIKD ;

. RIR2008F AR BEHF A FER LK
AEERGEMETRAFE11.2318F
SRZERBARKERERE ; &

. BEBEFEA AZ2008FE 0B ES
A£ENF350,000,0008TE
776,880,000/ 2B & RETH
HESRTHER—BFEZH (BES
B B) L HA RSP (A B S AR
o

2008F AR B S ABEIEIF - RERIEA
ZHIE A2011E8812H - BRIERIBAABERA
TR (TRR1% 1) > TRI2008E T IR &S
5 A SR IR RREB A A Bl BB R B BB (] o

>
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

31.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

By the first supplemental deed dated 30 May 2011, the maturity
date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2011 to 12 August 2014. Upon becoming effective of the first
supplemental deed, the Company might at any time during
the period commencing from the date of extension to the new
maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the outstanding
2008 CBs at par on a pro rata basis. Also, the Conversion
Restriction was removed. Apart from the extension of the
maturity date, the conversion period, the early redemption right
and the removal of the Conversion Restriction, all terms of the
2008 CBs remain unchanged.

By the second supplemental deed dated 9 July 2014, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and
the conversion period was accordingly extended from 12
August 2014 to 12 August 2017. Upon becoming effective
of the second supplemental deed, the Company might at any
time during the period commencing from the date of extension
to the new maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the
outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata basis.

Upon effective of the second supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected to the Group. Gain on extinguishment
of convertible bonds of approximately HK$39,480,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2014.

By the third supplemental deed dated 20 January 2017, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and
the conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2017 to 12 August 2020 (the “Previous Maturity Date”).
Upon becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the
Company might at any time during the period commencing from
the date of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to redeem
the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata
basis. Also, the conversion price and the adjustment events to
the conversion price had been changed. The conversion price
have been adjusted to HK$0.095 per share.

Upon effective of the third supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors of the Company with reference to
valuation report issued by International Valuation Limited, an
alified valuer not connected with the Group.
of convertible bond of approximately
in the profit or loss for the year

31.

AMRES @

Mzt (&)

(a)

2008 AI GRS (48)

I AHA2011E5830H 2 E— KR
iz 2008 F A MMRES ZEHHALER=
& MAAREZ AR HABR2011E8H12HE
RE201458812B ME—HBREELE
M AAB R RERIEELR HEZ HEH
BB MR BEEZLEHEL 2
DR R Z2008FE TR ESH F
Hh > IR EIE BIBR o PRIER EIHA H K AT 14
& HA ~ 1% 5 BB O] 7 K 2 bR R HRBR ISk - 2008
FER AR ES N R IR ET R o

HEITIAEA2014E7R98 2 E M@ %R
LI 2008 FE A BRESFZEHRER=
Fo MR Z AR HEF20145FE8 8 12H JE
EZE2017F8B 12B - RE MG HRZEE
& AT A RIE R B € X #H 2
B HA R 2 A {1 BF RS > % bE 61) B (2] & 2B ok 36
DR Z2008F PR E o

RE_GHERZEERB EFESZHE
EETHEBAENBIISERGEMBSE
B EARARDHAENGEERS > £2008
FERMRESETHE FHARRES
Z W5 4939,480,0008 T BRE E201445F
12831 B IEFEEREFPR -

RIFEAHIA2017F1B20HENE=S@7R
iz 2008 F A MMRESNEHALER=
£ MR BEAEEBE2017E8B 12BERE
202088 12H (FAFERIMAB)) -RE=1H
HWRZBEERE SXATAREEREH
EEBEEE Z MR ZEEfED
2RO KRR Z2008FE ] R (E % o
BE RBRERRRERAESHEET R
MEERAEAERK0.0958 T °

RE=ZGHAZBEERE  ZRAFAEES
ZHRAEBRETEBAENBISCERGE
BRI HAERASHENGEERS &
2008 F AI AR (B 5 1T (18 o EIH AT IR AR
E5 2 WFHE#A31,162,0008B T ERERE
20175 12831H IEFEMEE PR -



For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 202441

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

Upon effective of the Share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.001 each in
the share capital of the Company will be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.01 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$0.95 per share.

By the fourth supplemental deed dated 10 January 2020, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for a further
term of three years from 13 August 2020 to 12 August 2023.
Upon becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the
Company might at any time during the period commencing
from the date of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a
pro rata basis. Also, the conversion price of the 2008 CBs be
revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to HK$0.110 per
conversion share with effect from 13 August 2020 (subject to
adjustments). Save for the above amendments, all other terms
of the 2008 CBs remain unchanged and valid. On 29 June 2020,
the Company made a partial redemption in the principal amount
of HK$55,000,000 on part of the 2008 CBs.

Upon effective of the fourth supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by an independent qualified valuer not connected with
the Group. Gain on modification of terms of convertible bonds
of HK$2,502,000 and loss on redemption of convertible bonds
of HK$2,444,000 were recognised in the profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation
on the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) of par value of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.1 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$1.100 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue (the
“2021 Rights Issue”) and allotted and issued 346,310,897
Shares, on the basis of five (5) rights shares for every two
(2) Shares held on 28 June 2021 at the subscription price of
HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the completion of the 2021
Rights Issue, the conversion price of 2008 CBs was adjusted to
HK$0.90 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of 2022 CBs, the principal amount of HK$55,000,000
of 2008 CBs was offset and settled with the subscription price of
2022 CBs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financi

AMRES @
W (@)

(a) 2008£ETRHfRfES (1&)

RIRHBEHERR  BERNERERE
+REREE.001 B THNEETRR
KRORKEHDA—RESREE.01A T
fHhg{n > 2008 FE IR EFRIMEEH
#ER0.95%8 7T °

RIEA#A2020F1B108 MW E MM T
ik 2008 FE A MR ESFHEHHBER
=4 H2020E88 138 EREE2023FE88 ‘
N RE=ZMNETZBEENE  SAF
ARIEREHEHREBEEHEE Z EMEF

R 2 EEpIRER 2 202 2 R R 22008
FARES - BE > 2008F A AR EHH
DMBEHRERRIARPD0.9SBTIETAE

e R (50.110% 75 » FH20205E8H13H

EE (A T %) ok EH(E5T 4 > 2008
EOBRRESNEEMERERTER

B 12020568290 » " AT R A EEE
55,000,000 7T 2F £ A& (212 008 £ A] #A f& 1&

g;o

REMPHEAZIBREN B EFTLEHAR
ERTERENBIIGERGEMHEN
{HERES > H2008FE o/ R EHFETEE
1EET AT AR B 5 IR R UL 22,502,00078 7T
T BE (0] o] 2 fR B 35 BV 5 382,444,000 T E,
REE2020F12831H IEFENEBH PR

=
B0 ©

72021568178 » FRAABREFRE+
BREREEBITHNAATBEETRA
BETRM (TR%B)) aHA—RESREE0.1
BTHNEHRKROZEEETHNRODEHE
& 2008 FE A MAREBESHNRINEBAES
ERTHRMH1.1008 7T

72021F7822H » AAE)SER A (M2021
FHR))  EEAZN2021F68288EF
BMQ)BERMDEEFG)RERKG %R
EESRMERIMH0.15H o8 KT
346,310,897 B& 15 o RF202 1 FEH IR B AL
%2008 F A MBRESNRAEREAES
B% AR 190.90& 7T ©

R2022F 128288 » ESE B8 R 17
2022 F IR B 518 > 2008 F A A BG E 55
A& %855,000,00078 70 £22022 FE AT R R &
SR BT REN - &
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

31.

(a)

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 31. AIBRES @
Notes: (Continued) Hiat o (48)
2008 CBs (Continued) (a) 2008 R ES (&)
On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription 1R2023F7H14H » R AT BLERAET 1L 58
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny ek B BB RGRREBEMA AR
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally BiRHREREITAEEE10,000,00074 7T
agreed to issue the convertible bond (the “2023 CB") in the BRI AR E % (T 2023F AR ESH ) (7
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible BRMEESRDIRKMH0.108E T (A F B
into conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$0.108 per B) A RBRRM) > UEBEXARATEX
conversion share (subject to adjustments)) for the settlement of 2008 F AR BB A &2£10,000,000
the outstanding debts due from the Company to the holders BITHRERER BIEBE R ER
of 2008 CBs in aggregate of HK$10,000,000. The subscription FE {3 SR R SR I A MU IR 82008 R B 518 T 4
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription AEIFE2008FEH A AN EKEHEEE
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting the aggregate 10,000,000/ 7211 » 1E & HA (KB ©
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 under the convertible bonds
as part of the consideration for the 2008 CBs and payable by the
Company to the holders of 2008 CBs.
On 31 August 2023, upon the completion of the subscription 1202348 H31H » X FE A a8 8 & 35172023
and issue of 2023 CB and the completion of share subscription, FAMERESRTRRGHRER A
all the outstanding principal amount of 2008 CBs was duly REE2008F A MRESACHEE AL
settled. Ho
The 2008 CBs contain two components, the liability and equity 20084 A A R B 5 6115 & 18 Jo #E 2 i 1B AR
components. The equity component is presented in equity as an FLER 7Y o REFRER DA TR ARG (B 25 2 o
“Equity component of convertible bonds”. DIZ2FIRARER ©
The effective interest rate of the liability component is as follow: BEFPNERFEDT :
Fourth Third Second First
supplemental supplemental supplemental supplemental
deed deed deed deed
FNREREE FEMERBE @ F_OBAEE FMHEREE
Effective interest rate BIRA=E 14.72% 10.11% 14.13% 11.66%

The effective interest rate of liability component was adjusted to
14.59% upon the modification of the terms of convertible bonds
on 28 December 2022.

R20225F12828H > RIEHR TR E S
KRB BEIONERFNEXERAEE
14.59% °




31.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

2008 CBs (Continued)

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year ended 31 December 2023 was set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Finan

31.

ﬁél

AR ES @

Hist : (48)

(a) 2008F AT AR &S (1) -4
HE2023F128318 L FEE R
BEE D BB T ¢

20234
HK$'000
FET

TREH]
FEER

At the beginning of the year

Interest charged

Derecognition by subscription of shares

Derecognition by subscription of 2023 CB
(as defined below)

BB DR AL LEFESD
BB E2023F A R &S
(BEERTX) & IEFE

128958 -
il 1333 :

(4,068)

(10,000)

At the end of the year RER

2022 CBs

On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which
Team Sunny conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible bonds (the “2022
CBs"”) in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 for the
settlement of the outstanding debts due from the Company to
Team Sunny in aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The subscription
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal
amount of HK$55,000,000 under the 2008 CBs and payable by
the Company to Team Sunny; and (ii) the outstanding principal
amount of HK$36,000,000 under Team Sunny CB and payable
by the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of
the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the
date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August
2023 shall be HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period
from 13 August 2023 up to and including the maturity date shall
be HK$0.186 per conversion share; and The conversion price per
conversion share for HK$36,000,000 of the principal amount
of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of issue of the
2022 CBs up to and including 21 May 2023 shall be HK$0.903
per conversion share and for the period from 22 May 2023
up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 per
conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the
2022 CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were
issued to Team Sunny.

(b) 2022 AR EZH

1R2022F 118148 AAR SERRET LR
B B EREGRGERERRBERAR
BB RHERREITARE£EEA91,000,000/8
TR AR ES (T 2022 AR ES)) »
MBEEBAADRTERNAREEES &L
91,000,00078 7T © JE PR 1558 B8 17 & FE 1T 1Y
RETIER BB U TS IEAA ((1)2008
F O RES T A $%855,000,00058 7T 5 K
(iVZAQA B ETERMMERTIRRES TR
{818 7~ £ %836,000,00078 7T ©

H2022FE AR EFETHHEEERS
$520234F8H 12 H #A[E > FL2022F A A fG &
# Y7 % 155,000,000 T S » SR E
RO EBIRER A S RERRRKB0.908 7T M
20234 8H13HEEEE R BIEEIH B AR
B AESRERIR0.1868 7T ; 20224
AR ES ST RBEEEEREE20234
5H21BHIR 52022 FE R R EH A&
136,000,000 T S @ & REHRRM SR
B A5 RERZPD0.9038 T » MH2023
F5E22BEEE AOEIHBBREREASE
B ERIA R 150.18678 75 ©

SR EIEN2022FE12H280# T A& E

#591,000,0007 75920224 B 44 & & 5 1 f'-
BT FIER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(b) 2022 CBs (Continued)

On 14 July 2023, the Company and the bondholder of 2022 CBs
entered into the deed of amendment, the maturity date of the
2022 CBs was extended to 31 August 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2022 CBs with
principal amount of HK$91,000,000, which conferring rights to
convert into 489,247,311 shares with the conversion price of
HK$0.186 per conversion share.

The convertible bonds contained two components, the liability
and equity components. The equity component is presented in
equity as an “Equity component of convertible bonds”. As at
31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the liability
component is approximately 16.83% per annum.

On 27 November 2024, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined in Note
34), all the outstanding principal amount of 2022 CBs was offset
and settled with the subscription price of Perpetual Convertible
Securities (as defined in Note 34).

The movement of the liability component of the convertible

31.

AR ES @
Hat (&)
(b) 2022 AR &S (1B)

1R2023F 78148 » R A B 8220225 AT %
BEHWNESHIFTE AT LB 2 202240
IR ESEIHIHIER E£202548H31H °

R2023F 128318 ARBAFEAEIES
91,000,000 72022 FE B A fR (&35 > B] 52
#1%4489,247 311K RIMEBEAERR
1A% 190.18638 7T ©

AR ESOIE A ERER M E RIS
BRI U AR ES 2 D 255
o R2023FE 128310 AEHDNE KR
FFZEL16.83% ©

R2024FE11827H > E5E 8B R EBITXKA
AIRES (EXRMEE34) & > 2022F 7
KRESNEREERETEE KA ARE
EH (EERME34) NRBERBEREN-

FRAMRESNEERBONES B RIIEH

bonds for the year was set out below: wnr
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At the beginning of the year RER) 70,214 72,175
Interest charged B UREF 2 10,658 10,786
Derecognition by subscription of Perpetual 538 5258k A Bl 1 J& 58 5 4% |EFERD
Convertible Securities (E&RME34)
(as defined in Note 34) (80,872) -
Modification of the terms of ESTRI A IRE 25 2 R0
convertible bonds - (12,747)
At the end of the year REXR - 70,214
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

2023 CB

On 14 July 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 (which are convertible into conversion shares at
the conversion price of HK$0.108 per conversion share (subject
to adjustments)) for the settlement of the outstanding debts
due from the Company to the holders of 2008 CBs in aggregate
of HK$10,000,000. The subscription amount payable by Team
Sunny under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way
of offsetting the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000
under the 2008 CBs and payable by the Company to the holders
of 2008 CBs.

On 31 August 2023, the subscription took place and the 2023
CB in the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were issued to
Team Sunny.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 2023 CB conferring
rights to convert into 92,592,592 shares with the conversion
price of HK$0.108 per conversion share.

The convertible bonds contained two components, the liability
and equity components. The equity component is presented in
equity as an “Equity component of convertible bonds”. As at
31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the liability
component is approximately 16.83% per annum.

On 27 November 2024, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined in Note
34), all the outstanding principal amount of 2023 CB was offset
and settled with the subscription price of Perpetual Convertible
Securities (as defined in Note 34).

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Finan

31. AR ESH @

Mzt (48)

(c)

2023F AR ESH

1202378140 » AAF RERET
& it B A KGR EREMmA
BIEHRREITAE2E%410,000,000
2K ES (A RLHRESKR IR
0.108% 7T (A FRE) RianRIAKRM) -
NEBA AT EMA2008E AR ESFE
AZ REBEFHS1£10,000,0008 7T ° R #
RS ERREMRBRIERERIRH
2008F A A IR B 25 18 N ASA B FE {92008 4F
AR ESFE ANAE42%810,000,000
BT

R2023E8A31H RBEEHEET &~
%87310,000,000/8 752023 F A ARG & 55
BETTERM-

120235128318 > KATEI2023F ] %
B0 F 7] 2 #792,592,592 3% A% 15 B9 1
Mo RIREASRKRBIRRK1H0.1088 7T ©

A 5% (B 25 615 & 1 K 1 = i 18 43 AR 36
DoEEBOUTEMRESH Z IO 2
B 0 122023F 128318 & E 9 H
BRENZEL16.83%

HR2024F 1182780 > ESER BB R ETK
AR RE S (ERRHE34) &2 20234
AMBRESHNMEREERASTEBEHE KA
AR S (E&E R M sE34) MR REEIRH
BBt o

FATBRESHEERIHNESE RS
HINE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
At the beginning of the year R 7,717 -
Issuance of convertible bonds BT HARRES - 7,326
Interest charged B WEFH B 1,171 391
Derecognition by subscription of BB REE KA N A IS S SR IEFESR
Perpetual Convertible Securities (E&BKizE34)
(as defined in Note 34) (8,888)
At the end of the year AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. R#&F
Number of Nominal
shares values
i & E EfE
Note in'000 HK$'000
5T T FHET
Authorised: EE .
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 220235 181H 20234
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 128318 2024F181H
F2024%12H31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREENBTZ LBK 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE
At 1 January 2023 2023F1818
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREENBTZEBER 566,729 56,673
Issuance of shares upon subscription BTG 1 37,667 3,767
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 220235128318 2024518
and 31 December 2024 18 520245128318
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREMEABTZLER 604,396 60,440

33.

Note:
1. On 31 August 2023, the Company completed a share
subscription with Team Sunny, the subscriber, by allotment

and issue of 37,666,666 Shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.108 per subscription share.

RESERVES
Nature and purpose of the reserves

(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

33.

Biat :
1. R2023F8H31H » AR E AR S ERMT

MRDBEEIE RERABERK0.1088
ToHI SR BB RD 85 K 8%1737,666,6668% & 15 ©

&

HEEERB®N

(i) RGEE
RERERERE L HREERZR
DIKREER®R A ABENENH

EEBBRERINANEGES ARG E
BRI DIKTARBIRE
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of the reserves (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of a subsidiary acquired
in prior years, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange thereof.

Equity component of convertible bonds

The value of unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

Capital reduction reserve

Capital reduction reserve is the credit arising from the
capital reduction.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve

FVOCI reserve represents gain/losses arising on
recognising financial assets classified as financial assets
at FVOCI.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina
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o
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33.

34.

RESERVES (Continued)
Nature and purpose of the reserves (Continued)
(vii) Other reserve

a)  The brought forward amount of the other reserve
arose from the acquisition of additional equity
interest in a subsidiary from non-controlling
interest in prior years.

b)  On 27 November 2024, addition of approximately
HK$17,737,000 was arisen from the variance
between the total carrying amount of 2022 CBs
(Note 31) and 2023 CB (Note 31), relevant equity
component of convertible bonds and the fair value
of the Perpetual Convertible Securities (as defined
in Note 34).

Q) On 23 December 2024, the Group has disposed
of a wholly owned subsidiary, namely NOIZChain
Limited by exercising Put Option (as defined
in Note 38) to require the Vendors (as defined
in Note 38) to repurchase the entire issued
share capital of the NOIZChain with repurchase
consideration shares of 66,666,663 ordinary shares
of the Company, amounting to approximately
HK$9,666,000. The amount was determined by
reference to the closing price of the ordinary
share of the Company on 23 December 2024
and was recognised under other reserve. As at 31
December 2024, there are 66,666,663 repurchase
consideration shares held by the Group.

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

On 10 October 2024, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which
the Company conditionally agrees to issue and the Team Sunny
conditionally agrees to subscribe for the perpetual convertible
securities in the principal amount of HK$101,000,000 (the
“Perpetual Convertible Securities”) (which are convertible
into conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$0.10 per
conversion share (subject to adjustments)). The subscription
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting the
nding principal amount of HK$91,000,000 under the
10,000,000 under the 2023 CB, details as

33.

34,

#E @

HELEREN @

(vii) Rtif#E

a)

b)

Q)

HitZ BN GBS HREBEEER
FFEREZWENE QR NEIMR
o

R2024F11827H> AEHN
17,737,000 TR B2022F Al #fg (&
% (BfEE31) &2023F AR a5 (M
5131) N4ARER B ~ Al R (& 5 8018 R
BB UR KA BRES (EER
MizE34) AT EEZBNER

R2024F 128238 A ERBBEFE BT
EEHEAE (EXRM38) HEHSE
Bt EAT (BINOIZChain Limited) >
HEBEH (EEREW38) UEIBEMNRE
%19 66,666,663 % 7~ A &) & 18 % 0] B8
NOIZChainZ2 BB E 1T AE » £FA5H
9,666,000/ Loz L REIH 2 E XA E]
TR 2024F 12823 MIRHERE
Eo MR EMEEIET c 1220244
128318 > A& EF566,666,663
EIEERERG o

KATAREE 5

1220245108108 » A B £ ERR T 1L 3
e Bk KA BB KGR R EITAERR
BRHGREREARE%4101,000,0008 T2
KAREES (kA THBERES))  EA7
RERESRERIR70.108 T (A FHAE)
A EIRRG ERRRIER B IR EENR
BESREH DUR 2022 F Al B ESE N 2
KR EIBA£%E891,000,00058 75 K% 20234 A 1A
BB  Z R EEAE%10,000,0005 7T
ZHAZ FEIEEHIHIEE31(b)K31(c)°
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PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES (Continued)

On 27 November 2024, the subscription took place and
the Perpetual Convertible Securities in the principal amount
of HK$101,000,000 were issued to Team Sunny, variance
between the total carrying amount of 2022 CB and 2023 CB,
relevant equity component of convertible bonds and the fair
value of the Perpetual Convertible Securities of approximately
HK$17,737,000 is recognised in other reserve.

The Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer
in whole or in part of any distribution (the “Deferred
Distribution”) which is otherwise scheduled to be paid on
a distribution payment date to the next distribution payment
date by giving notice to the Subscriber not less than five
business days prior to the relevant distribution payment date.
The numbers of distribution and deferral of distributions
are not subject to any limitation. If there is any Deferred
Distribution outstanding, the Company shall not declare or
pay any discretionary dividends or distributions or make any
other payment, and will procure that no dividend, distribution
or other payment is made, on any Shares of the Company; or
at its discretion repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for
any consideration any Shares prior to its stated maturity of the
Company, unless and until the Company has satisfied in full all
outstanding arrears of the Deferred Distribution.

Based on the conversion price of HK$0.10 per conversion
share, a maximum number of 1,010,000,000 conversion shares
will be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Perpetual Convertible Securities in full.

The Perpetual Convertible Securities have no fixed redemption
date. The Company shall be entitled at its sole discretion, by
giving not less than seven days’ notice to the holder of the
Perpetual Convertible Securities, propose to the holder to
redeem the outstanding Perpetual Convertible Securities, and
in certain specified circumstances specified in the agreements.

As the Perpetual Convertible Securities bear no obligation of
principal repayment and the Company has a deferral option
for the distributions, the Perpetual Convertible Bonds do not
apply to the definition for classification of financial liabilities.
Consequently, the Perpetual Convertible Securities are
classified as an equity instrument.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had the Perpetual
Convertible Securities conferring rights to convert into
1,010,000,000 shares with the conversion price of HK$0.10
per conversion share.

Notes to the Consolidated Financia
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

35. XABMBRAER

COMPANY
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi & FERT FExT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKRAR
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN I 67 =
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,094 2,321
Rental deposits HE%E 369 864
Interests in subsidiaries KB AR Z#ER 31,080 40,495
Total non-current assets FERENBEEETE 33,610 43,680
Current assets MENE E
Prepayments, deposits and other ?EHTAIE & R E AW
receivables 927 195
Financial asset at fair value through ?ﬁ ?F{E STABRZ SR
profit or loss BE 395 407
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFRIRE — —RERP
- general accounts 22 1,708
Total current assets MENEEELE 1,344 2,310
Current liabilities mEaRE
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,120 2,330
Other payables and accruals ET’@FET'J#IEEZFE st E A 10,808 4,026
Amounts due to subsidiaries BB ARRIE 3,657 4,276
Total current liabilities BB EEEE 15,585 10,632
Net current liabilities BB EFE (14,241) (8,322)
Total assets less current liabilities EEERRTHEE 19,369 35,358
Non-current liabilities EREEME
Convertible bonds AR ES 31 - 77,931
Other payables and accruals HMELTIBRE &R 34 -
Lease liabilities HESRE 965 =
Total non-current liabilities EmEaEiELE 999 77,931
Net liabilities BERE 18,370 (42,573)
EQUITY R 1
Share capital (EEN 32 60,440 60,440
Perpetual convertible securities KA AT RE 55 34 101,000 =
Reserves f (143,070) (103,013)
Total equity FEpg 18,370 (42,573)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on

March 2025.

Wong Hin Shek
FHEE

Director

EF

KEBBEZTN2025FE3H28H ZERZET

o
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36. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE 36. FATFIERERR
COMPANY
Fair value
Equity through
component of Capital other
Share Share  Contributed  convertible  Share option reduction comprehensive Accumulated

capital premium surplus bonds reserve reserve income reserve  Other reserve losses securities

BATHRE
HhRES & AR KA
& RiEE SARE  ZBEDS  BRERE Hikh 2EUAER Aftis 2ithR 2%

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET TET TEn T T T T T T T

As at 1 January 2023 120231818 56,673 1,124,344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 (1,465) - (1,456,345) -
Changes in equity for 2023:  203ERiERE :
Comprehensive income 2EMA

Loss for the year ENEBE B B - B . - - - (28422) b
Other comprehensive Ht2EUA

income

Changes in fair value of WATEESAR

financial assets at FVOC| 2EARAZEREE
ATEEEY = = = = - - 630 - - =

Total comprehensive income ERZEABA

for the year - - - - - - 630 - (28,422) - (27,192)
Issuance of shares BRMA 3,767 2636 (2335 - - - - - - - 4,068
Lapsed of share options BREXN - - - = (53) - - - 53 - -
Release of FVOCI reserve BREATEEA

EtZEUARE = = = = = = 835 - (835) - -
Modification of the terms of ETARRESHHER

convertible bonds - - (3,558) 18,979 - - - - - - 1542
At 31 December 2023 and 12023128318 R

1 January 2024 20241818 60,440 1,126,980 62,930 28917 408 163,191 = - (1,485,549) - (42,513)

Changes in equity for 2024: 2045 RIELT :
Loss and total comprehensive ERBRER2ELHA

income for the year - - - - - - - - (28,817) - (28,817)
Lapsed of share options BRERN - - - - (284) - - - 284 - -
Issuance of perpetual BAXKATRRES

convertible securities (Note 34) (Hist34) - - - - - - - - - 101,000 101,000
Derecognition of convertible bonds % IEFESR A R B - - - (28977) - - - 11,737 - - (11,240)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 60,440 1,126,980 62,980 - 124 163,191 - 17,131 (1,514,082) 101,000 18370
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 37. RMBAR#ED

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: BERETZENBASIZFEBAOT :
Place of
establishment/
incorporation and Issued and fully paid/ Percentage of equity interest

Name operations registered share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRIz A I K

21 TEME BRTRER/EMERE FAREERAEGE AL TEER

2024 2023
20245 2023F
% % % %

Directly  Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
B ik B ik

Merdeka Professional Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 - 100 = 100 Corporate consulting business

FEEXBHERAT 0 1,500,0007 70 EEFAER

Merdeka Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,001 - 100 = 100 Advising on corporate finance

RECEREARAT BE 1,500,001%7% ERERERR

Merdeka Corporate Advisory Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 — 100 Accounting and financial
reporting services

BELEFABRAT i 187 THRUBRERY

NOIZ Entertainment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 = 100 Entertainment business

BEREBERAH G 157 IREET

NOIZ Production Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 = 100 Entertainment business

BHEUFERAS & 10,0007 7% REEET

NOIZ Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 = 100 Distribution of holographic
products

BHEAHERAS b 100775 AHEERYER

Merdeka Investment Management Limited  Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 100 = 100 Advising on securities and asset
management

AEREEEARAT BE 5,000,000%7% REFRAERRBEEE

Merdeka Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 = 100 Money lending business

FEEERRRF B 157 MEXH

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EERR ERABINZAREIMBE LB E

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results HEAFEXENERAEREEFEN

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets BEAFR -ZEXRA BEEMBEBLABZ

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in HERERENRERENR IR

the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the RER > BB A B BT E AR R S o

end of the year.
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement
dated 13 June 2022 entered into between Benefit Palace
Limited, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (the
“Purchaser”) and the six vendors (the “Vendors”), each of
the Vendors hereby irrevocably and unconditionally grants the
Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) the put option
(the “Put Option”), pursuant to which the Purchaser (or
its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) shall be entitled to require
the Vendors to buy back all the entire issued share capital
in NOIZChain held by the Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its
successor(s)) (the “Repurchase”). The consideration for the
Repurchase will be the same as the acquisition consideration,
an aggregate of 66,666,663 consideration shares (the
“Acquisition Consideration Shares”).

On 22 July 2024, the Purchaser and Vendors entered into a
put option deed (the “Put Option Deed”), each of the Vendors
had irrevocably and unconditionally further granted to the
Purchaser a put option from the date of the Put Option Deed
up to the later of (i) 31 December 2024; or (ii) if extended by
the Purchaser at its sole and absolute discretion, 30 June 2025.

On 23 December 2024, the Group served the option notice
(the “Option Notice”) to the Vendors to exercise the Put
Option which shall require the Vendors to repurchase the
entire issued share capital of the NOIZChain at the repurchase
consideration (the “Repurchase Consideration”), satisfied by
transfer of all the Acquisition Consideration Shares received by
the Vendors (the “Repurchase Consideration Shares”). The
Purchaser intends to engage a placing agent for the placing
of the Repurchase Consideration Shares to independent third
parties with the placing proceeds retained by the Purchaser.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Put Option Deed,
completion of the disposal has taken place on 23 December
2024 upon serving of the Option Notice.

Details were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
13 June 2022, 4 July 2022, 22 July 2024 and 23 December
2024.
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Rt 5 ¥R 2R Bf 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary amounting to approximately

38. HE—MMEBLE @

HE—RBBARZWEA3,246,0008 7T

HK$3,246,000 were analysed as follows: DU
HK$'000
FET
Gooduwill (Note 16) BE (fat16) 130
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) M BERHE W:215) 5
Intangible assets (Note 17) BEE (W:L17) 10,377
Trade receivables B2 R TIE 989
Bank balances and cash RITERRIRE 1
Deferred tax assets (Note 30) FERIBEE (H2#30) 98
Other payables and accruals Lt A 7R IB K FE 51 & (5,180)
6,420
Less: Repurchase Consideration o ERRE (9,666)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBABN T (3,246)

Cash consideration received
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of

ENREAE
B P ERRTERRIEE

Net cash outflow arising on disposal

HEEENRERLFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z202445

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of
the Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 December 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date
of its adoption. The Board may, at their discretion, offer
options to any Directors of the Group, full time or part time
employees of the Group; and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or
tenants (including any sub-tenants) of the Group (the “Eligible
Participants”) to subscribe for shares of the Company (the
“Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina

39.

BB ST

AAT W THERESSE > SEMHRE]
ERMSERSEERESERNES
BIRERE ST B (TRERRMEET 8)) 722021
A30E BRNRERSFIAST LERER
RN o BRIESITEEEH T ER] > BRI
SN R E R H RS 1 0F BRI AN E
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39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under
share options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted
to each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
share options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at the date of grant.
Any further grant of share options in excess of the above limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval with such Participant
and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-
executive Director or any of their respective associates would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all share options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent.
of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options
must be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting
of the Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders. The
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour of the proposed
grant at such general meeting. Any vote taken at the meeting
to approve the grant of such share options must be taken on a
poll and comply with the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The
share option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days (or such shorter period as the Board may from time to
time determine) from the date on which the share option is
granted. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors and commences after a certain
vesting period, if any, as determined by the Directors and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options.

39.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024

Notes to the Consolidated Finan
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 39. BERGHEEE o
The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular 1R 4% B G A 51 B %2 HH B9 (F ) 45 B R G
share option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall EERMHNRBEEHEETZE2ENER
be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall EEABRTERER TANERZE
determine, save that such price shall be not less than the (WEHEREZH WEREXEH) M3
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the HRERTIRM BT E 5 (i) 2252
Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotation sheet on the e HRT A E= BB ESERE
date of the grant of the share option, which must be a business TR FA 12 H B HBRI 39U & 5 LAK(Gii
day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as HREYBBZEE. y
shown in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on
the date of grant. ¥ ‘
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends BRI A T REA NI BN RER A
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. B ERER o
Number of share options and weighted average exercise price BREHIBETEREHE MNETETE
under the Share Option Scheme were as follows: BT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
miETs MEFg
7B EREHE 1B BREHE
HK$ per share ‘000 HK$ per share ‘000
SRHBT T SRBT TR
Outstanding and exercisable at 1 January BB ERTERAITE 0.13 6,166 0.13 6,961
Lapsed during the year ERKR 0.13 (4,350) 0.13 (795)
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December A 12B31H R ITERA(THE 0.13 1,816 0.13 6,166

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2024, which
were granted under the Share Option Scheme, had exercise
price of HK$0.13 (2023: HK$0.13) and weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.05 years (2023: 2.05 years).

No share options were granted during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, a total of 4,349,836 (2023: 794,594)
share options of the Company were lapsed. Save and except
for the aforesaid, no Share Option was granted, exercised,
cancelled, expired or lapsed during the year.

R2024F 12831 BRITEZBERE IRIEE
RSt EIIR ) 21T #EBEA0.138 7T (2023
F 0138w  MEFHFGREOFHA
1.054F (20234 : 2.05%F) °

B E2024F %2023F 12831 B L FE > i iE
BB -

12024512631 H » KA B & $£4,349,8361%

(20234 : 794,59417) HERG #2528 o Bk b al
B MRAFEEMEBREERE 7652
8~ BIRA T Rk o
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 39. BRRESE @
As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 1,816,214 (2023: R2024F 12831 H MARITEZHERES
6,166,050) accumulated total outstanding Share Options, +1,816,21415 (20234 : 6,166,05019) >
which entitled holders thereof to subscribe for 1,816,214 HEAAGAEETHEESRKRK{KH0.132E8 T
(2023: 6,166,050) Share Options under the Share Option (20234 : 0.13277T) REHERKEST BB
Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.132 (2023: HK$0.132) THY1,816,2141% (20234 : 6,166,05017) B&
per Share. Save for the aforementioned Share Options, the B #E o bR EARFERG HE SN > AN B W B AE (A H
Company does not have any other outstanding Share Options. s RITENERE K ARREERES
The total number of shares available for issue by the Company 210] T 21T IR0 A8 8172 48,506,228f% > (&
under the Share Option Scheme was 48,506,228 shares, RABR2024FE 12831 BEETRMHIA
which represents approximately 8.03% (2023: 8.03%) of the 8.03% (20234 : 8.03%) °
Company'’s issued shares as at 31 December 2024.
The number of shares of the Company that may be issued HZE2024F 1283 1HILEEE  IRIEFEBRRE
in respect of options and awards granted under the Share FERE ERERREAIEET AR
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024 (i.e. IR E (801,816,214 1X1%) BRUEE
1,816,214 Shares) divided by the weighted average number of 2024F 12831 HIEFEZMEF IR
shares of 604,396,000 Shares for the year ended 31 December H604,396,0008% > 20.3% °
2024, was 0.3%.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share options REZE2024F12831HIEFER > M EIR
(2023: Nil) were granted under the Share Option Scheme and EREREEIRTRERE (2023F | ) »
no share-based payment expenses (2023: Nil) has been charged TERIEEPRURAAERNNORES
to profit or loss. (2023%F : 48) ©
The following table summarised movements of the Company’s BRESEIET AR B ERERERNS S
share options under the Share Option Scheme during the year: ZMF -
For the year ended 31 December 2024: #F2024%F12831HLLEE :
Number of Share Options
BREHE
Outstanding
and
Outstanding Cancelled/  exercisable Price of the
as at Granted  Exercised Lapsed as at Shares before
1January  duringthe  during the  during the 31 December Date of Exercise  the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity ERA/ 81 2024 period period period 2024 grant period  grant®e? price e/
120244
120245 12A31H B RS
1818 REA  EHREE 2RinfER (4]
WRTE  REARE  RBAGE  2E/X% RIGHE BEAH (i G G
Per Share Per Share
sk  SREH
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUEHTES
Ms. N Ka Sim, Casina REEL+ 113513 = = - 113513 2002021 2017021- 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit BXBLE 113513 = = - 113513 2012021 2017021- 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BERLt 113513 = = - 113513 2002021 2017021- 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible RERAMAERSEE
participants
v Employees of the Group FEAES 1,816,215 - - (30540) 1475675 2012021  20/1/2021- 0014 0132
19/1/2026
EfAERSEE 0 4,009,296 - - (4,009,29) - 20172021 20172021- 0.014 0.132
o9 324) 19/1/2024

6,166,050 (4,349,836) 1,816,214




For the year ended 31 December 2023:

39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & =2

39. BRRESE @

HE2023F12831HIEEE :

Number of Share Options
BREZE
Outstanding
and 4
Outstanding Cancelled/  exercisable Price of the
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Shares before
1January  duringthe  during the  during the 31 December Date of Exercise the date of
Grantees/Capacity ERA/ & 2023 period period period 2023 grant period  grant /7
120238
1#203% 128310 i A A
1818 RER HAGE ZBAER fifiE
HAGE  REREY  REATE  EE/RR REAE RUAH frfes G L2
Per Share Per Share
SRRH BRRH
Independent non-executive Directors B FH{TES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina BEERT 113,513 = = = 113,513 201172021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19112026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit BXERE 113,513 - - - 113513 20/1/2021 201172021~ 0.014 0132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRRLL 113513 - - = 13513 20112021 20172021~ 0014 0.132
19112026
Employees and other eligible EEREMAERSHE
participants
Employees of the Group FEERES 2,610,809 = —  (794594) 1816215  20/1/2021  20/1/2021- 0014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants AtaERSEE 6w 4,009,296 - - — 400929 20112021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2024
6,960,644 - - (794,594) 6,166,050
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39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment
in the case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or
consolidation of the Shares, or other similar changes in the
Company's share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on
which the Share Options were granted.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but
not limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto
and blockchain technology development and accounting and
financial management respectively. The grant of Share Options
to the consultants is to provide them an incentive to (i) optimize
their performance for the benefit of the Group; (i) share of
their respective relevant experience, knowledge and network to
improve of the business operating system of the Group; and (iii)
introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.

An Share Options grants by the Company to the consultants
have lapsed on 19 January 2024.

The fair value of share options granted to Directors, employees
and other eligible participants providing similar services of
employees, determined at the date of grant of the share
options, is expensed over the vesting period. The fair value was
calculated using the Binominal model. The inputs into the model
were as follow:

Grant date 20 January 2021
Share price on date of grant (HK$) 0.015
Exercise price (HK$) 0.015
Expected volatility 87.2% to 104.71%
Expected life 3 to 5 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.15% to 0.31%
Expected dividend yield NIL

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 4,349,836
share options under Share Option Scheme has lapsed
(2023: 794,594), resulted from capital reserve directly to
accumulated losses with the amount of approximately
HK$284,000 (2023: HK$53,000).

BRREE @

BREZTEEAMERCET HER K
DOFBAEHBERBDREEMBUSE
MiFHEEE -

KROMBRERHBHBAMZER SR
fERR Y BRI 2 22 5 B R 10 1A Bk 32 P
FRERZ W fE o

ZEBBE DN (BEEREN BARR
HRERE - MBEREKRERBRMFHEE
UhesthkyHEREr mEEEEER-
HMEBEFEREDARBREFNEECH
REEAERER (DD ZREZBER
B MR MBS U EAERNERE
E&#& 5 KiAAERB5 MR ATITH
AEEE UBHRRAE R

KA TFTEBNEREER20245F18
198 L3% °

BRTYEF EEREHESHLRFTHE
tEERBEENBRENATEENRE
RERHBHAEE WNEBIANHE R
FTEEREA _BEABEAE - ZELYN
BAEWMT :

EHEH 20214E1H20H
HEHHEBNEE Bx) 0.015
T1EE B 0.015
TR IR 87.2%ZE104.71%
TEstEH 3ES54F
9% B R A = 0.15%%0.31%
FEHRRR B IRz o

REZE2024F12831H IEEE » 4,349,836
DB ER IR ST 8 R (20234
794,5941%)  ThHNREXNEEEEEEE
B £REA 284,000/ 7T (20234 ¢
53,000 7T) ©
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NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=202

40. FEREMERMFE

Notes to the Consolidated Fi

FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEEBMELESBHIR
Amounts due to Convertible
adirector Lease liabilities bonds
Eft-%ES
A HEaR kR ES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1818 - 6,825 85,110
Changes from financing cash flows: HERERELE
Interest paid BEAFIE (36) = = (36)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEMESEALHD - (3,830) = (3,830)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities BEHESRFEHD - (226) - (226)
Proceeds from borrowings ERENE 2,000 - - 2,000
Repayment to borrowings BRER (114) = - (114)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERETEEEEE 1,850 (4,056) - (2,206)
Other changes Hitigs)
Interest expenses FISEE 39 226 12,310 12,575
Issuance of convertible bonds BMRRES - - 7326 7,326
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds BT RES B - = (12,747) (12,747)
Derecognition by subscription of shares FRIBMRME D - = (4,068) (4,068)
Derecognition by subscription of 2023 CB BBRAENBETRRES
R LR - - (10,000) (10,000)
Total other changes Hitge e 39 226 (7,179) (6,914)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1R2023%128318 K
R204%1818 1889 2,995 77,931 82,815
Changes from financing cash flows: HERENELH
Interest paid BRANE (802) - - (802)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities REHESRASHD - (3.303) - (3.303)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities BEHESRFEHD - (79) - (79
Proceeds from borrowings EHERE 10,900 - - 10,900
Repayment to borrowings REBT (3,270) - - (3,270)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSTELHAE 6,828 (3.382) - 3,446
Other changes Hitigg)
Interest expenses FIERZ 1,059 79 11,829 12,967
Addition of lease liabilities EMAEER - 3,537 - 3,537
Issuance of perpetual convertible securities (Notes 31 and 34)  E{T XA A RES
(HE31/%34) - - (89,760) (89,760)
Total other changes Hih@5EE 1,059 3,616 (77,931) (73,256)
At 31 December 2024 1R2024%128318 9,776 3,229 - 13,005
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024512831HIEFE

_ 41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES a1. B S MR
r Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated financial BRRGEMBERREMEMMAKESEIN &
statements, the Group have the following material related EEBEUTEREBARS

party transactions.

Transactions with related party BRABANR S
2024 2023
20245 20235
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
AR5 18 ERES REME THET THET
Mr. Wong Director Financial service income 400 -
FrE Bx SRR A
Commission income from
dealing in securities - 7
BEEHFNASHA
Loan interest charged (1,059) (39)
WERE ™A B
(659) (32)
Related Companies Common director Corporate consulting service
BEE AT HEES income 503 523
T EAARBURA
Digital business income - 2,700
EESTVON

503 3,223
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 41. FBBHRE @
Compensation of key management personnel of the TEFTESEREAS ZFH
Group
2024
20245
HK$’000
FHET
Short term employee benefits RS =T 2,310
Post-employment benefits R A EBER 18
Total compensation paid to key management {4 FEEEIE A 8 2 #1228 y
personnel 2,328 3,166 A
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 42. RENITNEREERSAEEMH
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 2
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and NEBR2024FEK2023F 12831 HERHY
financial liabilities as recognised as at 31 December 2024 and ETMEEREMBERABNDENT !
2023 may be categorised as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHR A B EMEE 18,200 24,166
Financial assets at FVOCI URFEEBEFAEMEZAKAZ
TREE 4,419 1,473
Financial assets at FVPL UAFEEFABRZ R
BE 942 4,571
23,561 30,210
Financial liabilities ERBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BMER AT ECEMAns 11,455 7,543
Convertible bonds AR ES - 77,931
Lease liabilities HE&aR 3,229 2,995
14,684 88,469
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43. MBHRERZHE
;-‘
The financial statements were approved and authorised for IR REBREEEN2025F3H528H#/E 4
issue by the Board on 28 March 2025. TR HIEE o J
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

UTREEEBERBMBFEFENEBEUREE
BERIFEREGSHS HEREETIRNEEZ

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out  BAFS#RE !
below:
RESULTS EF
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HZE20205F HE202145 HE202245 #HZE20235F HZ20245
NBNBLEEE 12ANBLEEE N2ENHLEEE 2ANHLEEE 12R31HLEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TER TAET TER
Revenue WA 39,861 24,539 18,151 18,938 20,576
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX PRERG 1R Al RS 18 (97,311) (30,814) (30,175) (25,732) (27,496)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrismiEe,/ (%) @n) 26 75 59 223
Loss for the year from continuing ~ RERFELELHEHN
operations ERNEE (97,782) (30,788) (30,100) (25,673) (27,273)
Profit for the year from discontinued 28 B B4 L& E KM
operation FERER = = 2,280 = -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREHE (97,782) (30,788) (27,820) (25,673) (27,273)
Attributable to: 1
Owners of the Company EREREEB A (71,711) (31,123) (27,820) (25,673) (27,273)
Non-controlling interests FEER & (26,071) 335 = = -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREHE (97,782) (30,788) (27,820) (25,673) (27,273)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE -affRIFERER
INTERESTS
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
120205 120214 120224 120235 120245
128318 128318 12H318 12H318 128318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET TET FTET FAER
TOTAL ASSETS WEE 108,198 88,890 79,097 56,713 36,401
TOTAL LIABILITIES maR (162,899) (116,385) (108,032) (91,517) (15,438)
(54,701) (27,495) (28,935) (34,804) 20,963
e R
AARRREEEA (62,783) (27,495) (28,935) (34,804) 20,963
i 8,082 = = = -

(54,701)
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